# STABLE MAPS AND SINGULAR CURVES ON K3 SURFACES

# DISSERTATION

zur Erlangung des Doktorgrades (Dr. rer. nat.) der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Rheinischen Friedrich-Wilhelms-Universität Bonn

vorgelegt von

#### Michael Kemeny

aus Sydney, Australien

Bonn 2015

Angefertigt mit Genehmigung der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Rheinischen Friedrich-Wilhelms-Universität Bonn

Gutachter: Prof. Dr. Daniel Huybrechts
 Gutachter: Prof. Dr. Gavril Farkas
 Tag der Promotion: 11.06.2015
 Erscheinungsjahr: 2015

## Summary

In this thesis we study singular curves on K3 surfaces. Let  $\mathcal{B}_g$  denote the stack of polarised K3 surfaces of genus g and set  $p(g,k) = k^2(g-1) + 1$ . There is a stack  $\mathcal{T}_{g,k}^n \to \mathcal{B}_g$  with fibre over the polarised surface (X, L) parametrising all unramified morphisms  $f: C \to X$ , birational onto their image, with C an integral smooth curve of genus p(g,k) - n and  $f_*C \sim kL$ . In particular, by associating the singular curve f(C) to a point  $[f: C \to X]$  of  $\mathcal{T}_{g,k}^n$ , one can think of  $\mathcal{T}_{g,k}^n$  as parametrising all singular curves on K3 surfaces such that the normalisation map is unramified (or equivalently such that the curve has "immersed" singularities).

The stack  $\mathcal{T}_{q,k}^n$  comes with a natural moduli map

$$\eta : \mathcal{T}_{g,k}^n \to \mathcal{M}_{p(g,k)-n}$$

to the Deligne–Mumford stack of curves, defined by forgetting the map to the K3 surface, i.e. by sending  $[f: C \to X]$  to [C]. It is natural to ask what one can say about the image of  $\eta$ .

We first show that  $\eta$  is generically finite (to its image) on at least one component of  $\mathcal{T}_{g,k}^n$ , in all but finitely many cases. We also consider related questions about the Brill–Noether theory of singular curves on K3 surfaces as well as the surjectivity of twisted Gaussian maps on normalisations of singular curves. Lastly, we apply the deformation theory of  $\mathcal{T}_{g,k}^n$ to a seemingly unrelated problem, namely the Bloch–Beilinson conjectures on the Chow group of points of K3 surfaces with a symplectic involution.

The results of this thesis have appeared in [78] and the preprint [85].

# Contents

1	Introduction		7
	1.1	Deformations of stable maps to K3 surfaces	9
	1.2	Chow groups and Nikulin involutions	11
	1.3	An obstruction for a marked curve to admit a nodal model on a K3 surface	12
	1.4	Brill–Noether theory for nodal curves on K3 surfaces	13
2	Stable maps		17
	2.1	Construction of the moduli space of stable maps	17
	2.2	Morphisms of complex spaces	24
	2.3	Deformation theory for an unramified map	43
3	Constructing elliptic K3 surfaces		51
	3.1	Constructions via the Weierstrass equation	51
	3.2	Constructions via Torelli	55
	3.3	Mukai's theory for curves on $Y_{\Omega_g}$	62
4	The moduli map		67
	4.1	The moduli map	67
5	Cho	ow groups and Nikulin involutions	81
	5.1	Moduli spaces of K3 surfaces admitting a Nikulin involution	81
	5.2	The Bloch–Beilinson conjectures for Nikulin involutions	85
6	The marked Wahl map		91
	6.1	The marked Wahl map	91
7	Brill–Noether theory for nodal curves on K3		99
	7.1	Brill–Noether theory for smooth curves with a nodal model on a K3 surface	99
	7.2	Brill–Noether theory for nodal rational curves on K3 surfaces	101

Dedicated to my parents, Kathy and Gabor

# Chapter 1 Introduction

The systematic use of K3 surfaces has led to something of a revolution in the study of the geometry of the general curve. One prominent example of this is that the Brill–Noether theory of a general curve is the same as that of a general smooth curve lying on a K3 surface of Picard number one, [97]. A second, equally important example, is that the syzygies of general projective curves are in many cases the same as the syzygies of certain hyperplane sections of K3 surfaces, [135], [138], [6], [46]. In other words, in order to understand some property of a general smooth curve, it can be instructive to first study the case where the curve lies on a K3 surface. Under this assumption the problem can become much simpler, often allowing one to reduce the original question to an exercise in lattice theory.

In recent years, there has been interest in the study of *singular* curves on K3 surfaces. This dates back to physicists such as Yau, Zaslow, Witten and others who initiated the enumerative study of rational curves on K3 surfaces due to the role they play in high energy physics. A stunning early result was the proof of the Yau–Zaslow formula which counts rational curves in a linear equivalence class on a general K3 surface, [23]. A key technique in this study was the use of genus zero stable maps, as defined by Gromov and Kontsevich.

Singular curves of high genus on K3 surfaces also have interesting applications to the geometry of K3 surfaces. For example, in [40] a relation between the Severi variety of singular curves and self-rational maps of K3 surfaces was found by Dedieu, see also [28]. More recently, Ciliberto and Knutsen have used such curves in order to construct rational curves on hyperkähler manifolds, [32].

These works use a Cartesian approach to studying nodal curves on surfaces; in other words, one considers the curves as defined by equations on the surface and allows these equations to deform in such a way that the singularities are preserved, see [49]. This approach works well for integral, nodal curves on K3 surfaces but has the draw-back that it is can be somewhat difficult to control for non-nodal curves, which turn up naturally as deformations of curves on special K3 surfaces. Indeed, the main methods at our disposal to directly construct singular curves on K3 surfaces are either via the Torelli theorem or by constructing curves on a Kummer surface. Such curves are often non-reduced or may have several components which intersect non-transversally.

In order to make up for this, one commonly allows the K3 surfaces to degenerate to unions of rational scrolls, using powerful techniques from [33] and [26]. Chains of rational curves on unions of rational scrolls are constructed with the desired properties and then deformed sideways to a nodal curve on a K3 surface. The configurations of rational curves which appear on the central fibre can be intimidating yet beautiful, with huge amounts of structure and symmetry. For an example of the kind of chain configurations which occur, we refer the reader to [31, Pg. 14], which illustrates a degenerate nodal curve on the union of four planes.

One of the main goals of this thesis is to try and develop a different approach to studying some problems related to high genus singular curves on K3 surfaces. The realisation that such an approach should be possible was gained by a close reading of [27]. In this paper, Chen reproves the main result of [25] without degenerating to unions of rational surfaces (see also [26]). One instead allows for non-reduced curves by explicitly performing semistable reductions. We express this idea via the general theory of stable maps. A typical example of the resulting degenerations can be seen in Figure 6, [27, Pg. 92].

We start by designing a general-purpose "machine" for producing families of singular curves of arbitrary geometric genus on K3 surfaces. These families can be given many special properties, allowing us to use them to attack several interesting problems. Our machine has two parts. The first part is the Torelli theorem, which combined with results of Nikulin gives the following statement: let  $\Lambda$  be any even lattice of signature  $(1, \rho)$  for  $\rho \leq 9$ . Then there exists a  $19 - \rho$  dimensional algebraic family of K3 surfaces  $X_t$  with  $Pic(X_t) \simeq \Lambda$  for all t (note that these surfaces have Picard rank  $\rho + 1$ , in contrast to the usual convention). Now assume  $\Lambda$  has a basis

$$\{e_1,\ldots,e_{\rho+1}\}.$$

By taking linear combinations  $\alpha_1 e_1 + \ldots + \alpha_{\rho+1} e_{\rho+1}$  for  $\alpha_i \in \mathbb{Z}$ , we may produce divisors on  $X_t$  which, can be given all kinds of arithmetic properties by choosing  $\Lambda$  wisely.

Such divisors produced by Torelli will not, in the interesting cases, be irreducible. They are usually not reduced. In order to make use of them, we must perturb them slightly so that they become integral. This is done by the second part of our machine, which is the deformation theory of stable maps. We view the curve  $\alpha_1 e_1 + \ldots + \alpha_{\rho+1} e_{\rho+1}$  as the image of a stable map  $f: D \to X_t$ , and then deform the map sideways to a map  $f': D' \to Y$ , where Y is a different K3 surface. In many cases, we may set-up the lattice theory of Y so that it forces the curve  $f'_*(D')$  to become integral. For instance, this must happen if we deform in a primitive class to a K3 surface Y of Picard rank one, and even in higher rank cases the integrality may still be achievable. These integral curves are deformed in such a way as to retain the chosen arithmetic properties of the central divisor  $f_*D$ .

### 1.1 Deformations of stable maps to K3 surfaces

A polarised K3 surface of genus g is a pair (X, L) of a K3 surface X over  $\mathbb{C}$  and an ample line bundle L on X with  $(L)^2 = 2g - 2$ . For g at least three there is a Deligne–Mumford stack  $\mathcal{B}_g$  parametrising all K3 surfaces. Let D be a connected nodal curve and consider a morphism  $f: D \to X$ . We call f a *stable map* if it has finite automorphism group.

This thesis starts with an exposition of the deformation theory of stable maps to (varying) polarised K3 surfaces. Much of this is by now rather standard, but our presentation differs from the usual one in at least two respects. Namely, we freely use two pieces of heavy machinery: the analytic deformation theory of morphisms as developed by Flenner, [50], and the theory of relative cycles as developed by Suslin–Voevodsky, [129] and Kollár, [94].

Set  $p(g,k) = k^2(g-1) + 1$ . Following [16], one may construct a Deligne–Mumford stack

$$\mathcal{W}_{q,k}^n \to \mathcal{B}_g,$$

proper over  $\mathcal{B}_g$ , with fibre over [(X, L)] parametrising all stable maps  $f : D \to X$  with  $f_*D \sim kL$  and such that D has arithmetic genus p(g, k) - n.

The stack  $\mathcal{W}_{a,k}^n$  comes equipped with a natural morphism of stacks

$$\eta : \mathcal{W}_{g,k}^n \to \overline{\mathcal{M}}_{p(g,k)-n}$$
$$[f: D \to X] \mapsto [\hat{D}]$$

where  $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{p(g,k)-n}$  is the moduli space of stable curves, and the stable curve  $[\hat{D}]$  is obtained by contracting all unstable components of D.

The stack  $\mathcal{W}_{g,k}^n$  may well have several irreducible components of different dimensions. All that we have in general is the following bound, see Theorem 2.2.16: for any irreducible component I of  $\mathcal{W}_{a,k}^n$ ,

$$\dim I \ge 19 + p(g,k) - n.$$

A few words on this bound, which is essentially due to Bryan-Leung, [23], are in order. In order to obtain the estimate, transcendental analytic methods play a key role. Indeed one has to allow the K3 surface to deform to a non-projective complex surface and apply the deformation theory of analytic morphisms, [50]. A different (and more powerful) approach to this bound which is appropriate for constructing virtual fundamental cycles can be given using Bloch's theory of the semi-regularity map, see [20], [103], [96].

The situation above improves if we only consider morphisms which are unramified. If D is smooth and f is unramified, then each component I through [f] has dimension exactly 19+p(g,k)-n. Furthermore I dominates  $\mathcal{B}_g$ ; thus the unramified morphism  $f: D \to X$  can be deformed horizontally to the general  $(X', L') \in \mathcal{B}_g$ . An important observation is that this analysis can be generalised to cover many cases where D is reducible, see Proposition 2.3.2.

Let  $\mathcal{T}_{g,k}^n$  denote the open substack of  $\mathcal{W}_{g,k}^n$  parametrising unramified morphisms  $f: D \to X$  with D smooth which are birational onto their image. By [26],  $\mathcal{T}_{g,k}^n$  is nonempty. Thus  $\mathcal{T}_{g,k}^n$  is of pure dimension 19 + p(g,k) - n and dominates  $\mathcal{B}_g$ . If  $C \subseteq X$  is an integral nodal curve on a K3 surface of genus g with  $C \in |kL|$  and exactly n nodes, then the normalisation of C gives an unramified stable map  $f: D \to X$ . This gives a one-to-one correspondence between such nodal curves and the open substack

$$\mathcal{V}_{g,k}^n \subseteq \mathcal{T}_{g,k}^n$$

parametrising stable maps  $f: D \to X$  with f(D) nodal. By a result of Dedieu–Sernesi using an argument of Arbarello–Cornalba and Harris, any component  $I \subseteq \mathcal{T}_{g,k}^n$  for  $g \ge 1$ containing a map  $[f: D \to X] \in I$  with D non-trigonal must meet  $\mathcal{V}_{g,k}^n$  in a dense open subset, [41, Thm. 2.8], [67, P. 107ff], [66].

The following deep conjecture has been around for some years but currently seems out of reach or at least very difficult, see [26, Conj. 1.2], [40]. See also [30], [31], [86] for some work on special cases.

**Conjecture 1.1.1.** The moduli space  $\mathcal{V}_{a,k}^n$  is irreducible.

Resticting  $\eta$  to  $\mathcal{V}_{g,k}^n$  produces a morphism of stacks

$$\eta : \mathcal{V}_{q,k}^n \to \mathcal{M}_{p(g,k)-n}$$

which was studied by Flamini, Knutsen, Pacienza, Sernesi in the case k = 1, [49]. Specifically, they prove that  $\eta$  is dominant on each component of  $\mathcal{V}_{g,1}^n$  in the range  $2 \leq g \leq 11$ ,  $0 \leq n \leq g-2$  and k = 1, and ask the following question (at least for k = 1), :

**Question 1.1.2.** Is  $\eta$  dominant on each component in the range  $2 \le p(g,k) - n \le 11$ ? Is  $\eta$  generically finite (to its image) for  $p(g,k) - n \ge 12$ ?

To ease the notation write  $\mathcal{T}_g^n \coloneqq \mathcal{T}_{g,1}^n$  in the primitive case k = 1. The case n = 0 of Question 1.1.2 is classical. Indeed, Mori–Mukai showed that if n = 0, k = 1 then the morphism

$$\eta : \mathcal{T}_q^0 \to \mathcal{M}_g$$

is generically finite for  $g \ge 13$  or g = 11, but *not* for g = 12, [106]. In the non-primitive case  $k \ge 2$ , a very different approach using the deformation theory of cones shows that  $\eta$  is generically finite for  $g \ge 7$  and n = 0, [35]. Our first result is an extension of the results on generic finiteness to the singular case n > 0. In the case k = 1, we show:

**Theorem 1.1.3.** Assume  $g \ge 11$ ,  $n \ge 0$ , and let  $0 \le r(g) \le 5$  be the unique integer such that

$$g-11 = \left\lfloor \frac{g-11}{6} \right\rfloor 6 + r(g).$$

Then there is a component  $I \subseteq \mathcal{T}_q^n$  such that

 $\eta_{|_I}: I \to \mathcal{M}_{g-n}$ 

is generically finite for  $g-n \ge 15$ . Furthermore, if  $r(g) \ne 5$ , the lower bound can be improved to  $g-n \ge 13$ , and if r(g) = 0 it can be improved to  $g-n \ge 12$ .

In the case  $k \ge 2$  we show:

**Theorem 1.1.4.** Assume  $k \ge 2$ ,  $g \ge 8$ . Then there is a component  $I \subseteq \mathcal{T}_{a,k}^n$  such that

$$\eta_{|_I}: I \to \mathcal{M}_{p(g,k)-n}$$

is generically finite for  $p(g,k) - n \ge 18$ . Furthermore, in most cases the lower bound can be improved, see Chapter 4.

Setting n = 0, we recover the (optimal) statement in the smooth, primitive, case and all cases other than g = 7 in the nonprimitive case. In particular, this gives a new proof of the generic finiteness theorem for  $n = 0, k \ge 2, g \ge 8$  which more resembles the original approach of [106]. By construction the component I contains maps  $[f: D \to X]$  with Dnon-trigonal. Thus we have:

Corollary 1.1.5. The restriction

$$\eta_{|_{\mathcal{V}_{g,k}^n}}:\mathcal{V}_{g,k}^n\to\mathcal{M}_{p(g,k)-n}$$

is generically finite on one component, for the same bounds on p(g,k) - n as in Theorem 1.1.3 and 1.1.4.

## **1.2** Chow groups and Nikulin involutions

In Chapter 5, we apply the stable map machinery to a conjecture on the action of Nikulin involutions on the Chow group of points on a K3 surface. Let X be a complex projective K3 surface with a symplectic involution  $i: X \simeq X$ , and let  $CH^2(X)$  denote the Chow group of points. The Bloch-Beilinson conjectures predict the following conjecture, see [75].

**Conjecture 1.2.1.** The involution  $i^*$  acts as the identity on  $CH^2(X)$ .

Let  $f: E \to X$  be a morphism from an smooth, proper curve of genus one to X, with one-dimensional image. The pushforward of f induces a group homomorphism

$$CH^1(E) \simeq \operatorname{Pic}(E) \to CH^2(X).$$

This allows one to relate Conjecture 1.2.1 to the study of singular elliptic curves on X which are invariant under *i*. In particular, by using that  $CH^2(X)$  is torsion-free due to a theorem of Roitman, one can show the following, see Section 5.2.

**Proposition 1.2.2.** Let  $i : X \to X$  be a symplectic automorphism of finite order on a projective K3 surface over  $\mathbb{C}$ . Assume there exists a dominating family of integral curves  $C_t \subseteq X$  of geometric genus one, such that for generic t the following two conditions are satisfied:

1.  $C_t$  avoids the fixed points of f.

2.  $C_t$  is invariant under f.

Then  $i^* = id$  on  $CH^2(X)$ .

This reduces the problem to the question of constructing dominating families of singular elliptic curves which are kept invariant under the involution.

The moduli space of K3 surfaces together with a Nikulin involution has been constructed by van Geemen and Sarti, [133], building upon the foundational work of Nikulin, [114]. The moduli spaces are constructed as spaces of  $\Lambda$ -polarised K3 surfaces, as in [42]. To be more precise, consider the lattice

$$\Phi_q \coloneqq \mathbb{Z}L \oplus E_8(-2),$$

where  $L^2 = 2g - 2$ ,  $g \ge 3$ . If g is odd, then there is a unique lattice  $\Upsilon_g$  which is an over lattice of  $\Phi_g$  with  $\Upsilon_g/\Phi_g \simeq \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$  and such that  $E_8(-2)$  is a primitive sublattice of  $\Upsilon_g$ . There is an involution  $j: \Phi_g \to \Phi_g$  which acts at 1 on  $\mathbb{Z}L$  and -1 on  $E_8(-2)$ . This extends to an involution  $j: \Upsilon_g \to \Upsilon_g$  for odd g. For the proof of the following, see Thm. 5.1.1

**Theorem 1.2.3** (Sarti–Geemen). Let  $\Lambda$  be either of the lattices  $\Phi_g$  or  $\Upsilon_g$ . Let X be a K3 surface with a primitive embedding  $\Lambda \to Pic(X)$  such that L is big and nef. Then X admits a Nikulin involution  $f: X \to X$  such that  $f_{|_{\Lambda}}^* = j$  and  $f_{|_{\Lambda^{\perp}}}^* = id$ , for  $\Lambda^{\perp} \subseteq H^2(X, \mathbb{Z})$ . Conversely, if X admits a Nikulin involution f then there is a primitive embedding  $\Lambda \to Pic(X)$  such that L is big and nef, where  $\Lambda$  is either  $\Phi_g$  or  $\Upsilon_g$ , for some g. Further,  $f_{|_{\Lambda}}^* = j$  and  $f_{|_{\Lambda^{\perp}}}^* = id$ .

Using this, we are able to prove Conjecture 1.2.1 in one-third of all cases.

#### **Corollary 1.2.4.** Conjecture 1.2.1 holds for an arbitrary $\Upsilon_{2e+1}$ -polarised K3 surface (X, f).

These results have been subsequently extended to cover *all* K3 surfaces admitting a Nikulin involution, see [139]. More generally, Conjecture 1.2.1 is now known to hold for all K3 surfaces admitting symplectic automorphisms of finite order. See [78, §5] for this result on one component of the moduli space and order prime and [76] for the full statement.

## 1.3 An obstruction for a marked curve to admit a nodal model on a K3 surface

It is a natural question to study the image of

$$\eta : \mathcal{V}_{g,k}^n \to \mathcal{M}_{p(g,k)-n}$$

In the case of smooth curves n = 0, there is a well-known conjectural characterization of the image  $\eta$ , due to Wahl [142]. He makes the following remarkable conjecture, which would give a complete characterization of those smooth curves that lie on a K3 surface:

**Conjecture 1.3.1** (Wahl). Assume C is a smooth curve of genus  $g \ge 8$  which is Brill– Noether general. Then there exists a K3 surface  $X \subseteq \mathbb{P}^g$  such that C is a hyperplane section of X if and only if the Wahl map  $W_C$  is nonsurjective.

Here the Wahl map refers to the map  $\wedge^2 H^0(C, K_C) \to H^0(C, K_C^3)$  given by  $s \wedge t \mapsto tds - sdt$ . One side of this conjecture is well-known; indeed if  $C \subseteq X$  is a smooth curve in a K3 surface then  $W_C$  is nonsurjective, [140]. Furthermore, if C is general and  $\operatorname{Pic}(X) \simeq \mathbb{Z}C$ , then C is Brill–Noether general, [97]. In [49, Question 5.5], it was asked if there exists such a Wahl-type obstruction for a smooth curve to have a nodal model lying on a K3 surface.

Let  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{p(g,k)-n,2n} \coloneqq [\mathcal{M}_{p(g,k)-n,2n}/S_{2n}]$  denote the stack of curves with an unordered marking (or divisor). One may slightly alter the above question and ask if there exists an obstruction for a *marked* curve to have a nodal model lying on a K3 surface in such a way that the marking is the divisor over the nodes (when we forget about the ordering). For any positive integers h, l and  $[(C, T)] \in \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{h,2l}$ , one may consider the Gaussian

$$W_{C,T}: \bigwedge^2 H^0(C, K_C(-T)) \to H^0(C, K_C^3(-2T))$$

which we will call the *marked Wahl map*, since it depends on both the curve and the marking. In Section 6 we show:

**Theorem 1.3.2.** Fix any integer  $l \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Then there exist infinitely many integers h(l), such that the general marked curve  $[(C,T)] \in \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{h(l),2l}$  has surjective marked Wahl map.

On the other hand we show:

**Theorem 1.3.3.** Assume  $g - n \ge 13$  for k = 1 or  $g \ge 8$  for k > 1, and let  $n \le \frac{p(g,k)-2}{5}$ . Then there is an irreducible component  $I^0 \subseteq \mathcal{V}_{g,k}^n$  such that for a general  $[(f : C \to X, L)] \in I^0$ the marked Wahl map  $W_{C,T}$  is nonsurjective, where  $T \subseteq C$  is the divisor over the nodes of f(C).

#### **1.4** Brill–Noether theory for nodal curves on K3 surfaces

In the last section we study the Brill–Noether theory of nodal curves on K3 surfaces. There are two related questions: for  $[(f : C \to X, L)] \in \mathcal{V}_g^n$  general, one may firstly ask if the smooth curve C is Brill–Noether general and secondly if the nodal curve f(C) is Brill–Noether general. For the first question we show in Section 7.1:

**Proposition 1.4.1.** Assume  $g - n \ge 8$ . Then there exists a component  $\mathcal{J} \subseteq \mathcal{V}_g^n$  such that for  $[(f: C \to X, L)] \in \mathcal{J}$  general, C is Brill–Noether–Petri general.

The above result should not be expected to hold for all  $[(f: C \to X, L)] \in \mathcal{J}$  (or even for all  $[(f: C \to X, L)] \in \mathcal{J}$  with the general polarised K3 surface (X, L) kept fixed), see [32, Thm. 0.1].

For the second question we again have a positive answer. For an integral nodal curve D, we denote by  $\bar{J}^d(D)$  the compactified Jacobian of degree d, rank one, torsion-free sheaves on D. In Section 7.2 we show:

**Theorem 1.4.2.** Let X be a K3 surface with  $Pic(X) \simeq \mathbb{Z}L$  and  $(L \cdot L) = 2g - 2$ . Suppose  $D \in |L|$  is a rational, nodal curve. Then

$$\overline{W}_d^r(D) \coloneqq \{A \in \overline{J}^d(D) \text{ with } h^0(A) \ge r+1\}$$

is either empty or is equidimensional of the expected dimension  $\rho(g, r, d)$ .

As one may smoothen the nodes of a rational nodal curve D on a K3 surface to produce a curve with an arbitrary number of nodes, the above result immediately gives the following corollary:

**Corollary 1.4.3.** For any  $n \ge 0$ , there is a component  $\mathcal{J} \subseteq \mathcal{V}_g^n$  such that if  $[(f : C \rightarrow X, L)] \in \mathcal{J}$  is general and D = f(C) then

$$\overline{W}_d^r(D) \coloneqq \{A \in \overline{J}^d(D) \text{ with } h^0(A) \ge r+1\}$$

is either empty or is equidimensional of the expected dimension  $\rho(g, r, d)$ .

In particular, if  $\rho(g, r, d) < 0$ ,  $\overline{W}_d^r(D) = \emptyset$  for D as in the above corollary; indeed this is well-known and follows from the arguments of [58, §3.2], [97, Cor. 1.4]. On the other hand, if  $\rho(g, r, d) \ge 0$ , then  $\overline{W}_d^r(D) \ne \emptyset$  by deforming D to a smooth curve on X and semicontinuity.

#### Acknowledgements

First of all, I am very much in debt to my thesis advisor Professor Daniel Huybrechts. He taught me the fundamental theory of K3 surfaces, explained the importance of rational and elliptic curves, and introduced me to stable maps as a way of parametrising singular curves. Just as importantly, he provided me with infinite encouragement at every step of the way. I would further like to offer special thanks to A. Knutsen and E. Sernesi for very important conversations and suggestions, and G. Farkas for agreeing to be the second reader of this thesis. Furthermore, discussions with my colleague S. Schreieder about the literature on singular curves on K3 surfaces proved to be most valuable. Thanks also to C. Ciliberto, X. Chen, F. Flamini, G. Galati, F. Gounelas and U. Greiner for discussions and explanations relating to this work. I am most grateful to an anonymous referee for compiling a very long list of misprints and errors which led to innumerable improvements.

Without the constant support of Ishita Agarwal it is doubtful that I would have completed this thesis.

This work was funded by a PhD scholarship from the Bonn International Graduate School in Mathematics and by SFB/TR 45.

# Chapter 2 Stable maps

In this chapter we construct the moduli space  $\mathcal{W}_{g,k}^n$  of stable maps to projective K3 surfaces and study its deformation theory. We proceed in three steps. In Section 2.1, we restrict ourselves to considering families of stable maps over an algebraic base. In this setting one has an algebraic stack parametrising all such families. The standard deformation theory of this object is however insufficient for most purposes, essentially because deformations of algebraic K3 surfaces need not remain algebraic.

In order to have a workable deformation theory, in Section 2.2 we no longer assume a priori that all K3 surfaces remain algebraic in their deformations. We also allow the base of the families of stable maps to be arbitrary complex spaces. There is then a *local* construction of a moduli space parametrising such objects, which exists as a complex space, together with a well-defined analytic deformation theory producing an optimal dimension count. A simple argument shows that, a posteriori, all K3 surfaces do indeed remain algebraic in the deformations, so the resulting dimension count applies to the original algebraic moduli space  $\mathcal{W}_{g,k}^n$  as well.

In Section 2.3, we apply the above analysis to the case of an *unramified* stable map  $f: C \to X$ . The computations done in this section form the backbone of the rest of this thesis.

## 2.1 Construction of the moduli space of stable maps

We start by fixing some notation.

**Definition 2.1.1.** By connected curve we mean a projective algebraic variety of dimension one over  $\mathbb{C}$  which is connected. A connected curve is not assumed to be either reduced or irreducible. By nodal curve we mean a connected curve which is reduced and with all singularities (if any) nodal.

Let X be a projective variety over  $\mathbb{C}$ . An integral connected curve  $C \subseteq X$  can be viewed in one of two ways. The *Cartesian perspective* views C as being defined via polynomial equations on X; in other words we identify C in a one-to-one fashion with the ideal sheaf  $I_C$  defining C via the exact sequence

$$0 \to I_C \to \mathcal{O}_X \to \mathcal{O}_C \to 0.$$

The study of deformations of  $I_C$  leads to the construction of the *Hilbert scheme* of X, see for instance [94, Ch. 1]. Suppose now C is an integral nodal curve. Deformation of  $I_C$  in the Hilbert scheme of X will often smooth out the nodes of C. If one wishes to preserve the singularities of C one is led to theory of the *Severi variety*, see [130] and [49]. This works best when X is a smooth surface.

We will take a different approach. Rather than viewing the integral nodal curve  $C \subseteq X$  as defined by equations on X and studying those deformations of the equations which preserve the nodes, we instead consider C as the image  $f_*(\tilde{C})$  of a morphism

$$f : \tilde{C} \to X$$

where  $\tilde{C}$  is a smooth curve. Indeed, we take f to be the composition of the normalisation morphism  $\tilde{C} \to C$  with the closed immersion  $C \to X$ . This viewpoint is known as the *parametric perspective* and is due to Horikawa, [71]. The resulting deformation theory of the morphism f turns out to be somewhat more workable than the theory of the Severi variety even when X is a surface. Indeed, with this perspective one often has a much better description of limiting degenerations of  $f_*(\tilde{C})$  (which will often be neither reduced nor irreducible, let alone integral nodal).

In order to describe all possible deformations of the morphism f we make the following definition, [54].

**Definition 2.1.2** (Gromov, Kontsevich). Let  $f: D \to X$  be a morphism from a connected nodal curve D to a projective variety X, and assume f(D) is not a point. The morphism f is a *stable map* if the following condition is satisfied: suppose  $E \subseteq D$  is an irreducible component with  $E \simeq \mathbb{P}^1$  and f(E) a point. Then E meets the rest of the curve in at least three points, i.e.

$$\#\{E \cap \overline{D \setminus E}\} \ge 3.$$

The above condition may be characterised in several alternate ways, [16, Prop. 3.9], [54], [100].

**Proposition 2.1.3.** Let  $f : D \to X$  be a morphism from a connected nodal curve D to a smooth projective variety X, and assume f(D) is not a point. Then the following conditions are equivalent:

- 1. The morphism f is stable.
- 2. The automorphism group of f is finite.

- 3. The line bundle  $\omega_D \otimes f^* \mathcal{O}_X(3)$  is ample.
- 4. The map  $Hom_D(\Omega_D, \mathcal{O}_D) \to H^0(D, f^*T_X)$  induced by the natural map  $f^*\Omega_X \to \Omega_D$  is injective.
- 5. The infinitesimal automorphism group of f is trivial.

The definition of stable maps generalises easily to the relative setting:

**Definition 2.1.4.** Let S be a Noetherian scheme over  $k = \mathbb{C}$  and  $\mathcal{X}$  an S-scheme. A family of stable maps over an S-scheme U is a pair  $(\mathcal{C}, f)$  where

- $\mathcal{C} \to U$  is a flat, proper family of nodal curves
- $f: \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{X} \times_S U$  is a *U*-morphism
- for each k-point of  $U, f_k : \mathcal{C}_k \to \mathcal{X}_k$  is a stable map.

Let  $\mathcal{X} \to S$  be a projective morphism of  $\mathbb{C}$ -schemes over a Noetherian scheme S with a fixed S-ample line bundle  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{X}}(1)$ . There is a functor from the category **Sch**<sub>S</sub> of S-schemes to the category **Set** of sets

$$\mathcal{W}(\mathcal{X}, d, p) : \mathbf{Sch}_S \to \mathbf{Set}$$

such that  $\mathcal{W}(\mathcal{X}, d, p)(U)$  is the set of isomorphism classes of stable curves  $(\mathcal{C}, f)$  over U such that for all k-points of  $U, \mathcal{C}_k$  has constant arithmetic genus p and deg  $f_k^*(\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{X}}(1)) = d$ .

**Theorem 2.1.5.** Let S be a Noetherian scheme over  $\mathbb{C}$  and let  $\mathcal{X} \to S$  be a projective morphism of schemes with a fixed S-ample divisor  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{X}}(1)$ . The functor  $\mathcal{W}(\mathcal{X}, d, p)$  is a Deligne–Mumford stack, proper over S, which admits a projective coarse moduli space  $\mathbb{W}(\mathcal{X}, d, p)$ .

*Proof.* The construction is given in [16] in the case S = Spec(k), see also [54]. For the relative case, see [7, Thm. 50], [3, §1.2], [2].

*Remark* 2.1.6. Over finite characteristic,  $\mathcal{W}(\mathcal{X}, d, p)$  is still a proper, algebraic Artin stack, but it may fail to be Deligne–Mumford, see the hypotheses of [16, Prop. 4.1].

We will outline the construction of the algebraic stack  $\mathcal{W}(\mathcal{X}, d, p)$ , taken from [7]. Let  $(\mathcal{C}, f)$  be a family of stable maps over U, and let  $\pi : \mathcal{C} \to U$  be the projection. By the third characterisation of stable maps,  $M := \omega_{\mathcal{C}/U} \otimes f^* \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{X}}(3)$  is U-relatively ample. In fact,  $M^2$  is U-very ample and  $R^1 \pi_* M^2 = 0$ . Thus there is some constant N (independent of U) such that  $M^2$  induces a closed immersion  $j : \mathcal{C} \to \mathbb{P}^N_U$ . The diagonal (f, j) then gives a closed immersion

$$\mathcal{C} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{X} \times_S \mathbb{P}^N_S \times_S U.$$

The proper algebraic stack  $\mathcal{W}(\mathcal{X}, d, p)$  is then a quotient of an open subset of  $\text{Hilb}_S(\mathcal{X} \times_S \mathbb{P}^N_S)$  by PGL(N+1). The projectivity of  $\mathbb{W}(\mathcal{X}, d, p)$  is explained in [54, §4.3] (for a reference which explicitly works with the relative case see [2, §2.4, 2.5]).

Let  $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_p$  denote the Deligne–Mumford stack of stable curves of arithmetic genus p. For any nodal curve D, contracting all unstable components yields a unique stable curve D'. That this works well in families is the content of the next proposition, which is essentially [54, §1.3] (see also [2, §2.6]).

**Proposition 2.1.7.** There is a morphism of algebraic stacks

$$\eta : \mathcal{W}(\mathcal{X}, d, p) \to \overline{\mathcal{M}}_{n}$$

which on k-points acts as follows: if  $f: D \to \mathcal{X}_k \in \mathcal{W}(\mathcal{X}, d, p)(Spec(k))$ , then

$$\eta([f]) = [D'] \in \overline{\mathcal{M}}_p(Spec(k))$$

where D' denotes the contraction of all unstable components of D'.

Proof. Consider a family of stable curves  $(\mathcal{C}, f) \in \mathcal{W}(\mathcal{X}, d, p)(U)$ . Contracting unstable components of the fibres of  $\mathcal{C} \to U$  yields a uniquely-defined family of stable maps  $\mathcal{C}' \in \overline{\mathcal{M}}_p(U)$ , by the proof of [89, Prop. 2.1]. This therefore yields a morphism of stacks  $\eta : \mathcal{W}(\mathcal{X}, d, p) \to \overline{\mathcal{M}}_p$ .

We now recall some facts from the theory of families of algebraic cycles over a base S from [129], [94, I.3]. See also [53, Ch. 1], [99, Appendix I.A], [37, §8]. <sup>1</sup> We will use this theory to pass from a family of stable maps  $f_k : C_k \to X_k$  to a family of (non-reduced) curves  $f_{k,*}(C_k) \subseteq X_k$ , at least in the simple case where  $X_k$  is a smooth surface.

First recall the definition of algebraic cycles and pushforward from [53, §1.4], [94, I.3.1].

**Definition 2.1.8.** Let X be a scheme of finite type over  $\mathbb{C}$ . A d-dimensional algebraic cycle on X is a formal linear combination  $\sum_{i=1}^{k} a_i[V_i], a_i \in \mathbb{Z}$ , where  $V_i$  is an integral closed subscheme of dimension d in X. The abelian group of all d-dimensional cycles is denoted  $Z_d(X)$ . If  $W \subseteq X$  is a closed subscheme of pure dimension d and  $W_1, \ldots, W_k$  are the irreducible components of  $W_{red}$ , we define the fundamental cycle  $[W] \in Z_d(X)$  by

$$[W] = \sum_{i=1}^{k} l(\mathcal{O}_{W,\eta_i})[W_i]$$

where  $l(\mathcal{O}_{W,\eta_i})$  denotes the length of  $\mathcal{O}_{W,\eta_i}$ , where  $\eta_i$  is the generic point of  $W_i$  (the fundamental cycle is written as  $\operatorname{cycl}_X(W)$  in [129]).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The main definition of [129] apparently requires a straightforward modification in the case where the base S is non-reduced at generic points, see [84, Ch. 2]. Much of the theory anyhow requires S to be *normal* and we will always make this assumption, so this issue is not relevant to us (families of cycles over non-reduced bases are left undefined in [94, Def. I.3.10]).

Let  $f: X \to Y$  be a morphism of schemes of finite type over  $\mathbb{C}$ , and let  $V_i$  be an integral closed subscheme of dimension d in X. Let  $W_i$  be the closure of  $f(V_i)$  with reduced structure. We set

$$f_*(V_i) = \begin{cases} \deg(V_i/W_i)[V_i] & \text{if } \dim(W_i) = d \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

This extends by linearity to a homomorphism of abelian groups

$$f_* : Z_d(X) \to Z_d(Y)$$

called the *pushforward*.

The following lemma is [129, Prop. 3.4.8] (compare with [94, I.3.23.2]).

**Lemma 2.1.9.** Let S be an integral normal scheme of finite type over  $\mathbb{C}$  and let  $p: Y \to S$ a smooth, finite type morphism of relative dimension d. Let  $X/S \to Y/S$  be a closed immersion of S-schemes with X integral and such that all fibres of the projection  $q: X \to S$ have pure dimension d-1. Then  $q: X \to S$  is flat, and X is a relatively effective Cartier divisor in Y.

*Proof.* From [64, 21.14.3], X is a locally principal closed subscheme of Y. Thus each fibre  $X_s \subseteq Y_s$  over  $s \in S$  is locally principally closed, and since  $X \to S$  has all fibres of pure dimension d-1 and  $Y \to S$  is smooth, each fibre  $X_s \subseteq Y_s$  must be an effective Cartier divisor. The claim now follows from [128, Tag 062Y].

Note that when S is itself smooth the above result is also a special case of the well-known result [63, Prop. 6.1.5]. As a consequence of the above lemma we have the following:

**Proposition 2.1.10.** Let  $\mathcal{X} \to S$  be a smooth, projective family of surfaces, where S is an integral normal scheme of finite type over  $\mathbb{C}$ . Suppose  $\mathcal{C} \to S$  is a flat, proper family of nodal curves and  $f : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{X}$  is a family of stable maps over S. Assume that for each closed point  $s : \operatorname{Spec}(k) \to S$ ,  $f_s : \mathcal{C}_s \to \mathcal{X}_s$  has one-dimensional image. Then there is a relatively effective Cartier divisor  $\mathcal{D} \to \mathcal{X}$  over S such that  $\mathcal{D}_s \simeq f_*\mathcal{C}_s$  (as subschemes) for all closed point  $s \in S$ .

Proof. Let  $C_1, \ldots, C_j$  be the irreducible (and reduced) components of C, set  $V_i := f(C_i)$  with reduced induced scheme structure and let  $f_i : C_i \to V_i$  be the restriction of f to the components. Let  $d_i = \deg f_i$  in case  $\dim C_i = \dim V_i$  and  $d_i = 0$  otherwise, for  $1 \le i \le j$ . By Lemma 2.1.9, each  $V_i$  satisfying  $\dim C_i = \dim V_i$  is a relatively effective Cartier divisor over S, so we have a relatively effective Cartier divisor  $\mathcal{D} := \sum_{i=1}^j d_i V_i$ .

We claim that  $\mathcal{D}_s \simeq f_*\mathcal{C}_s$  for any point  $s: \operatorname{Spec}(k) \to S$ . Then  $\mathcal{D}$  is our desired family of relatively effective Cartier divisors. To show *rational equivalence*  $\mathcal{D}_s \sim f_*\mathcal{C}_s$ , one could take a desingularisation of S and then apply standard intersection theory as in [53, Ch. 10]. That the two divisors are *equal* in the strong sense requires the methods of [129] or [94]. For instance, we may directly apply [129, Thm. 3.6.1] (also see [94, Prop. I.3.2]). In the situation of the above lemma, we will write  $f_*\mathcal{C}$  for the relatively-effective divisor  $\mathcal{D}$ .

**Proposition 2.1.11.** Let S be a scheme of finite type over  $\mathbb{C}$ , and let  $\mathcal{X} \to S$  be a smooth, projective morphism of K3 surfaces. Then there is an open substack  $\mathcal{T}(\mathcal{X}, d, p) \subseteq \mathcal{W}(\mathcal{X}, d, p)$  parametrising stable maps  $[f : C \to X]$  with C smooth, f unramified and birational onto its image. There is further an open substack  $\mathcal{V}(\mathcal{X}, d, p) \subseteq \mathcal{T}(\mathcal{X}, d, p)$  parametrising stable maps  $[f : C \to X]$  which satisfy the additional assumption that f(C) is nodal.

*Proof.* Let  $\hat{\mathcal{W}}(\mathcal{X}, d, p) \to \mathcal{W}(\mathcal{X}, d, p)$  be an étale atlas, with universal family of stable maps



We need to construct open subsets  $U_1 \subseteq U_2 \subseteq \hat{\mathcal{W}}(\mathcal{X}, d, p)$  such that  $p \in U_2$  if and only if  $[f_p : \mathcal{C}_p \to X_p]$  has  $\mathcal{C}_p$  smooth,  $f_p$  unramified and birational onto its image, and  $p \in U_1$  if and only if we have in addition that  $f_p(\mathcal{C}_p)$  is nodal (note that these properties are obviously preserved by automorphisms of  $f_p$ ). Let  $I_1, \ldots, I_k$  be the irreducible components of  $\hat{\mathcal{W}}(\mathcal{X}, d, p)$ , with reduced structure, and let  $\pi_i : N_i \to I_i$  be the normalisation morphism for each *i*. Let  $\tilde{f} : \mathcal{C}_{N_i} \to \mathcal{X}_{N_i}$  be the pull-back of *f*. It suffices to construct open subsets  $\tilde{U}_{1,i} \subseteq \tilde{U}_{2,i} \subseteq N_i$  parametrising points *s* such that  $\tilde{f}_s$  is a stable map with the properties corresponding to  $U_1$  and  $U_2$ ; indeed  $\pi_i$  is proper so we can set

$$U_j = \bigcup_{i=1}^k \hat{\mathcal{W}}(\mathcal{X}, d, p) \setminus \pi(N_i \setminus \tilde{U}_{j,i})$$

for j = 1, 2. It is well-known that there is an open set  $V_{1,i} \subseteq N_i$  parametrising points p where  $\mathcal{C}_{N_i,p}$  is smooth. If we let  $V_{2,i}$  be the complement of the support of  $\Omega_{\mathcal{C}_{N_i}/\mathcal{X}_{N_i}}$ , then  $V_{2,i}$  parametrises points p where  $\tilde{f}_p$  is unramified.

Let  $W_i = V_{1,i} \cap V_{2,i}$ . Applying Lemma 2.1.10, we let  $\mathcal{D} \to \mathcal{X}_{W_i}$  be the flat family of Cartier divisors corresponding to the push-forward of  $\tilde{f}_{|W_i}$ . We let  $\tilde{U}_{2,i}$  be the open subset parametrising points  $p \in W_i$  with the irreducible curve  $\mathcal{D}_p$  reduced and then  $\tilde{U}_{1,i} \subseteq \tilde{U}_{2,i}$  the open subset with  $\mathcal{D}_p$  in addition nodal, [67, Lemma 3.34].  $\Box$ 

The following proposition is standard, e.g. compare with  $[3, \S 8.2]$ .

**Proposition 2.1.12.** Assume that  $\mathcal{X} \to S$  is a smooth, projective family of K3 surfaces, where S is separated of finite type over  $\mathbb{C}$ . Let  $\mathcal{L} \in Pic(\mathcal{X})$  be an S-flat line bundle with  $(\mathcal{L}_s \cdot \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{X}_s}(1)) = d$  for any  $s \in S$ . There is an open and closed substack

$$\mathcal{W}(\mathcal{X},\mathcal{L},p) \subseteq \mathcal{W}(\mathcal{X},d,p)$$

such that a closed point  $f_k : C_k \to \mathcal{X}_k$  in  $\mathcal{W}(\mathcal{X}, d, p)(\mathbb{C})$  is contained in  $\mathcal{W}(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{L}, p)(\mathbb{C})$  if and only if we have the rational equivalence

$$f_{k,*}\mathcal{C}_k \sim \mathcal{L}_k$$

Proof. Let  $\hat{\mathcal{W}}(\mathcal{X}, d, p) \to \mathcal{W}(\mathcal{X}, d, p)$  be an étale atlas and  $I_1, \ldots, I_k$  the (reduced) irreducible components of  $\hat{\mathcal{W}}(\mathcal{X}, d, p)$ . Let  $\pi_i : R_i \to I_i$  be a resolution of singularities for each i and let  $\tilde{f} : \mathcal{C}_{R_i} \to \mathcal{X}_{R_i}$  be the pull-back of the universal stable map as in the previous proposition, with  $j : \mathcal{X}_{R_i} \to R_i$  the projection. It is enough to show that for each  $R_i$  we have either  $f_{s,*}\mathcal{C}_s \sim \mathcal{L}_s$  holds for all closed points  $s \in R_i$  or for no points at all. Indeed, suppose this holds and label the irreducible components such that  $f_{s,*}\mathcal{C}_s \sim \mathcal{L}_s$  holds for all closed point  $f_{i,*}\mathcal{C}_s \sim \mathcal{L}_s$  holds for all closed point. The components  $I_1, \ldots, I_m$ .

$$\bigcup_{i=1}^{m} I_i = \bigcup_{j=m+1}^{k} (\hat{\mathcal{W}}(\mathcal{X}, d, p) \setminus I_j)$$

is an open and closed subset of  $\hat{\mathcal{W}}(\mathcal{X}, d, p)$  with the desired property.

Applying Lemma 2.1.10, let  $\mathcal{D} \to \mathcal{X}_{R_i}$  be the flat family of Cartier divisors corresponding to the push-forward of  $\tilde{f}_{|R_i}$  and let  $\mathcal{M} = \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{X}_{R_i}}(\mathcal{D})$  be the corresponding line bundle. We work in the category of complex manifolds and follow [137, §I.3.1.2]. Let  $s \in R_i$  be a closed point, and let  $U \subseteq R_i$  be an contractible open set about s, taken in the classical topology. Denote by  $\mathcal{X}_U$  resp.  $\mathcal{X}_s$  the complex manifolds  $j^{-1}(U)$  resp.  $j^{-1}(s)$ . Replacing U with a smaller open set if necessary, Ehresmann's lemma states that there exists a homeomorphism  $\mathcal{X}_U \simeq \mathcal{X}_s \times U$  of fibrations over U. Since U was chosen to be contractible, pullback via the inclusion  $\mathcal{X}_s \to \mathcal{X}_U$  induces an isomorphism

$$H^2(\mathcal{X}_U,\mathbb{Z})\simeq H^2(\mathcal{X}_s,\mathbb{Z})$$

for any  $s \in U$ . This gives (by the functorialities of the first Chern class), that for any  $s, t \in U$ ,  $\mathcal{L}_t \simeq \mathcal{M}_t$  if and only if  $c_1(\mathcal{L}_t \otimes \mathcal{M}_t^*) = 0$ , which happens if and only if  $\mathcal{L}_s \simeq \mathcal{M}_s$ . As  $R_i$  is connected, we see that either  $f_{s,*}\mathcal{C}_s \sim \mathcal{L}_s$  holds for all closed points  $s \in R_i$  or for no points at all, as required.

Now consider the Deligne–Mumford stack  $\mathcal{B}_g$  of primitively polarised K3 surfaces of genus  $g \geq 3$ . Analogously to Theorem 2.1.5 and Proposition 2.1.7 we have:

**Proposition 2.1.13.** Set  $p(g,k) := k^2(g-1) + 1$  for  $g \ge 3$ . There is a Deligne–Mumford stack  $\mathcal{W}_{g,k}^n$ , proper over  $\mathcal{B}_g$ , with fibre over a polarised K3 surface [(X,L)] parametrising all stable maps  $f: D \to X$  with  $f_*D \in |kL|$  and such that D is a nodal curve of arithmetic genus p(g,k) - n. The stack  $\mathcal{W}_{g,k}^n$  comes equipped with a morphism of stacks

$$\eta : \mathcal{W}_{g,k}^n \to \mathcal{M}_{p(g,k)-n}$$

*Proof.* Let  $\mathcal{X} \subseteq \mathbb{P}^N_{\mathcal{B}_g}$  be the universal stack of polarised K3 surfaces, where N = 9(g - 1). The claim follows from Theorem 2.1.5 and the considerations in [3, §8.3] or [2, §2.7].

In the same exact same manner as Proposition 2.1.11, we have an open substack  $\mathcal{T}_{g,k}^n \subseteq \mathcal{W}_{g,k}^n$  parametrising stable maps  $[f: C \to X]$  with C smooth, f unramified and birational onto its image, and  $\mathcal{V}_{g,k}^n \subseteq \mathcal{T}_{g,k}^n$  parametrising maps satisfying the additional condition that f(C) is nodal.

Remark 2.1.14. Throughout this section we have always assumed that our family  $\mathcal{X} \to S$  is projective. In the case  $\mathcal{X} \to S$  is only proper, one can show that the analogous functor  $\mathcal{W}(\mathcal{X}, d, p)$  can be constructed as an algebraic Artin stack, locally of finite type, [3, §8.4]. This can be useful in some applications, for instance when one wants to consider stable maps into families of pseudo-polarised K3 surfaces, i.e. pairs (X, L) with L only big and nef, rather than ample. We have stuck to the projective case, since the references are more complete, but many of the statements in this chapter generalise in some form to the proper setting.

### 2.2 Morphisms of complex spaces

General deformations of an algebraic K3 surface are not algebraic. As a result, the constructions in the preceding section do not capture the full story of deformations of stable maps into K3 surfaces and transcendental techniques are needed before one can work effectively with the stack  $\mathcal{W}_{g,k}^n$ . In this section we recall the deformation theory of morphisms of complex spaces, following Flenner's Habilitationsschrift [50]. See also the survey article [116]. As a reference for the general theory of complex spaces we recommend [47], [61, Ch. I]. The standard reference for formal deformation theory is [122]. For us, complex spaces are assumed to be Hausdorff, but *not* reduced.

Let  $\mathcal{A}n_*$  be the category of complex space germs (S, \*) at \*. The objects of this category are pointed spaces (S, \*) and the morphisms are equivalence classes of morphisms defined in an open neighbourhood of the distinguished point. For any  $(S, *) \in \mathcal{A}n_*$ , a *deformation* of a complex space X is a proper, flat morphism  $f: \mathcal{X} \to S$  with  $f^{-1}(*) \simeq X$ . Two deformations are equivalent if they coincide on an open set about the distinguished point \*.

**Definition 2.2.1.** A deformation  $\phi : \mathcal{X} \to S$  of a compact complex space X is called *complete*, if, for any other deformation  $\psi : \mathcal{Y} \to B$  of X, there is a morphism of germs  $h : B \to S$  such that the pullback deformation  $h^*\phi : \mathcal{X}_B \to B$  is equivalent to  $\psi$ . The deformation  $\phi$  is called *versal*, if it satisfies the following stronger condition: for any deformation  $\psi$  as above and for all closed embeddings

$$i: (A, *) \hookrightarrow (B, *)$$

of germs together with a morphism

$$\gamma: (A, *) \to (S, *)$$

such that the pullback  $\gamma^* \phi : \mathcal{X}_A \to A$  is isomorphic to  $i^* \psi : \mathcal{Y}_A \to A$ , then there exists a morphism  $h: B \to S$ , such that  $h^* \phi : \mathcal{X}_B \to B$  is isomorphic to  $\psi : \mathcal{Y} \to B$ , and in addition  $\gamma = h \circ i$ .

Note that there are no uniqueness assumptions on the morphism h. A versal deformation  $\phi: \mathcal{X} \to S$  is called *semiuniversal* if the differential

$$Dh: T(B, *) \to T(S, *)$$

between the tangent spaces at \* is independent of the choice of h. A complete deformation  $\phi : \mathcal{X} \to S$  with the property that the morphism h as above is unique is called *universal*; it is automatically versal. Be aware that many authors use the term versal to describe deformations which we are merely calling complete. The above definition is that used in [61, II.1.3], [50] and others and is required to ensure that versality behaves well with the corresponding notion for formal spaces and to ensure that versality is an open condition.

One of the fundamental results in the deformation theory of complex spaces is the following, [50, II.8.3]:

**Theorem 2.2.2** (Douady, Forster-Knorr, Grauert, Palamodov). Any compact complex space X admits a semiuniversal deformation.

Any compact complex space X has a deformation-obstruction theory which is described by a complex  $T^*(X)$ , see [116, Ch. 2.3]. The vector space  $T^1(X)$  parametrises deformations of X, whereas  $T^2(X)$  gives a group of obstructions. If  $\mathcal{X} \to S$  is a semiuniversal deformation of X, then the germ S can be described locally near the origin as the zeroes of a holomorphic map  $\phi: V \to T^2(X)$ , where  $V \subseteq T^1(X)$  is an open neighbourhood about  $0 \in T^1(X)$ . In particular, dim $(S, *) \ge \dim T^1(X) - \dim T^2(X)$ . Moreover, the set of points in  $s \in S$  such that  $\mathcal{X} \to S$  remains versal at s is Zariski open, [18, Thm. 7.1].

For any complex space S, let  $An_S$  be the category of complex spaces over S. Let  $X \to S$  be a morphism of complex spaces. There is a functor

$$\operatorname{Hilb}(X/S) : \mathcal{A}n_S \to {\operatorname{Sets}}$$

defined by setting  $\operatorname{Hilb}(X/S)(Z)$  equal to the set of subspaces  $V \subseteq X \times_S Z$  which are proper and flat over Z. The following key result is due to Douady in the absolute setting and Pourcin in the relative case:

**Theorem 2.2.3** ([44], [119]). Let  $X \to S$  be a morphism of complex spaces. Then the functor Hilb(X/S) is representable by a complex space over S.

The complex space  $\operatorname{Hilb}(X/S)$  is called the *Douady space*. The construction of  $\operatorname{Hilb}(X/S)$  has a very different flavour to the algebraic construction of the Hilb functor.

Let  $f: X \to Y$  be a morphism between compact complex spaces. A deformation of f over the germ representative  $(S, *) \in An_*$  is defined to be a diagram



where F, g, h are morphism with g, h flat and proper, and such that the diagram reduces to f at  $* \in S$ . Two deformations of f are equivalent if they coincide in an open set about  $* \in S$ . Morphisms between deformations of f are defined in the natural way, [50, I.3.D]. Define the functor

$$Def(X, f, Y) : An_* \to {Sets}$$

by sending S to all equivalence classes of deformations of f over S. This functor admits a deformation-obstruction theory in the sense of [50, I.4.D], [24, §6]. For any deformation  $a \in \text{Def}(X, f, Y)(S)$ , this deformation obstruction theory is specified by functors

$$T_f^i(a) : \operatorname{Coh}_{\mathcal{O}_{S,*}} \to \operatorname{Coh}_{\mathcal{O}_{S,*}}$$

between the categories of coherent  $\mathcal{O}_{S,*}$  modules, see also [24, §7.4]. We define

$$T_f^i \coloneqq T_f^i(a_0)(\mathbb{C});$$

where  $a_0$  is the trivial deformation of f; this is a  $\mathbb{C}$  vector space. Note that there is a canonical isomorphism  $T_f^i(a)(\mathbb{C}) \simeq T_f^i$  for any i and any deformation  $a \in \text{Def}(X, f, Y)(S)$ , [50, Satz I.3.22].

We call an element  $a \in \text{Def}(X, f, Y)(A)$  versal if for any  $b \in \text{Def}(X, f, Y)(B)$  and a pair of a closed immersion  $i : (C, *) \hookrightarrow (B, *)$  of germs and a morphism  $\gamma : (C, *) \to (A, *)$  of germs with  $i^*b \simeq \psi^*a$ , then there exists a morphism

$$h: (B, *) \to (A, *)$$

of germs such that  $h^*(a) \simeq b$  and  $h \circ i = \gamma$ . A versal deformation *a* is called *semiuniversal* if, in the above situation, the differential

$$dh: T(B, *) \to T(A, *)$$

is independent of the choice of h. The following is [50, II.8.3]:

**Theorem 2.2.4** (Flenner). If  $f : X \to Y$  is a morphism between compact complex spaces, then f admits a semiuniversal deformation.

Proof. From [50, Satz III.8.1] or [51, Satz 5.2] it suffices to show that there exists a versal deformation of f. The graph of f gives a closed immersion  $\Gamma \subseteq X \times Y$ . Pick semiuniversal deformations  $\mathcal{X} \to A_1, \mathcal{Y} \to A_2$  of X, Y. There is an open subset  $U \to A_1 \times A_2$  of the relative Douady space  $Hilb_{A_1 \times A_2}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y})$  parametrising morphisms  $f_t : X_t \to Y_t$ , by identifying the morphisms with their graph. The pull-back of the universal family over  $Hilb_{A_1 \times A_2}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y})$  via  $U \subseteq Hilb_{A_1 \times A_2}(\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y})$  gives a versal family.

The above semiuniversal deformation remains versal in a Zariski-open subset about  $* \in S$ , [50, Kor. I.4.11, Satz III.8.1], also see [51].

Fix a semiuniversal deformation  $a \in \text{Def}(X, f, Y)(S)$  of f. As in the case of deformations of compact complex spaces, one can give a local description of the base S of the semiuniversal deformation a. The following dimension bound is a direct application of [24, Cor. 6.11].

**Proposition 2.2.5.** Let  $f : X \to Y$  be a morphism between compact complex spaces, and let

$$a \in Def(X, f, Y)(S)$$

be a semiuniversal deformation. Then

$$\dim(S,*) \ge \dim T_f^1 - \dim T_f^2.$$

*Remark.* In fact, for the above dimension count, a need only be a *formal* semiuniversal deformation, as defined in [24, §6].

We now consider the case  $f: D \to X$  is a stable map from a nodal curve to a projective K3 surface, with f(D) one-dimensional. In this case, we have

$$T^{i}(D) = \operatorname{Ext}_{D}^{i}(\Omega_{D}, \mathcal{O}_{D}), \quad T^{i}(X) = H^{i}(X, T_{X}),$$

where the first equality is just the statement that the cotangent complex of a nodal curve D is the sheaf  $\Omega_D$ . There is a long exact sequence

$$0 \to T^0(D/X) \to T^0_f \to T^0(X) \to T^1(D/X) \to T^1_f \to T^1(X) \to \dots$$
(2.1)

where the  $\mathbb{C}$  vector spaces  $T^i(D/X)$  fit into the long exact sequence

$$0 \to T^0(D/X) \to T^0(D) \to H^0(D, f^*T_X) \to T^1(D/X) \to T^1(D)$$
  
$$\to H^1(D, f^*T_X) \to \dots$$
(2.2)

see for example [116, §4.3, §4.5], [50, Satz I.3.4], [18, 5.13] (for the second sequence) and [61, Appendix C].  $^2$ 

The following calculation is taken from [86, Prop. 4.1].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>A similar sequence appears in the well-known paper [120] which takes a very different approach using non-commutative algebra. Its appears, however, that Ran's use of the cotangent *sheaf* needs to be replaced with the cotangent *complex* for his results to hold in the claimed generality (this makes no difference in our situation).

**Proposition 2.2.6.** Let  $f: D \to X$  be a stable map from a nodal curve to a projective K3 surface, with f(D) one-dimensional. Then we have the following bounds

$$\dim T_f^1 - \dim T_f^2 = 19 + p(D) \tag{2.3}$$

$$\dim T^{1}_{D/X} - \dim T^{2}_{D/X} \ge p(D) - 1$$
(2.4)

where p(D) denotes the arithmetic genus of D.

Proof. Since f is stable,  $T^0(D) \to H^0(D, f^*T_X)$  is injective. Since we further have  $T^0(X) = 0$ , this gives  $T_f^0 = 0$ . To compute this, we follow [7, p. 62ff.]. A power of the ample bundle  $\omega_D \otimes f^*\mathcal{O}_D(3)$  is very ample and hence it induces an embedding

$$j : D \hookrightarrow \mathbb{P}^N$$

for some integer N. The diagonal  $\delta := (f, j)$  then gives a second closed immersion

 $\delta : D \hookrightarrow \mathbb{P}^N \times X.$ 

As D is nodal, D is in particular a reduced, local complete intersection curve. Thus these two embeddings induce two normal bundles on D, namely  $N_{D,\mathbb{P}^N}$  and  $N_{D,\mathbb{P}^N\times X}$ . We have a short exact sequence

$$0 \to N_{D,\mathbb{P}^N \times X}^* \to f^* \Omega_X \oplus (\Omega_{\mathbb{P}^N})|_D \to \Omega_D \to 0.$$

Taking the long exact sequence of Ext(,  $\mathcal{O}_D$ ) gives

 $\dim T_D^0 - \dim T_D^1 + \dim T_D^2 = \chi(f^*T_X) + \chi((T_{\mathbb{P}^N})_{\mid D}) - \chi(N_{D,\mathbb{P}^N \times X}).$ 

In fact,  $T_D^2 = H^1(\mathcal{E}xt^1(\Omega_D, \mathcal{O}_D))$  by the local-to-global spectral sequence for Ext, and since  $\mathcal{E}xt^1(\Omega_D, \mathcal{O}_D)$  is supported at the nodes of D we have  $T_D^2 = 0$ , but we will not use this. From equation (2.2) we get

From equation (2.2) we get

$$\dim T^{0}(D/X) - \dim T^{1}(D/X) + \dim T^{2}(D/X) = \chi((T_{\mathbb{P}^{N}})|_{D}) - \chi(N_{D,\mathbb{P}^{N}\times X})$$

Combining this with the exact sequence (2.1), then gives

$$\dim T_f^1 - \dim T_f^2 = \chi(N_{D,\mathbb{P}^N \times X}) - \chi((T_{\mathbb{P}^N})_{|_D}) + 20.$$

It now suffices to determine deg  $N_{D,\mathbb{P}^N\times X}$ , as then  $\chi(N_{D,\mathbb{P}^N\times X})$  and  $\chi((T_{\mathbb{P}^N})_{|_D})$  can be readily computed using Riemann–Roch and the Euler sequence. There is a short exact sequence

$$0 \to f^*T_X \to N_{D,\mathbb{P}^N \times X} \to N_{D,\mathbb{P}^N} \to 0$$

and thus deg  $N_{D,\mathbb{P}^N\times X}$  = deg  $N_{D,\mathbb{P}^N}$  since X is a K3 surface. For an embedded local complete intersection curve  $D \subseteq \mathbb{P}^N$ , we have

$$\deg N_{D,\mathbb{P}^N} = (N+1)\deg D + 2p(D) - 2$$

from [7, p. 63], which allows one to finish the computations.

#### 2.2. MORPHISMS OF COMPLEX SPACES

Following [24, §7.4], we now define a "restricted" version of the Def(X, f, Y) functor, which only allows chosen deformations of Y. Let  $f: X \to Y$  be a morphism of compact complex spaces. Fix a representative of a complex space germ  $(B, *) \in An_*$  and a flat deformation  $h: \mathcal{Y} \to B$  of a compact complex space Y. Let  $An_{(B,*)}$  be the category of germs over (B, \*). Define

$$\operatorname{Def}_h(X, f, Y) : \mathcal{A}n_{(B,*)} \to {\operatorname{Sets}}$$

as follows. For any morphism of germs  $j: (A, *) \to (B, *)$ , let  $h_A: \mathcal{Y}_A \to A$  be the pull-back of  $\mathcal{Y} \to B$  under j. Then  $\operatorname{Def}_h(X, f, Y)(A)$  is defined to be the subset of  $\operatorname{Def}(X, f, Y)(A)$ consisting of deformations of f such that the induced deformation of Y is  $h_A: \mathcal{Y}_A \to A$ . In other words,  $\operatorname{Def}_h(X, f, Y)(A)$  is the set of equivalence classes of diagrams of the form



which reduce to f at the distinguished point  $* \in A$ . Morphisms between objects are defined in the natural way, as are versal and semiuniversal deformations. The proof of Theorem 2.2.4 similarly shows that  $\text{Def}_h(X, f, Y)$  has a semiuniversal deformation.

The next lemma is rather obvious.

**Lemma 2.2.7.** Assume the compact complex space Y admits a universal deformation  $h : \mathcal{Y} \to B$  over a germ (B, \*). Then any semiuniversal deformation  $a \in Def(X, f, Y)(S)$  may be considered as a semiuniversal deformation for the deformation functor  $Def_h(X, f, Y)$ .

The following lemma is straightforward.

**Lemma 2.2.8.** Let  $j: (B, *) \to (A, *)$  be a morphism of complex germs, let  $h: \mathcal{Y} \to A$  be a flat deformation of a compact complex space Y, and let  $h_B: \mathcal{Y}_B \to B$  be the pullback of h under j. Let  $a \in Def_h(X, f, Y)(S)$  be a semiuniversal element, over the base  $k: S \to A$ . Let  $pr_1: S \times_A B \to S$  denote the projection. Then

$$b \coloneqq pr_1^* a \in Def_{h_{\mathcal{P}}}(X, f, Y)(S \times_A B)$$

provides a semiuniversal deformation for  $Def_{h_{R}}(X, f, Y)$ .

*Proof.* Versality is an easy application of the universal property of the fibre-product, [61, Def. I.1.46]. We omit the proof. We denote by  $T_{\epsilon} \in \mathcal{A}n_*$  the double point at \*; i.e. the germ associated to the analytic  $\mathbb{C}$ -algebra  $\mathbb{C}\{t\}/(t^2)$ ; this has a one-dimensional tangent space spanned by  $\epsilon$ . For any complex space germ (W, \*) there is a canonical identification between the tangent space T(W, \*) and the vector space of morphisms  $r: T_{\epsilon} \to W$  given by  $r \mapsto dr(\epsilon)$ . Let  $c \in \text{Def}_{h_B}(X, f, Y)(C)$  be a deformation over a base  $l: C \to B, v: T_{\epsilon} \to C$ 

any tangent vector and let  $q_i : C \to S \times_A B$  for i = 1, 2 be *B*-morphisms such that  $q_i^* b = c$ . We need to show that  $q_1 \circ v = q_2 \circ v$  (or equivalently  $dq_1(v) = dq_2(v)$ , identifying v with a tangent vector).

We have  $q_i^* pr_1^* a = q_i^* b = c$  for i = 1, 2. Since c is a semiuniversal element for  $\text{Def}_h(X, f, Y)(S)$ , we have  $pr_1 \circ q_1 \circ v = pr_2 \circ q_2 \circ v$ . Set  $\alpha \coloneqq pr_1 \circ q_r \circ v : T_{\epsilon} \to S$  and set  $\beta \coloneqq l \circ v : T_{\epsilon} \to B$ . Then both  $q_1 \circ v$  and  $q_2 \circ v$  fit into the commutative diagram:



The universal property of the fibre product then implies  $q_1 \circ v = q_2 \circ v$ .

We now restrict to our setting. Suppose  $h: \mathcal{X} \to B$  is a flat family of deformations of the K3 surface X. Let  $f: D \to X$  be a stable map with f(D) one-dimensional. There is a deformation theory of  $\text{Def}_h(D, f, \mathcal{X})$ , relative to h, described by the vector spaces  $T^i(D/X)$ from Equation (2.2). This gives the following, see [24, Cor. 6.11, §7.4] (also compare with the discussion in [78, §2]).

**Proposition 2.2.9.** Let  $h : \mathcal{X} \to B$  is a flat family of deformations of the K3 surface X and let  $a \in Def_h(D, f, \mathcal{X})(S)$  be a semiuniversal element. Then

$$\dim(S, *) \ge \dim B + \dim T^1(D/X) - \dim T^2(D/X).$$

We have implicitly used there the fact that, in the notation of Buchweitz–Flenner:

$$\dim T^{i}_{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}/\widetilde{\mathcal{X}}}(\mathcal{O}_{D}) = \dim T^{i}_{D/X}(\mathcal{O}_{D})$$

for any deformation  $F : \widetilde{\mathcal{D}} \to \widetilde{\mathcal{X}}$  of f. This follows, for instance, from the long exact sequence [50, Satz I.3.4] and base change [50, Satz I.3.22], [18, (5.14)].

We now return to the Deligne–Mumford stack  $\mathcal{W}_{g,k}^n$ . By seeing this as an algebraic stack, it comes with the "standard" deformation-obstruction theory [15], [14]. This leads to the bound

$$\dim \mathcal{W}^n_{a,k} \ge 18 + p(g,k) - n \tag{2.5}$$

which is perhaps most easily seen from the description of  $\mathcal{W}_{g,k}^n$  as a quotient of a relative Hilbert scheme, cf. [7, §10].

It is a well-known fact that Bound 2.5 is not optimal. For instance, applying it to the case of rational curves in primitive classes, i.e. k = 1, p(g, k) = n, it would suggest that there

is an 18-dimensional divisor in the space  $\mathcal{B}_g$  of primitively polarised K3 surfaces admitting a rational curve in the linear system induced by the polarisation. This does not sit well with the result of Mori–Mukai stating that *all* primitively polarised K3 surfaces admit (possibly non-reduced) rational curves in the class of the polarisation, [106, Appendix]. The solution to this problem comes by considering *all* deformation of the K3 surface X and not merely the algebraic ones.

We firstly need a simple lemma about complex spaces.

**Lemma 2.2.10.** Let S be an irreducible, reduced complex space, and  $x \in S$  a point. There exists a holomorphic map

$$z \, : \, \Delta \to S$$

where  $\Delta \subseteq \mathbb{C}$  is a disc about the origin, such that z(0) = x and such that there exists a nonempty, analytically open set  $\Delta^0 \subseteq \Delta$  with z(y) lying in the smooth locus of S for all  $y \in \Delta^0$ .

Proof. Let  $m = \dim S$ . If m = 0 the result is trivial, whereas for m = 1 the result follows from the existence of normalisations of reduced complex spaces, [61, Thm. I.1.95]. Assume  $m \ge 2$ . By the Local Parametrisation Theorem (e.g. [131, Cor. 4.6.7] or [65]), there exists an open neighbourhood  $U \subseteq S$  about x, an open neighbourhood  $V \subseteq \mathbb{C}^m$  about the origin and a finite morphism  $\pi : U \to V$ , such that  $\pi(U)$  contains an open subset about the origin and  $\pi(x) = 0$ . Pick a point  $v \in V$  near the origin and outside of the branch locus (which is a proper closed analytic set), and a line L from the origin to v. By considering L as the zeroes of a holomorphic function  $\mathbb{C}^m \to \mathbb{C}^{m-1}$  and applying [61, Prop. I.1.85], there exists an irreducible, one-dimensional analytic subset  $\widetilde{\Delta} \subseteq U$  containing x and such that  $\pi(\widetilde{\Delta}) \subseteq L$ . Since the restriction  $\pi_{\widetilde{\Delta}} : \widetilde{\Delta} \to L$  has isolated fibres it is locally finite, [61, Thm. I.1.66], and hence  $\pi(\widetilde{\Delta})$  contains an open subset of L about the origin. In particular,  $\pi(\widetilde{\Delta})$  contains points outside the branch locus. Let  $\widetilde{\Delta}_{red}$  denote the reduction, and then take  $\Delta$  to be an open disc over x in the normalisation of  $\widetilde{\Delta}_{red}$ . Then  $\Delta$  has the desired property.

We now need a proposition about the topology of nodal curves. The main idea we need is that of oriented real blow-ups. These occur naturally in the study of degenerations of surfaces, [118, Pg. 33-35]. They have become a standard tool in logarithmic geometry and Teichmüller theory, see e.g. [83, Pg. 404], [81], [102, §2], [72, VI]. We follow the presentation from [1, §8.2]; also see [9, X.9] and the unpublished manuscripts [82, §2], [57].

Let X be a topological space,  $\pi: L \to X$  a complex line bundle and  $s: X \to L$  a section. Choose local trivialisations  $(\pi, \phi): L \to X \times \mathbb{C}$ . We start with the set

$$B_{L,s}(X) \coloneqq \{l \in L \mid |\phi(l)| \cdot (\phi s \pi)(l) = \phi l \cdot |(\phi s \pi)(l)|\}.$$

This space is invariant under the  $\mathbb{C}^*$  action and glues to give a well-defined topological space over X. Further, it contains the zero-section and is invariant under the natural  $\mathbb{R}_{>0}$ 

action. Let  $B_{L,s}^*(X) \subseteq B_{L,s}(X)$  denote the complement of the zero section and define the simple real blow-up,<sup>3</sup> denoted  $SiBl_{L,s}(X)$ , by

$$SiBl_{L,s}(X) \coloneqq B^*_{L,s}(X)/\mathbb{R}_{>0}.$$

This comes with a proper morphism of topological spaces  $\pi : SiBl_{L,s}(X) \to X$ , which is a homeomorphism away from the zeroes of s and an oriented  $S^1$  bundle over Z(s). We have the following functorialities. Let  $p: Y \to X$  be a continuous morphism, then there is a homeomorphism

$$SiBl_{L,s}(X) \times_X Y \simeq SiBl_{p^*L,p^*s}(Y).$$

Next let  $L_1, \ldots, L_n$  be complex line bundles on X with sections  $s_i$ , and  $L = L_1 \otimes \ldots \otimes L_n$  with section  $s = s_1 \otimes \ldots \otimes s_n$ . Then the multiplication

$$L_1 \times_X L_2 \ldots \times_X L_n \to L$$

induces a map

$$SiBl_{L_{1},s_{1}}(X) \times_{X} \ldots \times_{X} SiBl_{L_{n},s_{n}}(X) \rightarrow SiBl_{L,s}(X).$$

Now assume that X is a complex manifold and that D is a smooth divisor, defined by a section s of a holomorphic line bundle L. In this case  $SiBl_{L,s}(X)$  has the structure of a real analytic manifold with corners (for more on this notion see [98, Pg. 363]). If  $U \subseteq \mathbb{C}^n$  is a local chart for X, and if s is locally the function  $s: U \to \mathbb{C}$  on U, then we can describe  $SiBl_{L,s}(X)$  locally as the set

$$\{(x,\tau)\in U\times S^1\mid s(x)=|s(x)|\tau\},\$$

where  $S^1$  denotes the unit circle in the complex plane. Now assume X is a complex manifold and  $D = D_1 \cup \ldots \cup D_k$  is a union of smooth divisors with normal crossings. Let  $L = \mathcal{O}(D)$ , and  $L_i = \mathcal{O}_{D_i}$ , and let  $s_i \in H^0(X, L_i)$  define  $D_i$ , with  $s = s_1 \otimes \ldots \otimes s_k$ . We define the oriented real blow up of X at D to be

$$Bl_{L,s}(X) \coloneqq SiBl_{L_1,s_1}(X) \times_X \ldots \times_X SiBl_{L_k,s_k}(X).$$

In fact, if D is any normal crossing divisor, meaning it has the above form locally but not necessarily globally, then can one define the real oriented blow up by glueing together charts of the above form, but we will not need this.  $Bl_{L,D}(X)$  is an analytic manifold with corners, which comes with a proper map  $p : Bl_{L,D}(X) \to X$  (use [21, Prop. 10.1.5 d] to see properness). It has the following local description: for a small open  $U \subseteq X$ ,  $p^{-1}(U)$  is given by

$$\{(x,\tau_1,\ldots,\tau_k)\in U\times(S^1)^k\mid s_i(x)=|s_i(x)|\tau_i \text{ for all } 1\leq i\leq k\}.$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>This is denoted  $Blo_{L,s}(X)$  in [1]. We are choosing the notation to emphasise the difference with the full oriented real blow up.

#### 2.2. MORPHISMS OF COMPLEX SPACES

If  $n = \dim(U)$ , then these local patches are real-analytically isomorphic to

$$(S^1)^k \times [0,\epsilon)^k \times \Delta^{n-k}_{\epsilon},$$

where  $\Delta_{\epsilon}^{n-k}$  is an  $\epsilon$ -disc in  $\mathbb{C}^{n-k}$ , see [9, Pg. 150]. Note that  $Bl_{L,s}(X)$  is related but different to  $SiBl_{L,s}(X)$ ; indeed if all divisors pass through the origin then the first has central fibre  $(S^1)^k$ , whereas the second has  $S^1$  as the central fibre.

The payoff for all these definitions is that we can now state the following remarkable result, due to E. Looijenga.

**Theorem 2.2.11** (Looijenga). Let  $C \to T$  be a Kuranishi family of stable marked curves. Let  $0 \in B$  be the origin, and let  $p_1, \ldots, p_k$  be the nodes in the central fibre. Let  $D_1, \ldots, D_k$  be the divisors in T corresponding to deformations which preserve the node  $p_k$ . Let D be the normal crossing divisor  $D_1 \cup \ldots \cup D_k$  and  $L = \mathcal{O}_T(D)$  with  $s \in H^0(T, L)$  the section defining D. Then there is an analytic manifold with corners Z, an analytic fibration  $Z \to Bl_{L,s}(T)$ with fibre a fixed orientable Riemann surface  $\Sigma$ , and a surjective, continuous map  $\lambda : Z \to C$ giving a commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{c}
Z \xrightarrow{\lambda} & \mathcal{C} \\
\downarrow & & \downarrow^{g} \\
Bl_{L,s}(T) \xrightarrow{h} & T.
\end{array}$$

For each point  $p \in Bl_{L,s}(T)$ , the induced map on fibres

$$\lambda_p : \Sigma \simeq Z_p \to \mathcal{C}_p$$

is a diffeomorphism away from the nodes of  $C_p$ .

*Proof.* See [102, §2]. For the analyticity statements, see [9, Ch. X.9, XV.8].

In other words, one can perform simultaneous *real* resolutions of families of nodal curves, after modifying the base, in situations where one could not possibly perform simultaneous resolutions of singularities in the complex category. This is illustrated in Figure 2.2, which illustrates a family of smooth quadrics degenerating to a nodal quadric. By Teichmüller theory, all degenerations to nodal curves occur by pinching finitely many loops in this fashion.

Whilst families of cycles work well in the algebraic setting (see [53, Ch. 10]), they seem to be much harder to work with in the case of analytic families of singular complex spaces. We will circumvent this problem using Theorem 2.2.11. Let  $f: D \to X$  be a morphism from a nodal curve to a K3 surface, and let  $\tilde{D}$  be the normalisation and  $\tilde{f}: \tilde{D} \to X$  the induced map. We define

$$f_*D \coloneqq \tilde{f}_*\tilde{D} \in H_2(X,\mathbb{Z}).$$



Figure 2.1: A degeneration of a smooth quadric to a nodal curve via pinching a loop. The lower cylinder illustrates the real resolution locally.

#### 2.2. MORPHISMS OF COMPLEX SPACES

Before we proceed we will prove two easy lemmas from topology. The first one is standard. Let X be an n-dimensional, compact topological manifold with boundary and connected components  $X_i$ ,  $1 \le i \le k$ . Recall that the compact manifold with boundary X is called orientable if the (possibly non-compact) open manifold  $X - \partial X$  is orientable. If we assume that X is orientable, then Lefschetz duality gives isomorphisms  $H_n(X_i, \partial X_i; \mathbb{Z}) \simeq$  $H^0(X_i, \mathbb{Z}) \simeq \mathbb{Z}$ , [69, Thm. 3.43]. In particular,

$$H_n(X,\partial X;\mathbb{Z})\simeq\mathbb{Z}^k.$$

The point of the next lemma is to describe this isomorphism slightly differently.

**Lemma 2.2.12.** Let X be an n-dimensional, compact topological manifold with boundary and connected components  $X_i$ ,  $1 \le i \le k$ . For each i, let  $x_i \in X_i$  be a point in the interior and let  $U_i \subseteq X_i$  be a small, contractible, open neighbourhood of  $x_i$ . Assume X is orientable. Then there are isomorphisms

$$H_n(X,\partial X;\mathbb{Z}) \simeq \bigoplus_{1 \le i \le k} H_n(X_i, X_i - x_i;\mathbb{Z}) \simeq \bigoplus_{1 \le i \le k} H_n(U_i, U_i - x_i;\mathbb{Z}),$$

induced by the obvious inclusions.

*Proof.* We follow [69, p. 252ff]. By excision  $H_n(X_i, X_i - x_i; \mathbb{Z}) \simeq H_n(U_i, U_i - x_i; \mathbb{Z}) \simeq \mathbb{Z}$ . It remains to show that inclusion induces an isomorphism

$$H_n(X_i, \partial X_i; \mathbb{Z}) \simeq H_n(X_i, X_i - x_i; \mathbb{Z}).$$

By [69, Prop. 3.42], there is an open neighbourhood  $V_i \subseteq X_i$  containing  $\partial X_i$ , together with a homeomorphism  $\psi_i : V_i \to \partial X_i \times [0,1)$  such that  $\psi_i(\partial X_i) = \partial X_i \times \{0\}$ . We may choose  $V_i$ so that  $x_i \notin V_i$ . By excision

$$H_n(X_i, \partial X_i; \mathbb{Z}) \simeq H_n(X_i, \partial X_i \times [0, 1); \mathbb{Z}) \simeq H_n(X_i - \partial X_i, \partial X_i \times (0, 1); \mathbb{Z}).$$

Since the manifold  $X_i - \partial X_i$  is orientable, applying [69, Lemma 3.27(a)] to the compact set  $A := X_i - V_i \subseteq X_i - \partial X_i$  shows that the natural map

$$H_n(X_i - \partial X_i, \partial X_i \times (0, 1); \mathbb{Z}) \to H_n(X_i - \partial X_i, (X_i - \partial X_i) - x_i; \mathbb{Z}) \simeq \mathbb{Z}$$

induced by inclusion is surjective. Since Lefschetz duality gives  $H_n(X_i, \partial X_i; \mathbb{Z}) \simeq H^0(X_i; \mathbb{Z}) \simeq \mathbb{Z}$ , this completes the proof.

Let X be n-dimensional, compact topological manifold with boundary and connected components  $X_i$ ,  $1 \leq i \leq k$ . Assume further that X is orientable. An orientation class is then an element  $\Theta \in H_n(X, \partial X; \mathbb{Z})$  which can be written as a sum of generators of  $H_n(X_i, \partial X_i; \mathbb{Z}) \simeq \mathbb{Z}$  for each i. Note that we have  $2^k$  choices for the orientation class, corresponding to a choice of sign for each component. **Lemma 2.2.13.** Let A be an orientable n-dimensional, compact topological manifold with boundary and finitely many connected components and let B be an orientable, n-dimensional, compact manifold without boundary (possibly disconnected). Assume we have a surjective, continuous map  $f: A \to B$  such that  $f(\partial A) \subseteq B$  is a closed set and the restriction

$$f: A - \partial A \to B - f(\partial A)$$

is a homeomorphism. Assume that each connected component of  $f(\partial A)$  is homeomorphic to a topological manifold of dimension strictly less than n. Finally assume that if

$$\delta : H_n(A, \partial A; \mathbb{Z}) \to H_{n-1}(\partial A, \mathbb{Z})$$

is the boundary map then

$$f_* \circ \delta(\Xi) = 0 \in H_{n-1}(f(\partial A), \mathbb{Z})$$

for some orientation class  $\Xi \in H_n(A, \partial A; \mathbb{Z})$ . Then we can choose an orientation  $\Theta \in H_n(B,\mathbb{Z})$  such that

$$f_*\Xi = j\Theta \in H_n(B, f(\partial A); \mathbb{Z}),$$

where  $j: H_n(B,\mathbb{Z}) \to H_n(B, f(\partial A);\mathbb{Z})$  is the natural inclusion.

Proof. By the assumption  $f_* \circ \delta(\Xi) = 0$ , there is a  $\Theta \in H_n(B, \mathbb{Z})$  with  $f_*\Xi = j\Theta$ . It remains to show that  $\Theta$  is an orientation class, or equivalently that for each connected component  $B_i$  of B, there is an element  $x_i \in B$  such that the image of  $\Theta$  under the natural map  $H_n(B,\mathbb{Z}) \to H_n(B, B - x_i;\mathbb{Z})$  is a generator. For any component  $B_i$  of B, let  $x_i \in B_i$ ,  $x_i \notin f(\partial A)$  and pick  $y_i \in f^{-1}(x_i)$ . Now consider the natural commutative diagram

For small open subsets  $U_i$  resp.  $V_i$  about  $y_i$  resp.  $x_i$ , the inclusions give isomorphisms  $H_n(U_i, U_i - y_i; \mathbb{Z}) \simeq H_n(A, A - y_i; \mathbb{Z})$  and  $H_n(V_i, V_i - x_i; \mathbb{Z}) \simeq H_n(B, B - x_i; \mathbb{Z})$ . Thus the assumption that f is a homeomorphism away from  $\partial A$  gives that the rightmost vertical map in the above commutative diagram is an isomorphism. Further, the topmost horizontal map takes  $\Xi$  to a generator of  $H_n(A, A - y_i; \mathbb{Z})$  by the previous lemma. The claim follows.  $\Box$ 

We can now prove the previously mentioned result on the topology of stable maps.

**Proposition 2.2.14.** Let  $\Delta \subseteq \mathbb{C}$  be a disc about the origin and let


be a flat family of morphisms, with  $g: \mathcal{D} \to \Delta$  a flat and proper family of nodal curves of genus p and  $h: \mathcal{X} \to \Delta$  a proper, smooth family of K3 surfaces. Assume  $F_0: \mathcal{D}_0 \to \mathcal{X}_0$  is non-constant. Let  $\phi_t: H^2(\mathcal{X}_t, \mathbb{Z}) \simeq H^2(\mathcal{X}_0, \mathbb{Z})$  be a holomorphic family of markings for  $t \in$  $\Delta$ , with Poincare dual  $\hat{\phi}_t: H_2(\mathcal{X}_0, \mathbb{Z}) \to H_2(\mathcal{X}_t, \mathbb{Z})$ . Then  $\hat{\phi}_t(F_{*,0}\mathcal{D}_0) = F_{*,t}\mathcal{D}_t \in H_2(\mathcal{X}_t, \mathbb{Z})$ for all  $t \in \Delta$ .

*Proof.* It is enough to prove the statement locally on  $\Delta$ . Using that a flat morphism of complex spaces is open, [47, §3.19], and the implicit function theorem [74, Cor. 1.1.12], we assume we have markings  $s_i : \Delta \to \mathcal{D}$ , so that  $\mathcal{D}$  becomes a family of *m*-pointed stable curves, for some *m*. Let  $\pi : \mathcal{C} \to T$  be a Kuranishi family of stable, *m*-pointed genus *p* curves. Shrinking  $\Delta$  if necessary, the universal property of Kuranishi families gives a morphism  $j : \Delta \to T$ .

Let  $D_i$  be the divisors from Theorem 2.2.11, set  $L_i = \mathcal{O}_T(D_i)$ ,  $s_i \in H^0(L_i)$  the sections defining  $D_i$ . Then assume  $j^*s_i = 0$  for  $1 \leq i \leq m$  (allowing m = 0), and  $j^*s_i = t^{l_i}$  for  $m+1 \leq i \leq k$  (allowing m = k). Let  $M \in \text{Pic}(\Delta)$  be the line bundle associated to the degree one divisor 0. By the functorialities of the simple real blow-up and composing with the obvious diagonal maps we have, if  $m \neq 0$ , a map

$$SiBl_{M,0}(\Delta) \to Bl_{L_1,s_1}(T) \times_T \ldots \times_T Bl_{L_m,s_m}(T)$$

and, if  $m \neq k$ , a map

$$Bl_{M,t}(\Delta) \to Bl_{L_{m+1},s_{m+1}}(T) \times_T \ldots \times_T Bl_{L_k,s_k}(T).$$

Let  $\tilde{B}$  denote  $SiBl_{M,0}(\Delta)$  in case m = k,  $Bl_{M,t}(\Delta)$  in case m = 0 and  $SiBl_{M,0}(\Delta) \times_{\Delta} Bl_{M,t}(\Delta)$  if  $m \neq 0, m \neq k$ . Then we have a continuous map

$$B \to Bl_{L,s}(T)$$

and a surjective projection  $\pi: \tilde{B} \to \Delta$ . Shrinking  $\Delta$  if necessary we can explicitly write down the map  $\pi$ . If m = k it is the projection

$$S^1 \times \Delta \to \Delta.$$

If m = 0 it is

$$[0,\epsilon) \times S^1 \to \Delta_\epsilon (x,\tau) \mapsto x\tau.$$

Lastly, if  $m \neq 0$ ,  $m \neq k$ , it is

$$[0,\epsilon) \times S^1 \times S^1 \to \Delta_\epsilon$$
$$(x,\tau,\alpha) \mapsto x\tau.$$

From Theorem 2.2.11, we can form a commutative diagram of topological spaces



with all maps surjective. For any point  $q \in \pi^{-1}(0)$  there is an open subset  $U \subseteq \widetilde{B}$  about q such that  $h^{-1}(U)$  is homeomorphic to  $\Sigma \times U$  (as fibre bundles). Let  $\Theta_1 \in H_2(\Sigma, \mathbb{Z})$  be an orientation class on  $\Sigma$ . Then, for any  $p \in U$  over  $t \in \Delta$  sufficiently close to 0, we have

$$(F_t \circ \Gamma_p)_* \Theta_1 = \hat{\phi}_t ((F_0 \circ \Gamma_q)_* \Theta_1) \in H_2(\mathcal{X}_t, \mathbb{Z}),$$

by homotopy invariance. It suffices to show that

$$(F_t \circ \Gamma_p)_* \Theta_1 = \pm F_{*,t} \mathcal{D}_t$$

for any  $t \in \Delta$  (including t = 0) and  $p \in \pi^{-1}(t)$ . Indeed, assuming the above equation, we can pick the orientation on  $\Sigma$  to ensure  $(F_0 \circ \Gamma_q)_* \Theta_1 = F_{*,0} \mathcal{D}_0$ . We claim that we now have  $(F_t \circ \Gamma_p)_* \Theta_1 = F_{*,t} \mathcal{D}_t$  for all t close to 0. Suppose there is a t with  $(F_t \circ \Gamma_p)_* \Theta_1 = -F_{*,t} \mathcal{D}_t$ . Let  $\omega$  be a Kähler form on  $\mathcal{X}_0$  and let  $\omega_t := \phi_t^{-1}(\omega)$  be the corresponding Kähler form on  $\mathcal{X}_t$ . Then  $((F_t \circ \Gamma_p)_* \Theta_1 \cdot \omega_t) = ((F_0 \circ \Gamma_q)_* \Theta_1 \cdot \omega) = (F_{*,0} \mathcal{D}_0 \cdot \omega) > 0$ , where the pairing is given by the cap product (since  $F_0$  is by assumption non-constant). For any holomorphic map  $f : C \to \mathcal{X}_t$  from a smooth, projective curve C, one has  $(f_*C \cdot \omega_t) = \int_C f^* \omega_t \ge 0$ . Thus  $(-F_{*,t}\mathcal{D}_t \cdot \omega_t) \le 0$  by definition of  $F_{*,t}\mathcal{D}_t$ , giving a contradiction.

Let  $\alpha : \widetilde{D}_t \to \mathcal{D}_t$  be the normalisation and let  $V \subseteq \mathcal{D}_t$  be the smooth locus. By definition,  $F_{*,t}\mathcal{D}_t = \widetilde{F}_{*,t}(\widetilde{D}_t)$ . Let  $R \subseteq \widetilde{D}_t$  be the reduced divisor over the nodes, defined by a section  $s \in H^0(\widetilde{D}_t, \mathcal{O}(R))$ . Define

$$\widetilde{\Sigma} \coloneqq Bl_{\mathcal{O}(R),s}(\widetilde{D}_t).$$

We have a commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{c} \widetilde{\Sigma} \longrightarrow \widetilde{D}_t \\ \mu \\ \downarrow \\ \Sigma \xrightarrow{F_t \circ \Gamma_p} \\ \mathcal{X}_t \end{array}$$

from Figure 10, [9, Pg. 152]. As is explained in [9],  $\widetilde{\Sigma}$  is an oriented manifold with boundary and  $\mu$  is obtained by glueing circles in the boundary which have *opposite* orientations. This means that if  $\Xi \in H_2(\widetilde{\Sigma}, \partial \widetilde{\Sigma}; \mathbb{Z})$  is the orientation class on the (possibly disconnected) manifold with boundary  $\widetilde{\Sigma}$ , then  $\mu_* \circ \delta(\Xi) = 0 \in H_1(\mu(\partial \widetilde{\Sigma}), \mathbb{Z})$ , where

$$\delta : H_2(\widetilde{\Sigma}, \partial \widetilde{\Sigma}; \mathbb{Z}) \to H_1(\partial \widetilde{\Sigma}; \mathbb{Z})$$

#### 2.2. MORPHISMS OF COMPLEX SPACES

is the boundary map. Thus there is an orientation class  $\Theta_1 \in H_2(\Sigma, \mathbb{Z})$  on  $\Sigma$  such that we have  $i(\Theta_1) = \mu_*(\Xi) \in H_2(\Sigma, \mu(\partial \widetilde{\Sigma}), \mathbb{Z})$ , where

$$i: H_2(\Sigma, \mathbb{Z}) \to H_2(\Sigma, \mu(\partial \widetilde{\Sigma}); \mathbb{Z})$$

is the natural inclusion, by Lemma 2.2.13. Let  $\Theta_2 \in H_2(\widetilde{D}_t, \mathbb{Z})$  denote the orientation class on the (not-necessarily connected) complex manifold  $\widetilde{D}_t$ . Since  $H_1(R, \mathbb{Z}) = 0$ , we have  $i'(\Theta_2) = \pm \nu_*(\Xi)$ , where

$$i': H_2(\widetilde{D}_t, \mathbb{Z}) \to H_2(\widetilde{D}_t, R; \mathbb{Z})$$

is the natural inclusion (here the sign depends on the choice of orientation on  $\Sigma$ ). Thus we have

$$(F_t \circ \Gamma_p)_*(i(\Theta_1)) = \pm \widetilde{F}_{t,*}(i'(\Theta_2)) \in H_2(\mathcal{X}_t, \widetilde{F}_t(R); \mathbb{Z}).$$

The natural inclusion

$$j: H_2(\mathcal{X}_t, \mathbb{Z}) \to H_2(\mathcal{X}_t, \tilde{F}_t(R); \mathbb{Z})$$

is an isomorphism since  $\dim(\tilde{F}_t(R)) = 0$ , so this completes the proof.

Remark 2.2.15. Assume that the central fibre  $\mathcal{X}_0$  is projective and  $(F_{0,*}\mathcal{D}_0)^2 > 0$ . Then the above result can also be shown in a more algebro-geometric way. Consider the coherent sheaf of  $\mathcal{O}_X$  modules  $F_*\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{D}}$ . It is easy to see that this is a flat module over the smooth curve  $\Delta$ . Indeed this is equivalent to showing that  $F_*\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{D}}$  is torsion free  $h^*\mathcal{O}_{\Delta}$  module, which follows from the fact that  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{D}}$  is flat (hence torsion free) over  $\Delta$ . Following [19, §3a], one can construct the determinant of a coherent sheaf on a complex manifold, in a similar manner to the algebraic construction of [90]. Applying  $F_*$  to the short exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{D}} \xrightarrow{t} \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{D}} \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{D}_t} \to 0$$

gives an exact sequence of coherent sheaves on  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{D}}$ 

$$0 \to (F_*\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{D}})_t \to F_*(\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{D}_t}) \xrightarrow{\psi} R^1 F_*\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{D}} \to \dots$$

Now  $Im\psi$  is a coherent sheaf supported on a zero dimensional subset of  $\mathcal{D}_t$ , so it has trivial determinant. Thus there is an isomorphism  $\det((F_*\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{D}})_t) \simeq \det F_{*,t}\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{D}_t}$  of sheaves on  $\mathcal{D}_t$ . The determinant is constructed by glueing together determinants of local free resolutions, and this gives readily that if  $\mathcal{F}$  is a coherent sheaf on  $\mathcal{X}$ , flat over  $\Delta$ , then

$$\det(\mathcal{F}_t) \simeq (\det(\mathcal{F}))_t$$

This now gives

$$c_1((\det(F_*\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{D}}))_t) = c_1(\det F_{*,t}\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{D}_t})$$

Using Ehresmann's theorem, we now see that  $\mathcal{X}$  admits a holomorphic line bundle  $\mathcal{L}$  with  $(\mathcal{L}_t)^2$  constant and equal to  $(\det F_{\star,0}\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{D}_0})^2$ . If we assume  $\mathcal{X}_0$  is projective, then, as we show

below, Grothendieck–Riemann–Roch shows that  $c_1(\det F_{*,0}\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{D}_0})$  is identified with  $F_{0,*}\mathcal{D}_0$ under Poincaré duality. Furthermore, if  $(F_{0,*}\mathcal{D}_0)^2 > 0$ , then all fibres  $\mathcal{X}_t$  must be projective (see e.g. [73, Rem. 8.1.3]), and Grothendieck–Riemann-Roch gives that  $c_1(\det F_{*,t}\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{D}_t})$  is identified with  $F_{t,*}\mathcal{D}_t$ , allowing one to conclude.

We now give the details of the GRR calculation. Let  $g: C \to Y$  be a morphism from a nodal curve to a projective K3 surface with one-dimensional image. We need to show that  $(c_1(g_*\mathcal{O}_C)\cdot\alpha) = (g_*C\cdot\alpha)$  for any  $\alpha \in \operatorname{Pic}(Y)$ . Let  $\mu : \widetilde{C} \to C$  be the normalisation of Cand  $\widetilde{g}: \widetilde{C} \to Y$  the induced morphism. Let  $C_1, \ldots, C_m$  be the connected components of  $\widetilde{C}$ and  $g_i: C_i \to Y$  the induced maps. Assume  $g_i$  has one-dimensional image for  $i \leq m'$  and zero-dimensional image for  $m' < i \leq m$ . We have  $(g_*C\cdot\alpha) = \sum_{i=1}^{m'} \deg g_i^*(\alpha)$ . There is an inclusion

$$\mathcal{O}_C \to \mu_* \mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{C}}$$

which is an isomorphism away from the nodes; after pushing forward to the surface this gives  $c_1(g_*\mathcal{O}_C) \simeq c_1(\tilde{g}_*\mathcal{O}_{\tilde{C}}) \simeq \sum_{i=1}^{m'} c_1(g_{i,*}\mathcal{O}_{C_i})$ . It thus suffices to consider the case that C is smooth and connected with one-dimensional image. In this situation, GRR applies and gives

$$c_{1}(g_{*}\mathcal{O}_{C}) \cdot \alpha = [ch(g_{*}\mathcal{O}_{C})td(Y)]_{1} \cdot \alpha$$
$$= [g_{*}(ch\mathcal{O}_{C}td(C))]_{1} \cdot \alpha$$
$$= g_{*}(ch\mathcal{O}_{C}td(C)) \cdot \alpha$$
$$= ch\mathcal{O}_{C}td(C) \cdot g^{*}\alpha$$
$$= \deg g^{*}\alpha,$$

where the second last line follows from the projection formula.

We can now prove the main result of this section.

**Theorem 2.2.16.** Every component of the Deligne–Mumford stack  $\mathcal{W}_{g,k}^n$  has dimension at least 19 + p(g,k) - n.

*Proof.* Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be an étale atlas for  $\mathcal{W}_{g,k}^n$ . This is a scheme of finite type over  $\mathbb{C}$ , since  $\mathcal{W}_{g,k}^n \to \mathcal{B}_g$  is proper, so it suffices to show that, for any closed point  $* \in \mathcal{A}$  corresponding to a stable map  $f: D \to X$  we have

$$\dim \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{A},*} \ge 19 + p(D),$$

where  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{A},*}$  denotes the completion. Let  $\mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{B}_g$  be an étale atlas, this comes with a universal family  $h_p : \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{B}$  of polarised K3 surfaces together with a closed immersion  $\mathcal{X} \to \mathbb{P}^N_{\mathcal{B}}$  for some integer N. Consider the universal family,



#### 2.2. MORPHISMS OF COMPLEX SPACES

corresponding to  $\mathcal{W}_{g,k}^n(\mathcal{A})$ . Restricting to the completion  $\hat{\mathcal{A}}_*$  gives a *formal* semiuniversal deformation  $\hat{a}$  of f for the functor  $\operatorname{Def}_{h_p}(D, f, X)$  restricted to formal complex spaces. Semiuniversal deformations (either formal or local) are unique up to non-canonical isomorphisms, cf. [61, Lem II.1.12]. Thus it suffices to show that there exists a semiuniversal element b of the functor  $\operatorname{Def}_{h_p}(D, f, X)$  such that the base of b has dimension at least 19 + p(D). Let  $h : \widetilde{\mathcal{X}} \to \operatorname{Def}(X)$  be the universal deformation of the K3 surface X, see [73, §6.2]. The complex space  $\mathcal{B}$  is smooth of dimension 19, [125, Pg. 150-151]. Further, we have a closed immersion of germs about \*

$$j : \mathcal{B} \hookrightarrow \mathrm{Def}(X),$$

see [73, Ch. 6.2]. Choose any semiuniversal deformation of  $c \in \text{Def}(D, f, X)(S)$ . By Proposition 2.2.6,

$$\dim(S, \star) \ge 19 + p(D).$$

If c corresponds to the diagram,



let

$$\pi: \mathcal{S} \to \mathrm{Def}(X)$$

be the morphism of germs given by the universal property of Def(X). From Lemma 2.2.7,  $\pi$  allows us to consider c as a semiuniversal deformation of  $\text{Def}_h(D, f, X)$ . By Lemma 2.2.8,  $b \coloneqq pr_1^*c \in \text{Def}_{h_p}(D, f, X)(S \times_{\text{Def}(X)} \mathcal{B})$  provides a semiuniversal deformation for the functor  $\text{Def}_{h_p}(D, f, X)$ .

We need to show that  $\dim S \times_{\operatorname{Def}(X)} \mathcal{B} = \dim(S, *)$ . It suffices to show that (locally about \*), we have the inclusion of sets

$$\pi(S) \subseteq \mathcal{B}.$$

By replacing the germ representative S with its reduction  $S_{red}$  and base-changing, it suffices to assume S reduced. It further suffices to show

$$\pi(S^{sm}) \subseteq \mathcal{B},$$

where  $S^{sm}$  is the smooth locus, since  $S^{sm}$  is open and dense and  $\mathcal{B} \subseteq \text{Def}(X)$  is closed. Replacing S with a small open subset about \*, we may assume S has only finitely many components, and then for each component  $S_i$  it suffices to show

$$\pi(S_i^{sm}) \subseteq \mathcal{B},$$

where  $S_i^{sm}$  is the smooth locus. Thus we may assume S is irreducible.

Let  $z: \Delta \to S$  be as in Lemma 2.2.10, with  $\Delta(0) = *$ , and consider the pull-back family



Proposition 2.2.14 now shows that  $\pi(z(\Delta)) \subseteq \mathcal{B}$ , since the proposition shows that the 1-1 classes  $F_{2,t*}(\mathcal{D}_{2,t})$  on  $\mathcal{X}_{2,t}$  deform to  $f_*(D)$  for  $t \in \Delta$  near the origin. Since the set  $z(\Delta)$  contains a smooth point of S, and the smooth locus of the irreducible complex space S is connected, applying Proposition 2.2.14 again shows  $\pi(S^{sm}) \subseteq \mathcal{B}$  as required.

Let  $\mathcal{X} \to S$  be a smooth, projective family of K3 surfaces over a smooth and connected algebraic variety S with a point  $0 \in S$ , and let  $\mathcal{L}$  be an S-flat, ample line bundle on  $\mathcal{X}$ . Further, let  $\mathcal{M}$  be any effective S-flat line bundle on  $\mathcal{X}$ , such that  $(\mathcal{M}_t)^2 \ge 2$  for each  $t \in S$ . The theorem above can be generalised to the Deligne–Mumford stacks  $\mathcal{W}(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{M}, p)$ . Recall the construction of the *twistor-family*, [23, §3]. Let  $\Lambda_{K3}$  denote the K3 lattice, and consider the period domain

$$\mathcal{D} = \{ x \in \mathbb{P}(\Lambda_{K3} \otimes \mathbb{C}) : (x \cdot \bar{x}) > 0, (x)^2 = 0 \}.$$

Now, let (X, L) be a marked, polarised K3 surface, and let  $\Omega \in \mathcal{D}$  denote the corresponding period point, in other words the point corresponding to the one-dimensional vector space  $h^{0,2}(X)$  under the marking  $H^2(X, \mathbb{Z}) \hookrightarrow \Lambda_{K3}$ . Consider the plane

$$V_{\Omega,c_1(L)} \simeq \mathbb{P}^2 \subseteq \mathbb{P}(\Lambda_{K3} \otimes \mathbb{C})$$

defined by the span of  $\{\Omega, \overline{\Omega}, c_1(L)\} \subseteq \Lambda_{K3} \otimes \mathbb{C}$ . The intersection of  $V_{\Omega, c_1(L)}$  with  $\mathcal{D}$  is the smooth, projective, plane quadric

$$T_{\Omega,c_1(L)} = \{ (x)^2 = 0 \mid x \in V_{\Omega,c_1(L)} \}$$

called the twistor family. The twistor family has the following key property:

**Proposition 2.2.17** ( [23], Prop. 3.1). Let M be an effective divisor on X. Let Y,  $\phi : H^2(Y,\mathbb{Z}) \simeq \Lambda_{K3}$  be a marked K3 surface corresponding to a point  $y \in T_{\Omega,c_1(L)}$ . Then  $\phi^{-1}(c_1(M))$  lies in  $H^{1,1}(Y,\mathbb{Z})$  if and only if  $y \in \{\Omega,\overline{\Omega}\}$ , i.e. if and only if Y is either the marked K3 surface X or its complex conjugate. Further, if  $(M)^2 \ge -2$ , then  $\phi^{-1}(c_1(M))$  is an effective 1-1 class if and only if Y is the marked K3 surface X.

Treat S as a complex manifold. Let  $Def(\mathcal{X}_0)$  be the Kodaira–Spencer space of deformations of  $\mathcal{X}_0$ . By the local Torelli theorem we have a local isomorphism

$$\operatorname{Def}(\mathcal{X}_0) \to \mathcal{D}.$$

After replacing S with an (analytic) open set about 0, let

$$\rho: S \to \mathcal{D} \subseteq \mathbb{P}(\Lambda_{K3} \otimes \mathbb{C}),$$

be the period map, see [73, Ch. 6.2]. Shrinking S about 0 if necessary, the image of  $\rho$  lies in the hypersurface

$$\mathcal{D} \cap \mathbb{P}(l^{\perp}) \subseteq \mathbb{P}(\Lambda_{K3} \otimes \mathbb{C}),$$

where  $l = c_1(\mathcal{L}_0) \in H^2(\mathcal{X}_0, \mathbb{C}) \simeq \Lambda_{K3} \otimes \mathbb{C}$ . If  $(l)^2 = 2g-2$ , then we denote by  $\mathcal{H}_g$  a small open set  $\mathcal{D} \cap \mathbb{P}(l^{\perp})$  about  $\rho(0)$ ;  $\mathcal{H}_g$  is smooth and connected of dimension 19. Now let  $\widetilde{\mathcal{H}} \subseteq \mathcal{D}$  be the holomorphic  $\mathbb{P}^1$  bundle over  $\mathcal{H}$  given by the union of twistor spaces

$$\bigcup_{\Omega \in \mathcal{H}_g} T_{\Omega,l}.$$

At least locally about 0, we construct a  $\mathbb{P}^1$  bundle  $\pi: \widetilde{S} \to S$  and a morphism of  $\mathbb{P}^1$  bundles

$$\tilde{\rho} : \widetilde{S} \to \widetilde{\mathcal{H}} \subseteq \mathcal{D}$$

together with a section  $s: S \to \widetilde{S}$ , with  $\tilde{\rho} \circ s = \rho$ . We denote by  $\widetilde{X} \to \widetilde{S}$  the pull back of the universal family of K3 surfaces under  $\tilde{\rho}$ .

**Theorem 2.2.18.** Let  $h : \mathcal{X} \to S$  be a smooth, projective family of K3 surfaces over a smooth and connected algebraic variety S. Let  $\mathcal{M}$  be any effective S-flat line bundle on  $\mathcal{X}$ , such that  $(\mathcal{M}_t)^2 \geq -2$  for each closed point  $t \in S$ . Then each component of  $\mathcal{W}(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{M}, p)$  has dimension at least dim(S) + p.

Proof. This is similar to Theorem 2.2.16. Let  $0 \in S$  be a point and  $f: D \to X$  be a closed point of  $\mathcal{W}(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{M}, p)$  over 0. Let  $\tilde{h}: \tilde{X} \to \tilde{S}$  be the universal family of K3 surfaces over the twistor family  $\tilde{S}$  as above. Let a be a semiuniversal deformation of  $\text{Def}_h(D, f, X)$ ; we have to show that the base of a has dimension at least  $\dim(S) + p$ . From Proposition 2.2.17 and the argument of Theorem 2.2.16, this reduces to showing that if b is a semiuniversal deformation of  $\text{Def}_{\tilde{h}}(D, f, X)$ , then the base of b has dimension at least  $\dim(S) + p =$  $\dim \tilde{S} + p - 1$ . This is Proposition 2.2.6 together with Proposition 2.2.9.

*Remark* 2.2.19. For an alternative proof of this theorem see [96, Thm. 2.4, Rem. 3.1]. This approach makes use of Bloch's semiregularity map, [20], [103].

# 2.3 Deformation theory for an unramified map

We now restrict ourselves to the case of unramified stable maps. This makes the deformation theory much simpler to handle. Let  $f: D \to S$  be a stable map from a connected nodal curve to a smooth projective surface. If we assume that f is *unramified*, then the natural morphism

$$f^*\Omega_S \to \Omega_D$$

of sheaves of differentials is surjective. We may thus define a normal bundle  $N_f \in \text{Pic}(D)$ as the dual of the line bundle  $N_f^*$  defined via the exact sequence

$$0 \to N_f^* \to f^* \Omega_S \to \Omega_D \to 0.$$

As in [125, §3.2], one may define a deformation functor describing those deformation of the stable map f which *leave the target* S *fixed*. If we let Def(f, S) be the vector space of deformations of f which leave S fixed, we have

$$\operatorname{Def}(f,S) = h^0(D,N_f)$$

and a space of obstructions is given by

$$\operatorname{Obst}(f,S) = h^1(D,N_f).$$

The following fact from  $[59, \S2.1]$  will prove to be useful:

**Proposition 2.3.1.** Let  $f : D \to X$  be an unramified morphism from a connected nodal curve to a projective K3 surface and let  $B \subseteq D$  be a connected union of components. If we let  $f_B := f_{|_B}$ , then

$$N_{f_B}(Y) \simeq (N_f)_{|_B}$$

where  $Y = B \cap \overline{D \setminus B}$ .

*Proof.* The second exact sequence for Kähler differentials gives a surjection  $(\Omega_D)_{|_B} \to \Omega_B \to 0$  which is an isomorphism outside Y. Thus we have a short exact sequence on B

$$0 \to T \to (\Omega_D)_{|_B} \to \Omega_B \to 0 \tag{2.6}$$

where T is a torsion sheaf, supported on Y. We claim that  $T \simeq \mathcal{O}_Y$ . Let  $p \in Y$  be a closed point. It suffices to show that the stalk  $T_p$  is isomorphic to the sky-scraper sheaf  $\mathcal{O}_p$ . Since  $\mathcal{O}_B \to \hat{\mathcal{O}}_B$  is flat, where  $\hat{\mathcal{O}}_B$  denotes the completion, and D is nodal, it suffices to consider the case where D is the affine plane curve defined by  $xy = 0, B \subseteq D$  is the curve x = 0 and p is the origin. But in this case Equation 2.6 boils down to the following exact sequence of A = k[y] modules

$$0 \to A < dx > / y dx \to A < dx, dy > / y dx \to A < dy > \to 0.$$

Since A < dx > /ydx is isomorphic to the A-module k, this proves the claim.

Next, f is an unramified, hence stable, map to a projective variety, and so  $\omega_D \otimes f^*(\mathcal{O}_X(3))$  is ample. Thus we have a closed immersion  $D \hookrightarrow \mathbb{P}^k$  for some k. Since D is a reduced local complete intersection curve, we have a short exact sequence

$$0 \to N_{D/\mathbb{P}^{k}}^{*} \to (\Omega_{\mathbb{P}^{k}})|_{D} \to \Omega_{D} \to 0,$$

where  $N_{D/\mathbb{P}^k}^*$  is locally free. Thus  $(\Omega_D)_{|_B}$  admits a locally free resolution and so the line bundle det $(\Omega_D)_{|_B}$  is defined. Likewise, det $\Omega_B$  is a well-defined line bundle. We have a short exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathcal{O}_B(-Y) \to \mathcal{O}_B \to T \to 0,$$

so det  $T \simeq \mathcal{O}_B(Y)$  and Equation 2.6 gives

$$\det(\Omega_D)_{|_B} \simeq \det \Omega_B(Y).$$

The result now follows from taking determinants of the short exact sequences

$$0 \to (N_f^*)_{|_B} \to (f^*\Omega_X)_{|_B} \to (\Omega_D)_{|_B} \to 0$$

and

$$0 \to N_{f_B}^* \to f_B^* \Omega_X \to \Omega_B \to 0.$$

**Proposition 2.3.2.** Let  $[(f: D \to X, L)] \in \mathcal{W}_{g,k}^n$  represent an unramified stable map such that  $h^0(N_f) \leq p(D)$ , where p(D) = p(g,k) - n denotes the arithmetic genus of D. Then for every irreducible component  $J \subseteq \mathcal{W}_{g,k}^n$  containing  $[(f: D \to X, L)]$  the projection  $\pi: J \to \mathcal{B}_g$  is dominant.

Proof. We have seen that dim  $J \ge p(D) + 19$  in Theorem 2.2.16. The fibre  $\pi^{-1}([(X, L)])$  may be identified with the space of stable maps into the *fixed* surface X, and thus each component of  $\pi^{-1}([(X, L)])$  containing  $[(f : D \to X, L)]$  has dimension at most  $h^0(N_f) \le p(D)$ , [59, §2.1]. Thus dim  $\pi(J) = \dim \mathcal{B}_g$ , so  $\pi : J \to \mathcal{B}_g$  is dominant (note that this also forces the equality  $h^0(N_f) = p(D)$ ).

By using Theorem 2.2.18, one has the following, slightly different version of the above lemma. The proof is identical.

**Proposition 2.3.3.** Let S be a smooth and connected algebraic variety over  $\mathbb{C}$ . Let  $\mathcal{X} \to S$  be a projective, flat family of K3 surfaces. Let  $\mathcal{M}$  be an effective S-flat line bundle, with  $(\mathcal{M}_t)^2 \geq -2$  for any  $t \in S$ . Let  $[f: D \to \mathcal{X}_s] \in \mathcal{W}(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{M}, p)$  represent an unramified stable map such that  $h^0(N_f) \leq p$ . Then the projection  $\pi: \mathcal{W}(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{M}, p) \to S$  is dominant near  $[f: D \to \mathcal{X}_s]$ . Further, dim  $_f \mathcal{W}(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{L}, p) = p + \dim S$ .

The following is a generalisation of [78, Prop. 2.3].  $^4$ 

**Lemma 2.3.4.** Let  $f: D \to X$  be an unramified morphism from a connected nodal curve to a K3 surface, and let  $N_f$  denote the normal bundle of f. Assume that the irreducible components  $Z_1, \ldots, Z_s$  of D are smooth. Assume further that we may label the components such that  $\bigcup_{i=1}^{j} Z_i$  is connected for all  $j \leq s$ . Then  $h^0(N_f) \leq p(D)$ , where p(D) denotes the arithmetic genus of D.

*Proof.* We will prove this by induction on s. If D is irreducible, then by assumption D is smooth, so we have a short exact sequence of vector bundles

$$0 \to T_D \to f^*T_X \to N_f \to 0$$

and taking determinants gives  $N_f \simeq \omega_D$ . Thus  $h^0(N_f) = h^0(\omega_D) = p(D)$ . Now let  $T := \overline{D \setminus Z_s} = \bigcup_{i=1}^{s-1} Z_i$ ; this is connected by assumption. Let  $\{p_1, \ldots, p_r\} = Z_s \cap T$ . We have a short exact sequence

$$0 \to N_{f|_T}(-p_1 - \ldots - p_r) \to N_f \to N_{f|_{Z_e}} \to 0.$$

If  $B \subseteq D$  is a connected union of components, and  $f_B \coloneqq f_{|_B}$ ,  $Y \coloneqq B \cap (\overline{D \setminus B})$ , then  $N_{f_B}(Y) = N_{f_{|_B}}$  from Proposition 2.3.1. Thus

$$h^{0}(N_{f}) \leq h^{0}(N_{f_{T}}) + h^{0}(\omega_{Z_{s}}(p_{1} + \ldots + p_{r})).$$

By induction,  $h^0(N_{f_T}) \leq p(T)$ , and further  $h^1(\omega_{Z_s}(p_1 + \ldots + p_r)) = h^0(\mathcal{O}_{Z_s}(-p_1 \ldots - p_r)) = 0$ , so Riemann–Roch gives  $h^0(\omega_{Z_s}(p_1 + \ldots + p_r)) = p(Z_s) + r - 1$ . Thus the claim follows from  $p(B) = p(T) + p(Z_s) + r - 1$ .

Remark 2.3.5. It follows from the proof that the above result may be generalised as follows. Suppose  $f: D \to X$  be an unramified morphism from a connected nodal curve to a K3 surface, and  $D = \bigcup_{i=1}^{s} Z_i$  where  $Z_1$  is connected, but not necessarily irreducible or smooth, and with  $Z_2, \ldots, Z_s$  smooth (and with s > 1). Assume  $\bigcup_{i=1}^{j} Z_i$  is connected for all  $j \leq s$ , and  $h^0(N_{f_1}) \leq p(Z_1)$ , where  $f_1 \coloneqq f_{|Z_1|}$ . Then  $h^0(N_f) \leq p(D)$ .

**Definition 2.3.6.** We define  $\mathcal{T}_{g,k}^n \subseteq \mathcal{W}_{g,k}^n$  to be the open substack parametrising stable maps  $f: D \to X$  such that D is integral and smooth and f is unramified and birational onto its image.

We now need the following result on simultaneous normalisation of families of singular curves, which in this generality is usually attributed to Raynaud, generalising the results of Teissier, [132]. For modern treatments and further generalisations, see [29], [95, Thm. 12].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>There is a minor mistake in the proof of [78, Prop. 2.3]; the claimed isomorphism  $\Omega_{D_{|_{D_n}}} \simeq \mathcal{O}(-1)$  should be replaced with  $det(\Omega_{D_{|_{D_n}}}) \simeq \mathcal{O}(-1)$ , as the sheaf  $\Omega_{D_{|_{D_n}}}$  is not torsion free.

**Proposition 2.3.7** (Teissier, Raynaud). Let B be a normal, integral scheme of finite-type over  $\mathbb{C}$ , and let

$$f: \mathcal{C}_1 \to B$$

be a projective, flat family of relative dimension one with reduced fibres. Then there exists a simultaneous resolution, i.e. a flat family  $g: C_2 \to B$  of relative dimension one with normal fibres, together with a finite map  $h: C_2 \to C_1$  such that  $f \circ h = g$  and the restriction morphism

$$h_b: \mathcal{C}_{2,b} \to \mathcal{C}_{1,b}$$

is the normalisation map for each fibre over  $b \in B$ .

**Lemma 2.3.8.** Let  $f: D \to X$  be an unramified morphism from an integral, nodal curve D to a K3 surface, with  $[(f: D \to X, L)] \in \mathcal{W}_{g,k}^n$  and assume that f is birational onto its image. Then  $[(f: D \to X, L)]$  lies in the closure of  $\mathcal{T}_{a,k}^n$ .

Proof. Suppose there was a component of J of  $\mathcal{W}_{g,k}^n$  containing  $[(f: D \to X, L)]$  such that if  $[(f': D' \to X', L')]$  is general, then D' is nodal with at least m > 0 nodes. Replace Jwith the dense open subset parametrizing unramified maps, which are birational onto the image and such that the base D' is integral with exactly m nodes. Composing f' with the normalization  $\widetilde{D} \to D'$  gives an unramified stable map  $h: \widetilde{D} \to X'$ ; thus we have a map  $G: J(\mathbb{C}) \to \mathcal{T}_{g,k}^{n+m}(\mathbb{C})$  between the sets of closed points of the respective stacks. The fact that f is birational onto its image implies that for a general  $y \in Im(G), G^{-1}(y)$  is a finite set. Indeed, if y corresponds to the stable map  $h: \widetilde{D} \to X'$ , then any element of  $G^{-1}(y)$ corresponds to an unramified stable map  $h': B \to X'$ , birational onto its image, where Bis integral and has exactly m nodes and the normalization of B is  $\widetilde{D}$ . Further, if  $\mu: \widetilde{D} \to B$ is the normalization morphism, then  $h' \circ \mu = h$ , by definition of G. As h' is birational onto its image, the set

$$Z := \{z \in \widetilde{D} \mid \text{There exists } y \neq z \in \widetilde{D} \text{ with } h(z) = h(y) \}$$

is finite. Since h' is obtained from h by glueing m pairs of points in Z, there are only finitely many possibilities for h'.

We claim that, at least after a finite base change, G is locally induced by a morphism of stacks. After replacing J with an etale cover, we may assume it comes with a universal family. Let  $J' \to J$  be the normalization of J. Pulling back the universal family on Jgives a family of stable maps over J'. In particular, we have a flat family  $\mathcal{D} \to J'$  of nodal curves with exactly m nodes specializing to D'. Applying Proposition 2.3.7, we may simultaneously resolve the m nodes of the fibres of  $\mathcal{D}$  to produce a family  $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}} \to J'$ of *smooth* curves, together with a morphism  $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}} \to \mathcal{D}$  restricting to the normalization over each point in J'. By composing with the universal family of stable maps  $\mathcal{D} \to \mathcal{X}$ , where  $\mathcal{X}$  is a family of K3 surfaces, we produce a family of stable maps  $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}} \to \mathcal{X}$  over J'. By the universal property of  $\mathcal{T}_{g,k}^{n+m}$ , this produces a morphism of Deligne–Mumford stacks  $J' \to \mathcal{T}_{g,k}^{n+m}$  which coincides with the composition G' of G with  $J' \to J$  on the level of closed points. As this morphism is generically finite onto its image, the dimension of  $\mathcal{T}_{g,k}^{n+m}$  is at least dim  $J' = \dim J \ge p(D) + 19$ . But  $\mathcal{T}_{g,k}^{n+m}$  is smooth of dimension p(D) - m + 19, so this is a contradiction.

**Proposition 2.3.9.** Let  $[(f : D \to X, L)] \in W_{g,k}^n$  represent an unramified stable map such that  $h^0(N_f) \leq p(D)$ , where p(D) = p(g,k) - n. Assume furthermore that there is no decomposition

$$D = \bigcup_{i=1}^{t} D_i$$

for t > 1 with each  $D_i$  a connected union of irreducible components of D such that  $D_i$  and  $D_j$  meet transversally (if at all) for all  $i \neq j$  and such that for all  $1 \leq i \leq t$ ,  $f_*(D_i) \in |m_iL|$  for a positive integer  $m_i > 0$  (this is automatic if k = 1). Lastly, assume that there is some component  $D_j$  such that  $f_{|D_j|}$  is birational onto its image, and if  $D_i \neq D_j$  is any component,  $f(D_i)$  and  $f(D_j)$  intersect properly. Then  $[(f: D \to X, L)]$  lies in the closure of  $\mathcal{T}^n_{ak}$ .

*Proof.* We need to show that we may deform  $[(f : D \to X, L)]$  to an unramified stable map  $[(f' : D' \to X', L')]$  with D' irreducible and smooth. We will firstly show that  $[(f : D \to X, L)]$  deforms to a stable map with irreducible base.

From Proposition 2.3.2,  $\pi: \mathcal{W}_{g,k}^n \to \mathcal{B}_g$  is dominant near  $[(f: D \to X, L)]$ . Thus we may deform  $[(f: D \to X, L)]$  to an unramified stable map  $[(f': D' \to X', L')]$ , where  $\operatorname{Pic}(X') \simeq \mathbb{Z}L'$ . For any irreducible component  $Z \subseteq D'$ ,  $f'_*(Z) \in [a_iL']$  for some integer  $a_i > 0$ . Given any one-parameter family  $\gamma(t) = [(f_t: D_t \to X_t, L_t)]$  of stable maps with  $\gamma(0) = [(f: D \to X, L)]$ , then, by the Zariski connectedness theorem, after performing a finite base change about 0 if necessary the irreducible components of  $D_t$  for generic t deform to a connected union of irreducible components of D as  $t \to 0$  (see [128, Tag 0551] and [101, Cor. 8.3.6]). Thus the condition on D ensures that  $[(f: D \to X, L)]$  deforms to an unramified stable map of the form  $[(f': D' \to X', L')]$  with D' integral and nodal.

We will next show that  $[(f: D \to X, L)]$  deforms to an unramified stable map of the form  $[(f': D' \to X', L')]$  with D' integral and nodal and such that f' is birational onto its image. By Lemma 2.3.8, this will complete the proof. Let S be a smooth, irreducible, one-dimensional scheme with base point 0, and suppose we have a diagram



with  $\tilde{g}$  proper,  $\pi_1$ ,  $\pi_2$  flat and with  $\tilde{g}_s : \mathcal{D}_s \to \mathcal{X}_s$  an unramified stable map to a K3 surface for all s, with  $\tilde{g}_0 = f$  and such that  $\mathcal{D}_s$  is integral for  $s \neq 0$ . By Proposition 2.1.10 there is an S-flat line bundle  $\mathcal{L}$  on  $\mathcal{X}$ , with  $\mathcal{L}_0 = kL$  and that the cycle  $\tilde{g}_*(\mathcal{D}) \sim \mathcal{L}$  is a relatively effective (Cartier) divisor. So the cycle  $\tilde{g}_*(\mathcal{D})$  may be considered as an *S*-relatively effective divisor  $\overline{\mathcal{D}} \subseteq \mathcal{X}$ . By the assumptions on  $f = \tilde{g}_0$ , the irreducible surface  $\overline{\mathcal{D}}$  is reduced on a dense open subset meeting  $f(D_j)$ , which forces  $\tilde{g}_s$  to be birational for *s* near 0 (as if deg $(\tilde{g}_s) = d$ ,  $\overline{\mathcal{D}}_s = d\tilde{g}_s(\mathcal{D}_s)$ ).

# Chapter 3

# Constructing elliptic K3 surfaces

The goal of this chapter is to offer two different ways to construct elliptic K3 surfaces with many special properties. These special surfaces can then be used in deformation arguments to gain insight on the properties of singular curves on general K3 surfaces. We start with the following definition from [105]:

**Definition 3.0.10.** A minimal elliptic surface over  $\mathbb{P}^1$  is an integral smooth surface S together with a surjective morphism  $\pi: S \to \mathbb{P}^1$  such that:

- 1. The general fibre of  $\pi$  is an elliptic curve.
- 2. There are no (-1) curves in the fibres of  $\pi$ . If in addition  $\pi$  has a section  $s : \mathbb{P}^1 \to S$ , then we call S a minimal elliptic surface over  $\mathbb{P}^1$  with section. If  $\pi$  defines a minimal elliptic surface over  $\mathbb{P}^1$  with section, and we further have that all fibres of  $\pi$  are integral, then  $\pi$  is called a Weierstrass fibration over  $\mathbb{P}^1$ .

We will be mostly interested in the case S is a K3 surface. In this case the word "minimal" is vacuous, so we will simply use the term *elliptic K3 surface* to denote a minimal elliptic surface S over  $\mathbb{P}^1$  such that S is a K3 surface.

In this chapter we discuss the two main techniques to construct elliptic K3 surfaces. In Section 3.1 we describe how the Weierstrass equation can be used to very explicitly construct such surfaces. We will give several interesting examples of this construction. In Section 3.2 we will use the Torelli theorem for K3 surfaces to show that many elliptic K3 surfaces exist with prescribed Picard groups. In contrast to the first approach, this only gives an implicit construction of elliptic K3 surfaces. In practice, however, one is nevertheless able to extract much geometric information out of the Torelli procedure.

## 3.1 Constructions via the Weierstrass equation

We start by reminding the reader of some elementary classical theory on elliptic curves. Any integral curve over  $\mathbb{C}$  of arithmetic genus one can be realised as a plane cubic. After a coordinate change, this plane cubic can be put in the form

$$y^2z = x^3 + axz^2 + bz^3$$

for  $a, b \in \mathbb{C}$ . This is the Weierstrass equation. The corresponding elliptic curve is singular if and only if  $\Delta := -16(4a^3 + 27b^2)$  vanishes.

If we replace the constants  $a, b \in \mathbb{C}$  with polynomials  $a(t), b(t) \in \mathbb{C}[t]$ , then we obtain a two-dimensional variety  $S_0 \subseteq \mathbb{P}^2 \times \mathbb{A}^1$ , together with a projection  $\pi : S_0 \to \mathbb{A}^1$ . The point [x, y, z] = (0, 1, 0) defines a section to  $\pi$ . The fibre of  $\pi$  over  $t = t_0$  is a plane cubic curve, and it is singular if and only if  $\Delta(t_0) = -16(4a^3(t_0) + 27b^3(t_0)) = 0$ .

Following [104], one can globalise the above equation to construct elliptic surfaces with a Weierstrass fibration. Let  $L := \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(N)$  for N > 0, let  $(A, B) \in H^0(L^4) \times H^0(L^6)$  be pairs of sections and assume that

$$\Delta(A,B) \coloneqq -16(4A^3 + 27B^2) \in H^0(L^{12})$$

is not the zero section. Consider the closed subscheme  $S_{A,B}$  of  $\mathbb{P} := \mathbb{P}(L^2 \oplus L^3 \oplus \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1})$ defined by  $y^2 z = x^3 + Axz^2 + Bz^3$ , where (x, y, z) is a global coordinate system of  $\mathbb{P}$  relative to  $(L^2, L^3, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1})$ . If we assume that S is smooth, then the third projection  $\pi : S \to \mathbb{P}^1$  defines a Weierstrass fibration. Any Weierstrass fibration of a smooth elliptic surface comes from the above construction. Finally, S is a K3 surface if and only if N = 2.

Let  $(A, B) \in H^0(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(8)) \times H^0(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(12))$  such that  $\Delta(A, B)$  is not the zero section. We now describe explicitly the local equations for  $S_{A,B}$ . Let  $U_0, U_1$  be two copies of  $\mathbb{A}^1$  and set  $W_0 = U_0 \times \mathbb{P}^2$ ,  $W_1 = U_1 \times \mathbb{P}^2$ . Then  $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(4) \oplus \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(6) \oplus \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1})$  is obtained from  $W_0 \sqcup W_1$ by identifying  $(u_0, [x_0, y_0, z_0])$  with  $(u_1, [x_1, y_1, z_1])$  if and only if  $u_0 \neq 0$  and

$$u_1 = \frac{1}{u_0}, \ x_1 = \frac{x_0}{u_0^4}, \ y_1 = \frac{y_0}{u_0^6}, \ z_1 = z_0.$$

The global sections A resp. B correspond to pairs of polynomial functions  $(A_0, A_1)$ ,  $(B_0, B_1)$  of degree 8 resp. 12

$$A_i : U_i \to \mathbb{A}^1, \quad B_i : U_i \to \mathbb{A}^1, \text{ for } i = 0, 1$$

such that  $A_1(u) = u^8 A_0(\frac{1}{u})$  and  $B_1(u) = u^{12} B_0(\frac{1}{u})$ . The variety  $S_{A,B}$  is then given by the equations

$$y_i^2 z_i = x_i^3 + A_i(u_i)x_i z_i^2 + B_i(u_i)z_i^3$$

on  $W_i$  for i = 0, 1.

**Example 1** ([86], Prop. 7.1). Let  $a_1, \ldots, a_{12} \in \mathbb{C}$  be pairwise distinct. Set

$$A = 0 \in H^0(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(8)), \quad B = \prod_{i=1}^{12} (u_0 - a_i u_1) \in H^0(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(12)).$$

Denote the scheme  $S_{A,B}$  by  $X_{(a_i),0}$ . Then the Jacobian criterion applied to the local description above gives that  $X_{(a_i),0}$  is a smooth K3 surface. The fibration  $X_{(a_i),0} \to \mathbb{P}^1$  has 12 singular fibres, which occur over the points  $[a_i:1] \in \mathbb{P}^1$ . Each singular fibre is a rational curve with one cusp and no other singularity.

Even in the case where  $(A, B) \in H^0(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(8)) \times H^0(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(12))$  do not define a smooth surface  $S_{A,B}$ , we may often produce a smooth elliptic K3 surface by desingularisation. For  $p \in \mathbb{P}^1$ , let  $\nu_p(A)$  resp.  $\nu_p(B)$  be the order of vanishing of A resp. B at p. We have the following, again from [105]:

**Proposition 3.1.1.** Let  $(A, B) \in H^0(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(8)) \times H^0(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(12))$  be such that  $\Delta(A, B)$  is not the zero section. Assume that for any  $p \in \mathbb{P}^1$  either  $\nu_p(A) \leq 3$  or  $\nu_p(B) \leq 5$  (or that both conditions hold). Then  $S_{A,B}$  defines a surface with at worst rational double point singularities. The minimal desingularisation is an elliptic K3 surface  $\widetilde{S}_{A,B} \to \mathbb{P}^1$  with section.

Note that we did *not* claim that  $\widetilde{S}_{A,B} \to \mathbb{P}^1$  is a Weierstrass fibration. This is in general not the case. There is however, a characterisation of the singular fibres F of  $\widetilde{S}_{A,B}$  over  $p \in \mathbb{P}^1$  in terms of the singularities of  $S_{A,B}$  over  $p \in \mathbb{P}^1$ , due to Kodaira, [92], [93]. The information is tabulated below, where  $\chi(F)$  denotes the Euler number of F.

Kodaira type of $F$	Description of $F$	$\chi(F)$	Singularity Type of $S_{A,B}$
$I_0$	smooth elliptic curve	0	none
$I_1$	irreducible, nodal rational	1	none
	curve		
$I_N, N \ge 2$	cycle of $N$ smooth rational	N	$A_{N-1}$
	curves, meeting transversally		
$I_N^*, N \ge 0$	N + 5 smooth rational curves	N+6	$D_{N+4}$
	meeting with dual graph		
	$D_{N+4}$		
II	a cuspidal rational curve	2	none
III	two smooth rational curves	3	$A_1$
	meeting at a point of order		
	two		
IV	three smooth rational curves	4	$A_2$
	meeting at a point		
$IV^*$	seven smooth rational curves	8	$E_6$
	meeting with dual graph $\tilde{E}_6$		
III*	eight smooth rational curves	9	$E_7$
	meeting with dual graph $\tilde{E}_7$		
$II^*$	nine smooth rational curves	10	$E_8$
	meeting with dual graph $\tilde{E}_8$		

The following proposition is an easy application of Kodaira's classification of the singular fibres of  $\widetilde{S}_{A,B}$ .

**Proposition 3.1.2.** Let  $(A, B) \in H^0(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(8)) \times H^0(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(12))$  be such that  $\Delta(A, B)$  is not the zero section. Assume that for any  $p \in \mathbb{P}^1$  either  $\nu_p(A) \leq 3$  or  $\nu_p(B) \leq 5$  (or that both conditions hold). Assume further that  $\Delta(A, B) \in H^0(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(24))$  has 24 distinct roots. Then  $S_{A,B} \to \mathbb{P}^1$  is smooth and all singular fibres are integral, rational curves with one node and no other singularities.

Proof. As  $\Delta(A, B)$  has 24 distinct roots,  $\widetilde{S}_{A,B}$  has 24 singular fibres  $F_1, \ldots, F_{24}$ . Since  $24 = \chi(\widetilde{S}_{A,B}) = \sum_{i=1}^{24} \chi(F_i)$ , then from the table above we see  $\chi(F_i) = 1$  for all  $i, F_i$  is an integral, rational curve with one node and no other singularities, and that  $\widetilde{S}_{A,B} = S_{A,B}$ .  $\Box$ 

**Example 2.** Let  $(a_1, \ldots, a_{12}) \in \mathbb{C}^{12}$  be pairwise disjoint. Let  $K \in \mathbb{C}$ , and let  $l \coloneqq -\sqrt[3]{\frac{27}{4}} \in \mathbb{R}$ . Set

$$\alpha = \prod_{i=1}^{12} (x_0 - a_i x_1)$$
$$A = K^2 l x_1^8$$
$$B = \alpha + K^3 x_1^{12}$$

We have  $\Delta(A, B) = -432\alpha(\alpha + 2K^3x_1^{12})$ . For a general choice of  $K \neq 0$ ,  $\alpha + 2K^3x_1^{12}$  has 12 distinct roots, all of which are distinct from the  $a_i$ . Thus  $S_{A,B}$  is a smooth K3 surface with 24 singular fibres, all of which are integral, nodal rational curves. We denote this K3 surface  $X_{(a_i),K}$ .

Remark 3.1.3. Let  $\mathcal{P}_g \to \mathcal{B}_g$  be the natural stack with fibre over a point representing a primitively polarised K3 surface (X, L) equal to the linear system |L|. Let  $\mathcal{V}_g^g \subseteq \mathcal{P}$  be the substack with fibre over [(X, L)] parametrising integral  $C \in |L|$  with precisely g nodes and no other singularities; i.e. C is a nodal rational curve. By studying rational stable maps to  $X_{(a_i),K}$ , any by considering the deformation  $X_{(a_i),K} \to X_{(a_i),0}$ , we were able to prove that the closure  $\overline{\mathcal{V}}_g^g$  of  $\mathcal{V}_g^g \subseteq \mathcal{P}$  is connected, [86, Thm. 8.1]. Note that  $\mathcal{V}_g^g$  is conjecturally irreducible, but this remains widely open and appears to be very difficult, [40].

We end this section with one final example which will play a role in the study of the Chow group of zero-cycles on a K3 surface.

**Example 3.** Consider the cubic equation

$$y^2 = x^3 + a(u_0)x^2 + b(u_0)x^3$$

for general polynomials a of degree four and b of degree eight. After the coordinate change  $x_2 = x + \frac{a(u_0)}{3}$ , we can put this in Weierstrass form

$$y^2 = x_2^3 + A(u_0)x + B(u_0)$$

#### 3.2. CONSTRUCTIONS VIA TORELLI

where A has degree eight and B has degree twelve. Further,  $\Delta(A, B) = b^2(a^2 - 4b)$ . After homogenising A, B we produce a elliptic K3 surface  $S_{A,B}$  which has rational double point singularities over the eight zeroes of b and  $I_1$  fibres (integral rational nodal curves) over the eight solutions to  $a^2 - 4b = 0$ . The resolution  $\widetilde{S}_{A,B}$  is a smooth K3 elliptic surface illustrated below. The eight singular fibres over b = 0 are  $I_2$  fibres, i.e. the union of two smooth rational curves meeting in two points, [133, Prop. 4.2]. In the diagram below (taken from [78]) these are denoted  $N_1, \ldots, N_8$ . The fibration  $\widetilde{S}_{A,B} \to \mathbb{P}^1$  has two sections: the section at infinity  $\sigma$  given by x = z = 0 (where z is the coordinate introduced in homogenisation) and the section  $\tau$  given by x = y = 0. The section  $\tau$  has order two; thus translation by  $\tau$  defines an involution  $\widetilde{S}_{A,B} \to \widetilde{S}_{A,B}$ . We will denote this K3 surface by  $X_{(2),8A_1}$  as it corresponds to a general K3 surface with 2-torsion in the Mordell-Weil group and eight fibres of type  $A_1$ (i.e. corresponding to  $A_1$  singularities of the unresolved surface  $S_{A,B}$ ), see [126].



### 3.2 Constructions via Torelli

The aim of this section is to show how the Torelli theorem can be used to construct K3 surfaces. We start with the following lemma.

**Lemma 3.2.1.** Let X be a K3 surface. Suppose X contains a smooth, integral elliptic curve E. Then X is an elliptic surface.

*Proof.* Let  $L := \mathcal{O}_X(E)$ . From the arithmetic genus formula  $(E)^2 = 2g(E) - 2$  we see  $(E)^2 = 0$ . Thus  $\deg(L_{|_E}) = 0$  so  $h^0(E, L) \leq 1$ . From

$$0 \to \mathcal{O}_X \to L \to L_{|_E} \to 0,$$

we have  $h^0(X, L) \leq 2$ . From Riemann-Roch  $h^0(X, L) \geq \chi(L) = 2$ , so  $h^0(X, L) = 0$ . Since E is smooth and integral, and  $g(E) \neq 0$ , L is base point free and thus L induces a morphism  $X \to \mathbb{P}^1$  such that the generic fibre is smooth, elliptic.

In order to show that a K3 surface contains a smooth elliptic curve, it suffices to show that it contains a non-trivial, nef divisor D with  $(D)^2 = 0$ .

**Lemma 3.2.2.** Let X be a K3 surface. Suppose X contains a non-trivial, nef divisor D with  $(D)^2 = 0$ . Then D is base point free. Furthermore, there exists a smooth, integral elliptic curve E with  $D \sim mE$  for an integer  $m \ge 1$ .

*Proof.* See [73, Prop. 3.10].

By combining the above lemma with the Torelli theorem, one can construct elliptic K3 surfaces. To be more precise, let  $\Lambda$  be an even lattice of rank  $\rho + 1 \leq 10$  and signature  $(1, \rho)$ , and fix an element  $L \in \Lambda$  with  $(L)^2 > 0$ . A  $\Lambda$ -polarised K3 surface is a K3 surface X, together with a primitive embedding  $i : \Lambda \to \operatorname{Pic}(X)$  with i(L) big and nef. The moduli space of  $\Lambda$ -polarised K3 surfaces exists as a quasi-projective algebraic variety, is nonempty, and has at most two components, both of dimension  $19 - \rho$ , which locally on the period domain are interchanged by complex conjugation, [42]. Complex conjugation here means that a complex surface X with complex structure J is sent to (X, -J).

The generic K3 surface X in the moduli space of  $\Lambda$  polarised K3 surface has  $\operatorname{Pic}(X) \simeq \Lambda$ . Thus if  $\Lambda$  contains an element D with  $(D)^2 = 0$ , and if further  $D \in \operatorname{Pic}(X)$  is nef, then X is an elliptic K3 surface, and D is a multiple of the class of an elliptic curve.

Remark 3.2.3. In the case where  $\Lambda$  has rank greater than ten, there is not automatically a unique lattice embedding of  $\Lambda$  into the K3 lattice. Using computer aided techniques, however, it has in recent years become possible to show the existence of such embeddings. One example of this is the work of Shimada, [126], which gives a complete list of all possible configurations of the singular fibres of elliptic K3 surfaces with section up to ADE singularity type, together with the torsion part of the Mordell–Weil group.

Suppose now X is a K3 surface, and assume  $E \in \text{Pic}(X)$  is smooth and elliptic. The elliptic fibration  $X \to \mathbb{P}^1$  induced by E need not have a section. We define an integer l, called the *multisection index* as follows. The set

$$\{(D \cdot E) : D \in \operatorname{Pic}(X)\}\$$

is an ideal of  $\mathbb{Z}$ ; l is defined to be its positive generator. Then l = 1 if and only if X has a section.

There is a construction which associated to  $X \to \mathbb{P}^1$  an elliptic K3 surface  $J(X) \to \mathbb{P}^1$ with a section  $\mathbb{P}^1 \to J(X)$ , see [73, §11.4], [38, Ch. 5], or [52, Ch. 1.5]. One calls  $J(X) \to \mathbb{P}^1$ the *Jacobian fibration*. The singular fibres of  $X \to \mathbb{P}^1$  and  $J(X) \to \mathbb{P}^1$  are isomorphic. We have an isomorphism J(X) to  $M_H(v)$ , the moduli space of *H*-semistable sheaves on *X* with Mukai vector *v*, where *H* is a general polarisation on *X* and v = (0, E, l). Note that for *H* generic,  $M_H(v)$  is irreducible, [73, Cor. 10.3.5].

The lattice Pic(J(X)) is fully determined by Pic(X). In fact, one has the following result, [87, Lem. 2.1].

**Proposition 3.2.4** (Keum). Let  $X \to \mathbb{P}^1$  be an elliptic K3 surface with multisection index l and generic fibre E. Then Pic(X) embeds into Pic(J(X)) with index l. The element

 $E \in Pic(J(X))$  is divisible by l, and Pic(J(X)) is generated as a lattice by Pic(X) and F/l. Further,

$$\det Pic(X) = l^2 \det Pic(J(X)).$$

Let  $X_1 \to \mathbb{P}^1$ ,  $X_2 \to \mathbb{P}^1$  be two elliptic K3 surfaces. We say two elliptic K3 surfaces  $X_1 \to \mathbb{P}^1$  and  $X_2 \to \mathbb{P}^1$  are isomorphic if there is an isomorphism  $X_1 \simeq X_2$  commuting with the elliptic fibrations (note that a single K3 surface may have multiple, non-isomorphic elliptic fibrations). The following lemma will be needed later.

**Lemma 3.2.5.** Let  $X \to \mathbb{P}^1$  be an elliptic K3 surface and consider  $J(X) \to \mathbb{P}^1$ . Then there are only countably many non-isomorphic elliptic K3 surfaces  $Y \to \mathbb{P}^1$  with  $J(Y) \to \mathbb{P}^1$ isomorphic to  $J(X) \to \mathbb{P}^1$ .

Proof. The set of isomorphism classes of elliptic K3 surfaces  $Y \to \mathbb{P}^1$  with  $J(Y) \to \mathbb{P}^1$ isomorphic to  $J(X) \to \mathbb{P}^1$  are described by the Tate–Šhafarevič group of J(X), which in our case is isomorphic to  $(\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z})^{22-\rho(J(X))}$ , where  $\rho(J(X))$  is the Picard number of J(X), [73, Rem. 11.5.12], also cf. [52, §1.5.3], [62, Cor. 2.2] and [80, Thm. 0.1].

#### **3.2.1** The elliptic K3 surface $Y_{\Omega_a}$

We now use the Torelli theorem to construct special K3 surfaces and curves on them with some very special Brill–Noether properties. The examples constructed will play a crucial role in the coming chapters.

Let  $g \ge 5$  be an integer, let  $1 \le d_1, d_2, \ldots, d_8 < \left\lfloor \frac{g+1}{2} \right\rfloor$  be integers, and consider first the rank ten lattice  $\Omega_g$  with ordered basis  $\{L, E, \Gamma_1, \ldots, \Gamma_8\}$  and with intersection form given by:

- $(L \cdot L) = 2g 2$
- $(L \cdot E) = \left\lfloor \frac{g+1}{2} \right\rfloor$
- $(E \cdot E) = 0$
- $(\Gamma_i)^2 = -2$  for  $1 \le i \le 8$
- $(E \cdot \Gamma_i) = 0$  for  $1 \le i \le 8$
- $(L \cdot \Gamma_i) = d_i$  for  $1 \le i \le 8$
- $(\Gamma_i \cdot \Gamma_j) = 0$  for  $i \neq j, 1 \leq i, j \leq 8$

It is easily seen that the above lattice has signature (1,9) and is even.

**Lemma 3.2.6.** Let  $g \ge 6$  be an integer and choose  $1 \le d_1, \ldots, d_8 < \lfloor \frac{g+1}{2} \rfloor$ . There exists a K3 surface  $Y_{\Omega_g}$  with  $Pic(Y_{\Omega_g}) \simeq \Omega_g$ . Furthermore, for any such K3 we may choose the ordered basis  $\{L, E, \Gamma_1, \ldots, \Gamma_8\}$  of  $\Omega_g$  in such a way that L - E is big and nef and with  $\Gamma_i$  and E representable by smooth, integral curves for  $1 \le i \le 8$ . Further there is a smooth rational curve  $\widetilde{\Gamma}_i \in |E - \Gamma_i|$ .

*Proof.* By the global Torelli theorem and from a result of Nikulin, the fact that this lattice has signature (1,9) and is even implies that there exists a K3 surface  $Y_{\Omega_g}$  with  $\operatorname{Pic}(Y_{\Omega_g}) \simeq \Omega_g$ , [107, Cor. 1.9, Cor. 2.9] or [73, Cor. 14.3.1]. By performing Picard–Lefschetz reflections and a sign change, we may assume that L-E is big and nef, since  $(L-E \cdot L-E) > 0$ , [11, Prop. VIII.3.9] and [73, Cor. 8.2.11]. Next,  $(E \cdot E)^2 = 0$  and  $(L - E \cdot E) = \lfloor \frac{g+1}{2} \rfloor > 0$  which implies that E is effective, [11, Prop. VIII.3.6(i)]. We now want to show that the general element of |E| is smooth and irreducible. By [123, Prop. 2.6] and the fact that E belongs to a basis of  $\operatorname{Pic}(Y_{\Omega_g})$  it is enough to show that |E| is base-point free. It is enough to show that E is nef, [91, Lemma 2.3] or [73, Prop. 2.3.10].

So it suffices to show there is no effective divisor R with  $(R)^2 = -2$  and  $(E \cdot R) < 0$ , [11, Prop. VIII.3.6]. Suppose for a contradiction that such an R exists. Write  $R = xL + yE + \sum_{i=1}^{8} z_i \Gamma_i$  for integers  $x, y, z_i$ . As  $(E \cdot R) = x \lfloor \frac{g+1}{2} \rfloor < 0$  we have x < 0. Then  $(R - xL)^2 = -2 \sum_{i=1}^{8} z_i^2 \le 0$ . However,

$$(R - xL)^{2} = -2 + x^{2}(2g - 2) - 2x(L \cdot R)$$
  
= -2 + x<sup>2</sup>(2g - 2 - 2 \bigg \bigg \frac{g + 1}{2} \bigg ) - 2x(L - E \cdot R)  
> 0

for x < 0 and  $g \ge 6$ . Thus |E| is an elliptic pencil.

Next  $\Gamma_1$  is effective, since  $(\Gamma_1 \cdot L - E) > 0$ . We claim  $\Gamma_1$  is integral. Otherwise, there would be an integral component R of  $\Gamma_1$  with  $(R \cdot \Gamma_1) < 0$ , since  $(\Gamma_1)^2 = -2$ . Further,  $(R)^2 = -2$ , since R is not nef. Write  $R = xL + yE + \sum_{i=1}^8 z_i \Gamma_i$ . We have  $(R \cdot E) = x \lfloor \frac{g+1}{2} \rfloor \ge 0$  so  $x \ge 0$ . Assume  $x \ne 0$ . Then we have  $(R \cdot R + E) > 0$  and  $(R + E)^2 > 0$  so R + E is big and nef, which contradicts that  $(R + E \cdot \Gamma_1) = (R \cdot \Gamma_1) < 0$ . So x = 0. But then  $(R)^2 = -2$  gives  $\sum_{i=1}^8 z_i^2 = 1$ , and  $(R \cdot \Gamma_1) = -2z_1 < 0$  so  $z_1 = 1$  and  $z_i = 0$ , i > 1. Lastly,  $(R \cdot L) = d_1 + y \lfloor \frac{g+1}{2} \rfloor \ge 0$  so we must have  $y \ge 0$  (as  $d_1 < \lfloor \frac{g+1}{2} \rfloor$ ). Since R is a smooth and irreducible rational curve, we must then have y = 0 and  $R = \Gamma_1$  (as the only effective divisor in |R| is integral). Thus  $\Gamma_1$  is integral. Likewise,  $\Gamma_2, \ldots, \Gamma_8$  are integral.

Next,  $\widetilde{\Gamma}_1$  is effective, since  $(\widetilde{\Gamma}_1)^2 = -2$  and  $(\widetilde{\Gamma}_1 \cdot L - E) > 0$ . Let R be an integral component of  $\widetilde{\Gamma}_1$  such that  $(R \cdot \widetilde{\Gamma}_1) < 0$ ,  $(R)^2 = -2$ . Writing  $R = xL + yE + \sum_{i=1}^8 z_i \Gamma_i$ , we see as above x = 0 and we must have  $z_1 = -1$  and  $z_i = 0$ , i > 1. Since  $(R \cdot L) = -d_1 + y \lfloor \frac{g+1}{2} \rfloor \ge 0$  we must have  $y \ge 1$  and then  $R \sim \widetilde{\Gamma}_1 + (y-1)E$ . Since R is integral, this forces  $R = \widetilde{\Gamma}_1$ .  $\Box$ 

**Lemma 3.2.7.** Let  $Y_{\Omega_g}$  and  $\{L, E, \Gamma_1, \ldots, \Gamma_8\}$  be as in the previous lemma, and let  $Y_{\Omega_g} \rightarrow \mathbb{P}^1$  be the fibration induced by E. If  $Y_{\Omega_g}$  is a general  $\Omega_g$ -polarised K3 surface, then at least six of the reducible singular fibres  $\Gamma_i + \widetilde{\Gamma_i}$  for  $1 \leq i \leq 8$  are of the type  $I_2$  (as opposed to the type III). We choose indices such that  $\Gamma_i + \widetilde{\Gamma_i}$  is an  $I_2$  fibre for  $i \geq 3$ .

*Proof.* As  $(xL + yE + \sum_{i=1}^{8} z_i \Gamma_i \cdot E) = x(L \cdot E)$ , the elliptic fibration  $Y_{\Omega_g} \to \mathbb{P}^1$  induced by E has multisection index  $(L \cdot E)$ . Consider the Jacobian fibration  $J(Y_{\Omega_g}) \to \mathbb{P}^1$ , which has

#### 3.2. CONSTRUCTIONS VIA TORELLI

the same singular fibres as  $Y_{\Omega_g}$  (up to isomorphism). Let  $\widetilde{\Omega_g}$  be the lattice generated by  $\Omega_g$  and

$$F \coloneqq E/(L \cdot E).$$

Then  $J(Y_{\Omega_g})$  is an element of the global moduli space  $M_{\widetilde{\Omega_g}}$  of  $\widetilde{\Omega_g}$ -polarized K3 surfaces, [87, Lemma 2.1] and [42, Def. p.1602]. A result of Mukai states that one may describe  $J(Y_{\Omega_g})$ as a moduli space  $M_H(v)$  of *H*-semistable sheaves on  $Y_{\Omega_g}$  for a generic polarization *H* and Mukai vector  $(0, E, (L \cdot E))$ ; see [73, §11.4.2], [87, p. 2081], [109]. This construction can be done in families by [79, Thm. 4.3.7], so there is a holomorphic map

$$\phi : U \to M_{\widetilde{\Omega_g}}$$
$$(Y'_{\Omega_g}, \Omega_g \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Pic}(Y'_{\Omega_g})) \mapsto (J(Y'_{\Omega_g}), \widetilde{\Omega_g} \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Pic}(J(Y'_{\Omega_g})))$$

defined in a Euclidean open subset U about  $(Y_{\Omega_g}, \Omega_g \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Pic}(Y_{\Omega_g}))$  in the local moduli space (or period domain) of marked  $\Omega_g$ -polarised K3 surfaces. The Tate–Šafarevič group of  $J(Y_{\Omega_g})$  is countable by Lemma 3.2.5. In particular, this implies that the fibres of  $\phi$  are zero-dimensional by [73, Cor. 11.5.5]. By Sard's theorem,  $\phi(U)$  contains a Euclidean open set. Thus it suffices to show that there is a dense open set  $V \subseteq M_{\widetilde{\Omega_g}}$  with the property that for any  $(X, \widetilde{\Omega_g} \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Pic}(X)) \in V$ , the fibration  $X \to \mathbb{P}^1$  induced by F has at least six  $I_2$ fibres.

Let T be the trivial lattice of  $J(Y_{\Omega_g}) \to \mathbb{P}^1$ , i.e. the lattice generated by F, any section  $\sigma$  of  $J(Y_{\Omega_g}) \to \mathbb{P}^1$  and the components of the reducible fibres which do not meet  $\sigma$ . We have

$$T \simeq \mathfrak{h} \oplus (-2)^8,$$

where  $\mathfrak{h}$  denotes the hyperbolic lattice. By choosing the basis  $\{L-gF, F, \Gamma_1-d_1F, \ldots, \Gamma_8-d_8F\}$ , we see  $\widetilde{\Omega_g}$  is isometric to T, or equivalently, the Mordell–Weil group of  $J(Y_{\Omega_g})$  is trivial, [124, Thm. 6.3]. Suppose  $(X, \widetilde{\Omega_g} \to \operatorname{Pic}(X)) \in M_{\widetilde{\Omega_g}}$  has the property that  $X \to \mathbb{P}^1$  induced by F has at least six  $I_2$  fibres. Then the same holds in a dense open set in each component of  $M_{\widetilde{\Omega_g}}$  containing  $(X, \widetilde{\Omega_g} \to \operatorname{Pic}(X))$  as the condition that a fibre be nodal is Zariski open (i.e. for a flat, proper algebraic family of integral curves, the locus of non-nodal curves is a Zariski closed subset of the base). Furthermore, the same clearly holds for the complex conjugate  $X^c \to \mathbb{P}^1$ . There are at most two components of  $M_{\widetilde{\Omega_g}}$ , which locally on the period domain are interchanged by complex conjugation, so this would complete the proof.

Thus it suffices to find such an elliptic K3 surface  $X \to \mathbb{P}^1$ . From [126, Thm. 2.12] (published in compressed form as [127]), there exists an elliptic K3 surface  $X \to \mathbb{P}^1$  with section and torsion-free Mordell–Weil group such that X has 10 singular fibres of type  $A_1$ , each of which are either of type  $I_2$  or *III*. Using that the Euler number of *III* is 3, we find that X can have at most 4 fibres of type *III*, and thus has at least 6 fibres of type  $I_2$ , which have Euler number 2 (as the sum of the Euler numbers of the singular fibres must be 24, the Euler number of X). There is an obvious primitive embedding of T into the trivial lattice of X such that 6 of the generators correspond to components of the  $I_2$ fibres avoiding the section. As the Mordell–Weil group of  $X \to \mathbb{P}^1$  is torsion free, we have a primitive embedding  $T \to \operatorname{Pic}(X)$ . This completes the proof.

**Lemma 3.2.8.** Let  $Y_{\Omega_g}$  and  $\{L, E, \Gamma_1, \ldots, \Gamma_8\}$  be as in the previous lemma. If we assume g > 7, then L - E is very ample (and hence L is also very ample).

*Proof.* Suppose the big and nef line bundle L - E is not very ample. Then there exists either a smooth rational curve  $R \subseteq Y_{\Omega_g}$  with  $(L - E \cdot R) = 0$  or a smooth elliptic curve  $F \subseteq Y_{\Omega_g}$  with  $0 < (L - E \cdot F) \le 2$  (or both exist), by [91, Thm. 1.1] (set k = 1 in Knutsen's theorem and note that L - E is primitive).

Assume firstly that R as above exists; we may write  $R = x_1L + y_1E + \sum_{i=1}^8 z_{1,i}\Gamma_i$  for integers  $x_1, y_1, z_{1,i}$ . We have

$$-2\sum_{i=1}^{8} z_{1,i}^{2} = (R - x_{1}L)^{2}$$
  
=  $-2 + x_{1}^{2}(2g - 2) - 2x_{1}(L \cdot R)$   
=  $-2 + x_{1}^{2}(2g - 2) - 2\left\lfloor \frac{g + 1}{2} \right\rfloor - 2x_{1}(L - E \cdot R).$ 

By the above equality, using that  $g \ge 8$  and  $(L - E \cdot R) = 0$ , we find that  $x_1 = 0$  and there exists some j such that  $z_{1,j} = \pm 1$ ,  $z_{1,i} = 0$  for  $i \ne j$ . Then  $0 = (L - E \cdot R) = \pm d_j + y_1 \lfloor \frac{g+1}{2} \rfloor$  which is impossible for  $1 \le d_j < \lfloor \frac{g+1}{2} \rfloor$ .

So now suppose there is some smooth elliptic curve  $F \subseteq Y_{\Omega_g}$  with  $0 < (L - E \cdot F) \leq 2$ . We may write  $F = x_2L + y_2E + \sum_{i=1}^8 z_{2,i}\Gamma_i$  for integers  $x_2, y_2, z_{2,i}$ . We have  $(F \cdot E) = x_2(L \cdot E)$  and hence  $x_2 > 0$  (as  $F \notin |E|$ ). We calculate

$$-2\sum_{i=1}^{8} z_{2,i}^{2} = (F - x_{2}L)^{2}$$
$$= x_{2}^{2}(2g - 2) - 2x_{2}(L \cdot F)$$
$$= x_{2}(x_{2}((2g - 2) - 2\left\lfloor\frac{g + 1}{2}\right\rfloor) - 2(L - E \cdot F))$$

which is impossible for g > 7,  $0 \le (L - E \cdot F) \le 2$ . Thus L - E is very ample. Using Knutsen's criterion again, and the fact that E is nef, we see that L is likewise very ample.

For the rest of the section we will assume g is odd. The following technical lemma will be needed later in this section.

**Lemma 3.2.9.** Assume  $g \ge 11$  is odd and let  $Y_{\Omega_g}$  and  $\{L, E, \Gamma_1, \ldots, \Gamma_8\}$  be as in Lemma 3.2.8. Then L - 2E is not effective. Further  $(L - E)^2 \ge 8$  and there exists no effective divisor F with  $(F)^2 = 0$  and  $(F \cdot L - E) \le 3$ .

Proof. Suppose L - 2E is an effective divisor and let  $D_1, \ldots D_k$  be its irreducible components. Write  $D_i = x_i L + y_i E + \sum_{j=1}^8 z_{i,j} \Gamma_j$  for integers  $x_i, y_i, z_{i,j}$ . Then  $0 \leq (D_i \cdot E) = x_i (L \cdot E)$  so that  $x_i \geq 0$  and  $\sum_i x_i = 1$ . Thus we may assume  $x_1 = 1$  and  $x_i = 0$  for all  $i \geq 2$ . Now let  $\widetilde{D}$  be any irreducible curve of the form  $aE + \sum_{j=1}^8 b_j \Gamma_j$  for integers  $a, b_j$  and suppose  $\widetilde{D} \neq \Gamma_j, \forall 1 \leq j \leq 8$ . Then  $0 \leq (\widetilde{D} \cdot \Gamma_j) = -2b_j$  so  $b_j \leq 0$  for all j. Since  $(\widetilde{D})^2 = -2\sum_{j=1}^8 b_j^2 \geq -2$  by [11, Prop. VIII 3.6], there is at most one  $b_j$  such that  $b_j \neq 0$ , and in this case  $b_j = -1$ . Suppose firstly that all  $b_j = 0$ . Then  $\widetilde{D} \sim E$ , since  $\widetilde{D}$  is integral, and all effective divisors in |aE| are a sum of a divisors in |E|, [123, Prop. 2.6(ii)]. Next suppose  $b_j = -1$ . Then  $\widetilde{D} = aE - \Gamma_j$  and  $a \geq 1$  since a is effective. Thus  $\widetilde{D} = \widetilde{\Gamma}_j + (a-1)E$  and  $(\widetilde{D})^2 = -2$ , which implies a = 1 since  $\widetilde{D}$  is a smooth and irreducible rational curve (as the unique effective divisor in the linear system  $|\widetilde{D}|$  is integral).

Thus if  $i \ge 2$ ,  $D_i$  is either E,  $\Gamma_j$  or  $\widetilde{\Gamma}_j$ , for some j. Since  $\sum_i D_i = L - 2E$ , we see  $D_1 = L - (2+m')E - \sum_{j=1}^8 n'_{1,j}\Gamma_j - \sum_{j=1}^8 n'_{2,j}\widetilde{\Gamma}_j$  for nonnegative integers m' and  $n'_{1,j}$ ,  $n'_{2,j}$ ,  $1 \le j \le 8$ . Since  $E = \Gamma_j + \widetilde{\Gamma}_j$ , we may rewrite  $D_1$  in the form  $D_1 = L - (2+m)E - \sum_{j=1}^8 (n_{1,j}\Gamma_j + n_{2,j}\widetilde{\Gamma}_j)$ , where m,  $n_{1,j}$ ,  $n_{2,j}$  are nonnegative integers and if  $n_{1,j_1} \ne 0$  for some  $j_1$  then  $n_{2,j_1} = 0$ , and likewise if  $n_{2,j_2} \ne 0$  then  $n_{1,j_2} = 0$ . But then one computes

$$(D_1)^2 = (L - 2E - (mE + \sum_{j=1}^8 n_{1,j}\Gamma_j + n_{2,j}\widetilde{\Gamma}_j))^2$$
  
=  $-4 - 2\sum_{j=1}^8 (n_{1,j}^2 + n_{2,j}^2) - 2(L \cdot mE + \sum_{j=1}^8 n_{1,j}\Gamma_j + n_{2,j}\widetilde{\Gamma}_j)$   
 $\leq -4$ 

which is a contradiction (since  $(D)^2 \ge -2$  for any integral curve D). This proves that L-2E is non-effective.

We have  $(L-E)^2 = g-3 \ge 8$  for  $g \ge 11$ . For  $g \ge 11$  and a' > 0 one has (g-3)a'-6 > 0. From the proof of Lemma 3.2.8, this implies there is no effective F with  $(F)^2 = 0$  and  $(F \cdot L - E) \le 3$ .

**Lemma 3.2.10.** Let  $D \in \Omega_g$  be an effective divisor with  $(D)^2 \ge 0$ , and assume L - D is effective and  $(L - D)^2 > 0$ . Then D = cE for some integer  $c \ge 0$ .

Proof. Write  $D = xL + yE + \sum_{i=1}^{8} z_i \Gamma_i$  for integers  $x, y, z_i$ . One has  $0 \ge (D - L \cdot E) = (x - 1)(L \cdot E)$  so that  $x \le 1$ . On the other hand  $0 \le (D \cdot E) = x(L \cdot E)$  so that  $x \ge 0$ . Thus x = 0 or x = 1. Suppose firstly that x = 1. Then  $0 < (D - L)^2 = -2\sum_{i=1}^{8} z_i^2$  which is a contradiction. Hence x = 0. Then  $0 \le (D)^2 = -2(\sum_{i=1}^{8} z_i^2)$  and so  $z_i = 0$  for all i, as required.

## **3.3** Mukai's theory for curves on $Y_{\Omega_a}$

In this section we will apply a construction of Mukai to the special K3 surface  $Y_{\Omega_g}$  in order to construct loci  $Z \subseteq \mathcal{V}_g^0$  such that for  $x \in Z$  the fibre of  $\eta : \mathcal{V}_g^0 \to \mathcal{M}_g$  over  $\eta(x)$  is zero-dimensional at x. This will be our basic tool for studying the generic finiteness of the morphism  $\eta : \mathcal{T}_{g,k}^n \to \mathcal{M}_{p(g,k)-n}$ .

Our first task is to study Clifford index of curves on the elliptic K3 surfaces  $Y_{\Omega_g}$  from Lemma 3.2.9. For any smooth curve C and  $M \in \text{Pic}(C)$  with deg(M) = d and  $h^0(M) = r+1$ , let  $\nu(M) \coloneqq d - 2r$ . The *Clifford index* of C is defined by

$$\nu(C) \coloneqq \min\{\nu(M) \mid M \in \operatorname{Pic}(C) \text{ with } \deg(M) \le g - 1, \ h^0(M) \ge 2\}.$$

Clifford's Theorem states that  $\nu(C) \ge 0$  and  $\nu(C) = 0$  if and only if C is hyperelliptic.

**Lemma 3.3.1.** Let  $g \ge 11$  be odd, let  $Y_{\Omega_g}$  and  $\{L, E, \Gamma_1, \ldots, \Gamma_8\}$  be as in Lemma 3.2.9 and let  $C \in |L|$  be a smooth curve. Then  $\nu(C) = \frac{g+1}{2} - 2$ .

Proof. Consider the line bundle  $A \coloneqq \mathcal{O}_C(E)$ . We have  $h^0(A) = 2$ , since  $h^1(L-E) = 0$ by Kodaira's vanishing theorem. As  $\deg(A) = \frac{g+1}{2}$ , we see  $\nu(C) \leq \frac{g+1}{2} - 2$ . Suppose for a contradiction that  $\nu(C) < \frac{g+1}{2} - 2$ . From [91, Lem. 8.3], there is a smooth and irreducible curve  $D \subseteq Y_{\Omega_g}$  with  $0 \leq (D)^2 < \nu(C) + 2$ ,  $2(D)^2 < (D \cdot L)$  and  $\nu(C) = (D \cdot L) - (D)^2 - 2$  (the sharp inequalities here are due to the fact that L is primitive). We have

$$(D - L \cdot D) = (D)^{2} - (D \cdot L) = -2 - \nu(C) \le -2$$

and

$$(D-L)^{2} = -6 - 2\nu(C) - (D)^{2} + 2g > -8 - 3\nu(C) + 2g \ge 0,$$

as  $\nu(C) \leq \frac{g+1}{2} - 2$  and  $g \geq 7$ . Hence L - D is effective and D = cE for some  $c \geq 0$  by Lemma 3.2.10. As D is represented by a smooth curve, we must have D = E. But then

$$\nu(C) = (E \cdot L) - (E)^2 - 2 = \frac{g+1}{2} - 2,$$

giving a contradiction.

**Lemma 3.3.2.** Assume  $g \ge 11$  is odd and let  $Y_{\Omega_g}$  be a K3 surface with  $Pic(Y_{\Omega_g}) \simeq \Omega_g$  as in Lemma 3.2.9. Let  $M \in \Omega_g$  be an effective line bundle on  $Y_{\Omega_g}$  satisfying

- $0 \le (M)^2 < \frac{g+1}{2}$
- $2(M)^2 < (M \cdot L)$
- $\frac{g+1}{2} = (M \cdot L) (M)^2$ .

Then M = E.

*Proof.* The above inequalities give  $(M - L \cdot M) < 0$  and

$$(M-L)^2 = (M)^2 + 2g - 2 - 2((M)^2 + \frac{g+1}{2}) > 0$$

as  $(M)^2 < \frac{g+1}{2} \le g-3$  for  $g \ge 7$ . Thus M = cE for c > 0 by Lemma 3.2.10. The equation  $\frac{g+1}{2} = (M \cdot L) - (M)^2$  gives c = 1.

**Lemma 3.3.3.** Let  $g \ge 11$  be odd and let  $Y_{\Omega_g}$  and  $\{L, E, \Gamma_1, \ldots, \Gamma_8\}$  be as in Lemma 3.2.9 and let  $C \in |L|$  be a smooth curve. Suppose  $A \in Pic(C)$  has  $h^0(A) = 2$  and  $deg(A) = \frac{g+1}{2}$ . Then  $A \simeq E_{|_C}$ .

Proof. Let  $A \in \operatorname{Pic}(C)$  with  $h^0(A) = 2$  and  $\deg(A) = \frac{g+1}{2}$ . In particular,  $\nu(A) = \nu(C)$ . Then by [43, Thm. 4.2], there is some effective divisor  $D \subseteq Y_{\Omega_g}$  such that that  $(D \cdot L) \leq g - 1$ , L - D is effective, dim  $|D| \geq 1$ ,  $D|_C$  achieves the Clifford index on C and such that there exists a reduced divisor  $Z_0 \in |A|$  of length  $\frac{g+1}{2}$  with  $Z_0 \subseteq D \cap C$ . Further from the proof of [43, Lemma 4.6] and the paragraph proceeding it, we see  $\frac{g+1}{2} = (D \cdot L) - (D)^2$ , using that  $\nu(D|_C) = \frac{g+1}{2} - 2$  by hypothesis. It then follows that all the conditions of Lemma 3.3.2 are satisfied, so that  $D \in |E|$ . As  $(E \cdot C) = \frac{g+1}{2}$  and  $Z_0$  is reduced of length  $\frac{g+1}{2}$ , we have  $Z_0 = D \cap C$ . Thus  $Z_0 \in |E|_C|$  which forces  $A \simeq E_{|_C}$ .

The following lemma may be extracted from work of Mukai, cf. [111, §3], [110, Lem. 2] (although it never appears in this precise form). Despite the simple proof, this lemma is actually rather fundamental, since it gives an example of a K3 surface S and a divisor  $D \subseteq S$  such that the K3 surface S can be reconstructed merely from the curve D together with a special divisor  $A \in \text{Pic}(D)$ .

**Lemma 3.3.4** (Mukai). Let  $g \ge 11$  be odd and let S be a K3 surface with  $L, M \in Pic(S)$ such that  $L^2 = 2g - 2$ ,  $M^2 = 0$  and  $(L \cdot M) = \frac{g+1}{2}$ . Let  $D \in |L|$  be smooth and set  $A := M_{|_D}$ . Further, let  $A^{\dagger} = (L - M)_{|_D}$  be the adjoint of A and set  $k := h^0(A^{\dagger}) - 1$ . Assume L - M is very ample and that there is no integral curve  $F \subseteq S$  with  $(F)^2 = 0$  and  $(F \cdot L - M) = 3$ . Assume further that M is represented by an integral curve and that L - 2M is not effective. Then  $A^{\dagger}$  is very ample, and S is the quadric hull of the embedding  $\phi_{A^{\dagger}} : D \hookrightarrow \mathbb{P}^k$  induced by  $A^{\dagger}$ . In particular, the linear system |L| contains only finitely many curves D' such that we have an isomorphism  $\iota : D' \simeq D$  with  $\iota^* A \simeq M_{|_{D'}}$ .

*Proof.* As there exists an integral curve in |M|, we know  $h^1(M) = 0$ . From the exact sequence

$$0 \to M^* \to L \otimes M^* \to A^\dagger \to 0$$

we see that restriction induces an isomorphism  $H^0(S, L \otimes M^*) \simeq H^0(D, A^{\dagger})$ , which implies that  $A^{\dagger}$  is very ample (as  $L \otimes M^*$  is) and that  $\phi_{A^{\dagger}} : D \to \mathbb{P}^k$  is the composition of  $D \to S$ and  $\phi_{L-M} : S \to \mathbb{P}^k$ . Now let  $Q \subseteq \mathbb{P}^k$  be a quadric containing D. Then we claim that Q contains S. Indeed, otherwise there is some effective divisor  $T \subseteq S$  such that  $D + T = Q \cap S$ so that  $D + T \in |2L - 2M|$ . But then  $T \in |L - 2M|$ , contradicting that L - 2M is not effective by assumption. Thus the quadric hull of D coincides with the quadric hull of  $S \hookrightarrow \mathbb{P}^k$ . But the quadric hull of S is simply S from [123, Thm. 7.2]. The assumption  $g \ge 11$  is needed to ensure  $(L - M)^2 \ge 8$  which is required in Saint-Donat's theorem (note that since L - Mis very ample by assumption it is not hyperelliptic in the sense of [123, §4.1, Thm. 5.2]). Finally, by the argument above, we have that, for any curve  $D' \in |L|$  such that there exists an isomorphism  $\iota : D' \simeq D$  with  $\iota^*A \simeq M_{|_{D'}}$ , there is an automorphism  $f : S \to S$  induced by an automorphism of  $\mathbb{P}^k$  such that f(D') = D. Since S is a K3 surface, we deduce that there are only finitely many such D'.

Putting all the pieces together, we have the following proposition:

**Proposition 3.3.5.** Let  $g \ge 11$  be odd. Let T be a smooth and irreducible scheme with base point  $0 \in T$ . Let  $Z \to T$  be a flat family of K3 surfaces together with an embedding  $\phi : Z \to T \times \mathbb{P}^g$ . Assume  $\phi_0 : Z_0 \to \mathbb{P}^g$  is the embedding  $Y_{\Omega_g} \to \mathbb{P}^g$  induced by |L|, where  $Y_{\Omega_g}$  is as in Lemma 3.2.9. Let  $H \subseteq \mathbb{P}^g$  be a hyperplane and  $C := H \cap Y_{\Omega_g}$  a smooth curve. Assume that for all  $t \in T$ , we have a smoothly varying family of hyperplanes  $H_t$  with  $H_0 = H$ and  $Z_t \cap H_t \simeq C$ . Then for  $t \in T$  general there is an isomorphism  $\psi_t : Z_t \simeq Y_{\Omega_g}$  and an automorphism  $f_t \in Aut(\mathbb{P}^g)$  such that  $f_t \circ \phi_t = \phi_0 \circ \psi_t$ . Furthermore,  $f_t$  sends  $H_t$  to H.

*Proof.* For *t* ∈ *T* general we have a primitive embedding *j* : Pic(*Z*<sub>t</sub>) → Pic(*Y*<sub>Ωg</sub>) with  $j(\mathcal{O}_{Z_t}(1)) = L$ . By hypothesis, each fibre  $Z_t$  contains a curve isomorphic to *C* which has Clifford index  $\frac{g+1}{2} - 2$  by Lemma 3.3.1. By [91, Lem. 8.3] there is some smooth and irreducible divisor  $M' \in \text{Pic}(Z_t)$  satisfying  $0 \leq (M')^2 < \frac{g+1}{2}$ ,  $2(M')^2 < (M' \cdot \mathcal{O}_{Z_t}(1))$  and  $\frac{g+1}{2} = (M' \cdot \mathcal{O}_{Z_t}(1)) - (M')^2$ . As in the proof of Lemma 3.3.1, these conditions ensure that  $\mathcal{O}_{Z_t}(1) - M'$  is effective. Moreover, M := j(M') satisfies the conditions of Lemma 3.3.2, so that M = E. Thus  $(M')^2 = 0$  and hence M' is a smooth elliptic curve. By lemmas 3.2.8 and 3.2.9, L - E is very ample,  $(L - E)^2 \geq 8$ , L - 2E is not effective and there exists no effective F with  $(F)^2 = 0$  and  $(F \cdot L - E) = 3$ ; thus the same holds for  $\mathcal{O}_{Z_t}(1) - M' \in \text{Pic}(Z_t)$  for *t* close to 0. Thus by Lemma 3.3.4 and since  $(\mathcal{O}_{Z_t}(1) - M')_{|_C} \simeq K_C(E^*_{|_C})$  by Lemma 3.3.3 we have  $Z_t \simeq Y_{\Omega_g}$ . Furthermore, the embedding  $C \hookrightarrow Z_t$  is identified under this isomorphism with the natural embedding of *C* into the quadric hull of the embedding  $\phi_{K_C(E^*_{|_C})} : C \hookrightarrow \mathbb{P}^k$ . In particular, the embedding is independent of *t* (up to the action of projective transformations on  $\mathbb{P}^g$ ). Thus for the general *t* there is some  $f_t \in Aut(\mathbb{P}^g) = Aut(|L|)$  with  $f_t(Z_t) = Y_{\Omega_g} \subseteq \mathbb{P}^g$  such that  $f_t$  sends  $H_t$  to H.

As a direct consequence we have the following corollary.

**Corollary 3.3.6.** Let  $g \ge 11$  be odd and let  $Y_{\Omega_g}$  and  $\{L, E, \Gamma_1, \ldots, \Gamma_8\}$  be as in Lemma 3.2.9 and let  $C \in |L|$  be a smooth curve. Then the fibre of the morphism  $\eta : \mathcal{T}_g^0 \to \mathcal{M}_g$  over [C] is zero-dimensional at  $[(i: C \hookrightarrow Y_{\Omega_g}, L)].$ 

Remark 3.3.7. In fact,  $\eta : \mathcal{T}_g^0 \to \mathcal{M}_g$  is birational onto its image for  $g \ge 11$ ,  $g \ne 12$ , [33]. Also see [112, §10], [8] for an approach in the odd genus case which more closely resembles the above.

# Chapter 4

# The moduli map

In this chapter we prove generic finiteness of the moduli map

$$\eta: \mathcal{T}_{g,k}^m \to \mathcal{M}_{p(g,k)-m}$$

on one component for all but finitely many values of p(g,k) - m. The idea is to start with the case of a smooth, primitive, genus 11 curve C lying on a K3 surface, i.e. the case k = 1, g = 11, m = 0. The result has already been established for these values in Corollary 3.3.6. We then build up from this result by adding rational components to the curve C and partially normalising at some of the nodes. Using that rational curves on a K3 surface are rigid, this ultimately gives generic finiteness on one component, for all but finitely many values of p(g,k) - m.

## 4.1 The moduli map

We start by reducing to the case where the number of nodes is large.

**Lemma 4.1.1.** Let  $n \leq m$  with p(g,k) - m > 0. Assume that there is a component  $I_m \subseteq \mathcal{T}_{g,k}^m$  such that

$$\eta_{|_{I_m}}: I_m \to \mathcal{M}_{p(g,k)-m}$$

is generically finite and assume that for the general  $[f: B \to X] \in I_m$ , B is non-trigonal. Then there exists a component  $I_n \subseteq \mathcal{T}_{q,k}^n$  such that

$$\eta_{|I_n}: I_n \to \mathcal{M}_{p(g,k)-n}$$

is generically finite. For the general  $[f': C \to Y] \in I_n$ , C is non-trigonal.

*Proof.* Let  $[(f : B \to X, L)] \in I_m$  be a general point. By [41, Thm. B], f(B) is a nodal curve (with precisely *m* nodes). Thus there is an integral, nodal curve B' with m - n nodes with normalization  $\mu : B \to B'$  such that f factors through a morphism  $\tilde{g} : B' \to X$ . The fibre of

 $\eta$  over the stable curve  $[B'] \in \overline{\mathcal{M}}_{p(g,k)-n}$  is zero-dimensional near  $[(\tilde{g}, L)]$  as otherwise we could compose with  $\mu$  to produce a one dimensional family near  $[(f : B \to X, L)]$  in the fibre of  $\eta$  over [B]. Since  $[(\tilde{g}, L)]$  lies in the closure of  $\mathcal{T}_{g,k}^n$  by Lemma 2.3.8, we see that there exists a component  $I_n \subseteq \mathcal{T}_{g,k}^n$  such that

$$\eta_{|_{I_n}}: I_n \to \mathcal{M}_{p(g,k)-n}$$

is generically finite. As the normalization of B' is non-trigonal by assumption, B' must lie outside the image of

$$\overline{\mathcal{H}}_{3,p(g,k)-n} \to \overline{\mathcal{M}}_{p(g,k)-n},$$

in the notation of [67, Thm. 3.150]. Thus, for the general  $[f': C \to Y] \in I_n$ , C is non-trigonal.

The following proposition gives a criterion for generic finiteness of the morphism

$$\eta: \mathcal{T}_{g,k}^n \to \mathcal{M}_{p(g,k)-n}$$

on one component *I*. The idea is to assume we have an unramified map  $f_0 : C_0 \to X$ representing a point in  $\mathcal{W}_{g'}^{n'}$  such that finiteness of  $\eta$  holds near the point representing  $f_0$ . If we then build a new morphism  $f: C_0 \cup \mathbb{P}^1 \to X$  by finding a rational curve  $f(\mathbb{P}^1)$  in X, and if we further assume  $C_0 \cup \mathbb{P}^1$  is a stable curve (i.e.  $\mathbb{P}^1$  intersects  $C_0$  in at least three points), then by rigidity of rational curves in X, one sees easily that finiteness of  $\eta$  holds near the point representing f, where n, k are such that f represents a point in  $\mathcal{W}_{a,k}^n$ .

**Proposition 4.1.2.** Assume there exists a polarised K3 surface (X, L) and an unramified stable map  $f : B \to X$  with  $f_*(B) \in |kL|$ . Assume:

- 1.  $[(f: B \to X, L)]$  lies in the closure of  $\mathcal{T}_{a,k}^n$ .
- 2. There exists an integral, nodal component  $C \subseteq B$  of arithmetic genus  $p' \ge 2$  such that  $f_{|C|}$  is an unramified morphism  $j: C \to X$ , birational onto its image. Let k' be an integer such that there is a big and nef line bundle L' on X with  $j_*(C) \in |k'L'|$ , and let  $g' = \frac{1}{2}(L')^2 + 1$ .
- 3. The fibre of the morphism  $\eta : \mathcal{W}_{g',k'}^{n'} \to \overline{\mathcal{M}}_{p'}$  over [C] is zero-dimensional near  $[(j : C \to X, L')]$ , where n' = p(j(C)) p'.
- 4. If  $\tilde{C}$  is the normalization of C, then  $\tilde{C}$  is non-trigonal.
- 5. If  $D \subseteq B$  is a component,  $D \neq C$ , then D has geometric genus zero.
- 6. The stabilization morphism  $B \to \hat{B}$  is an isomorphism in an open subset  $U \subseteq B$  such that  $C \subseteq U$ .

Then there exists a component  $I \subseteq \mathcal{T}_{g,k}^n$  such that  $\eta_{|I}$  is generically finite and  $[(f : B \to X, L)]$  lies in the closure of  $I \subseteq \mathcal{W}_{g,k}^n$ . For the general  $[f' : B' \to X'] \in I$ , B' is non-trigonal.

*Proof.* We have a morphism  $\eta : \mathcal{W}_{g,k}^n \to \overline{\mathcal{M}}_{p(g,k)-n}$ . By assumption 1, it suffices to show  $\eta^{-1}([\hat{B}])$  is zero-dimensional near  $[(f : B \to X, L)]$ . Let S be a smooth, irreducible, one-dimensional scheme with base point 0, and suppose we have a commutative diagram



with  $\tilde{g}$  proper,  $\pi_1$ ,  $\pi_2$  flat and with  $\tilde{g}_s : \mathcal{B}_s \to \mathcal{X}_s$  an unramified stable map to a K3 surface for all s, with  $\tilde{g}_0 = f$ . Further assume  $\hat{\mathcal{B}}_s \simeq \hat{B}$ . For any  $s \in S$ , we have open subsets  $U_s \subseteq \mathcal{B}_s, V_s \subseteq \hat{B}$  with the stabilization map inducing isomorphisms  $U_s \simeq V_s$  and such that  $\hat{B} \setminus V_s$  has zero-dimensional support. By assumption 6,  $C \subseteq V_0$ , and thus for s near 0,  $C \subseteq V_s \simeq U_s$ . Thus, after performing a finite base change about  $0 \in S$ , there exists an irreducible component  $\mathcal{C} \subseteq \mathcal{B}$ , such that  $\mathcal{C}_s \simeq C$ , for all s near 0. We have a commutative diagram



where  $\pi_{1|c}$  is flat and  $h \coloneqq \tilde{g}_{|c}$ . Since  $h_0 = j$ , assumption 3 gives  $\mathcal{X}_s \simeq X$  and  $h_s = j$  for all s. In particular,  $\tilde{g}_s$  is a one-dimensional family of unramified morphisms into a *fixed* K3 surface. From assumption 5, the fact that rational curves on a K3 surface are rigid and since  $\tilde{g}_s$  is unramified, we conclude that  $\mathcal{B}_s \simeq B$  and  $\tilde{g}_s : B \to X$  is independent of s. Thus  $\eta^{-1}(\hat{B})$  is zero-dimensional near  $[(f : B \to X, L)]$ . Hence there exists a component  $I \subseteq \mathcal{T}_{g,k}^n$  such that  $\eta_{|I|}$  is generically finite and  $[(f : B \to X, L)]$  lies in the closure of  $I \subseteq \mathcal{W}_{g,k}^n$ . Since  $\tilde{C}$  is non-trigonal, the stabilization  $\hat{B}$  must lie outside the image of

$$\overline{\mathcal{H}}_{3,p(g,k)-n} \to \overline{\mathcal{M}}_{p(g,k)-n}$$

Thus, for the general  $[f': B' \to X'] \in I, B'$  is non-trigonal.

We will apply the above criterion to prove generic finiteness of  $\eta$  on one component, for various bounds on p(g,k) - n. We first consider the case k = 1. To begin, we will need an easy lemma. Let  $p > h \ge 8$  be integers, and let l, m be nonnegative integers with

$$p-h = \left\lfloor \frac{h+1}{2} \right\rfloor l + m$$

and  $0 \le m < \left\lfloor \frac{h+1}{2} \right\rfloor$ . Define:

$$s_1 \coloneqq \begin{cases} p-h-1, & \text{if } m = 0 \text{ or } m = \left\lfloor \frac{h+1}{2} \right\rfloor - 1 \\ p-h+1, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Let  $P_{p,h}$  be the rank three lattice generated by elements  $\{M, R_1, R_2\}$  and with intersection form given with respect to this ordered basis by:

$$\left(\begin{array}{rrrr} 2h-2 & s_1 & 3\\ s_1 & -2 & 0\\ 3 & 0 & -2 \end{array}\right).$$

The lattice  $P_{p,h}$  is even of signature (1,2).

**Lemma 4.1.3.** Let  $p > h \ge 8$ . There exists a K3 surface  $S_{p,h}$  with  $Pic(S_{p,h}) \simeq P_{p,h}$  as above such that the classes  $M, R_1, R_2$  are each represented by integral curves and with M very ample. If h is odd and at least 11, then for  $D \in |M|$  general the fibre of  $\eta : \mathcal{T}_h^0 \to \mathcal{M}_h$  is zero-dimensional at  $[(i: D \hookrightarrow S_{p,h}, M)]$  and D is non-trigonal. Furthermore, any divisor of the form  $-xM + yR_1 + zR_2$  for integers x, y, z with x > 0 is not effective.

Proof. Consider the K3 surface  $Y_{\Omega_h}$  from Lemma 3.2.6. We choose  $d_1 := (L \cdot \Gamma_1)$  to be m + 1 if  $0 < m < \lfloor \frac{h+1}{2} \rfloor - 1$  and  $d_1 = \lfloor \frac{h+1}{2} \rfloor - 1$  if m = 0 and  $d_1 = \lfloor \frac{h+1}{2} \rfloor - 2$  if  $m = \lfloor \frac{h+1}{2} \rfloor - 1$ . Further set  $d_2 = 3$  and let all other  $d_i$  be arbitrary integers in the range  $1 \le d_i < \lfloor \frac{h+1}{2} \rfloor$ . We define a primitive embedding  $j : P_{p,h} \leftrightarrow \Omega_h$  as follows. If m = 0 (so that  $l \ge 1$  as p > h), we define the embedding via  $M \mapsto L$ ,  $R_1 \mapsto (l-1)E + \Gamma_1$ ,  $R_2 \mapsto \Gamma_2$ . If  $m \neq 0$  we define the embedding via  $M \mapsto L$ ,  $R_1 \mapsto lE + \Gamma_1$ ,  $R_2 \mapsto \Gamma_2$ . Let  $M_{P_{p,h}}$  be the moduli space of ample,  $P_{p,h}$ -polarised K3 surfaces, [42, Def. p.1602]. The moduli space  $M_{P_{p,h}}$  has dimension 17 = 19 - 2, [42, Prop. 2.1]. Let  $M_1$  be a component containing the ample,  $P_{p,h}$ -polarised K3 surface  $[Y_{\Omega_h}]$ . Then the general point of  $M_1$  represents a projective K3 surface  $S_{p,h}$  with Pic( $S_{p,h}$ )  $\simeq P_{p,h}$ , [107, Cor. 1.9, Cor. 2.9]. Further,  $M, R_2$  are each represented by integral curves and M is very ample by Lemmas 3.2.6 and 3.2.8. If h is odd and at least 11, the statement about the fibres of  $\eta$  follows from Corollary 3.3.6 by semicontinuity, and the non-trigonality follows from Lemma 3.3.1.

We now claim that any divisor of the form  $-xM + yR_1 + zR_2$  for integers x, y, z with x > 0 is not effective. By degenerating  $S_{p,h}$  to  $Y_{\Omega_h}$  as above, it suffices to show that  $-xL + yj(R_1) + z\Gamma_2 \in \operatorname{Pic}(Y_{\Omega_h})$  is not effective. But this is clear, since the rank ten lattice  $\operatorname{Pic}(Y_{\Omega_h})$  contains the class of a smooth, integral, elliptic curve E with  $(E \cdot -xL + yj(R_1) + z\Gamma_2) = -x(E \cdot L) < 0$ .

The -2 class  $R_1$  is effective since  $(R_1)^2 = -2$ ,  $(R_1 \cdot M) > 0$ . It remains to show that  $R_1$  is integral. Let D be any integral component of  $R_1$  with  $(D)^2 = -2$ ,  $(D \cdot R_1) < 0$ . Writing  $D = xM + yR_1 + zR_2$  we see that x = 0 (as  $R_1 - D$  is effective). Thus  $(D \cdot R_1) < 0$  implies y > 0 and  $-2 = (D)^2 = -2(y^2 + z^2)$  forces z = 0; thus  $D = R_1$  is integral.

**Theorem 4.1.4.** Assume  $g \ge 11$ ,  $n \ge 0$ , and let  $0 \le r(g) \le 5$  be the unique integer such that

$$g-11 = \left\lfloor \frac{g-11}{6} \right\rfloor 6 + r(g)$$

Define

- $l_g := 12$ , if r(g) = 0.
- $l_g := 13$ , if  $1 \le r(g) < 5$ .
- $l_g := 15 \ if \ r(g) = 5.$

Then there is a component  $I \subseteq \mathcal{T}_q^n$  such that

$$\eta_{|_I}: I \to \mathcal{M}_{g-n}$$

is generically finite for  $g - n \ge l_q$ . For the general  $[f': B' \to X'] \in I$ , B' is non-trigonal.

Proof. From Lemma 4.1.1 it suffices to prove the result for the maximal value of n. Assume  $g - n = l_g$  if  $r(g) \neq 0$  and for g - n = 15 if r(g) = 0. Set p = g, h = 11 and consider the lattice  $P_{g,11}$  and K3 surface  $S_{g,11}$  from Lemma 4.1.3. Set  $\epsilon = 1$  if r(g) = 0 or r(g) = 5 and  $\epsilon = 0$  otherwise. Then  $(M + R_1 + \epsilon R_2)^2 = 2g - 2$  and  $M + R_1 + \epsilon R_2$  is ample. Let  $D \in |M|$  be general and consider the curve  $D_1 = D \cup R_1 \cup \epsilon R_2$  where all intersections are transversal. Choose any subset of  $s_1 - 3$  distinct points of  $D \cap R_1$  and let  $f : B \to D_1$  be the partial normalization at the chosen points. Then B has arithmetic genus  $l_g$  if  $r(g) \neq 0$  and genus 15 if r(g) = 0. Further, f satisfies the conditions of Proposition 4.1.2. Then there is a component  $I \subseteq \mathcal{T}_q^n$  such that

$$\eta_{|_I}: I \to \mathcal{M}_{g-n}$$

is generically finite for  $g - n \ge l_g$  if  $r(g) \ne 0$  and for  $g - n \ge 15$  if r(g) = 0. For the general  $[f': B' \rightarrow X'] \in I$ , B' is non-trigonal.

We now wish to improve the bound in the case r(g) = 0. Recall from Section 3.2 the lattice  $\Omega_{11}$  with ordered basis  $\{L, E, \Gamma_1, \ldots, \Gamma_8\}$ . Thus the general  $C \in |L|$  is a smooth, genus 11 curve and  $(L \cdot E) = 6$ . Note that  $\widetilde{\Gamma}_i \sim L - E$  is a class satisfying  $(\widetilde{\Gamma}_i)^2 = -2$ ,  $(\widetilde{\Gamma}_i \cdot E) = 0$ ,  $(\widetilde{\Gamma}_i \cdot \Gamma_i) = 2$ . From Lemma 3.2.6,  $\widetilde{\Gamma}_i$  is represented by an integral class. Further  $\widetilde{\Gamma}_i + \Gamma_i$  is an  $I_2$  singular fibre of |E| for any  $i \geq 3$ . We will denote by  $x_i$  and  $y_i$  the two nodes of  $\widetilde{\Gamma}_i + \Gamma_i$ .

Set  $m := \lfloor \frac{g-11}{6} \rfloor$  and assume r(g) = 0. Consider the primitive, ample line bundle  $H := L + \lfloor \frac{g-11}{6} \rfloor E$ , which satisfies  $(H)^2 = 2g - 2$ . Let  $C \in |L|$  be a general smooth curve which meets  $\Gamma_1$  transversally. Let B be the union of C with 2m copies of  $\mathbb{P}^1$  as in the diagram below.



Thus  $B = C \cup R_{1,1} \cup R_{1,2} \ldots \cup R_{m,1} \cup R_{m,2}$ , where each  $R_{i,j}$  is smooth and rational, all intersections are transversal and described as follows for  $m \ge 2$ :  $R_{i,j} \cap C = \emptyset$  unless (i, j) =(1,1),  $R_{1,1}$  intersects C in one point, and  $R_{i,j}$  intersects  $R_{k,l}$  in at most one point, with intersections occuring if and only if, after swapping  $R_{i,j}$  and  $R_{k,l}$  if necessary, we have (i = kand l = j + 1),  $(k = i + 1 \text{ and } l \neq j)$  or ((i, j) = (1, 1) and (j, k) = (m, 2)). The arithmetic genus of B is 12. For m = 1,  $B = C \cup R_{1,1} \cup R_{1,2}$  where C intersects  $R_{1,1}$  transverally in one point and  $R_{1,1} \cap C = \emptyset$  and  $R_{1,1}$  integrees  $R_{1,2}$  transversally in two points.

There is then a unique unramified morphism  $f: B \to Y_{\Omega_{11}}$  such that  $f_{|_C}$  is a closed immersion,  $f_{|_{R_{i,1}}}$  is a closed immersion with image  $\Gamma_1$  and  $f_{|_{R_{i,2}}}$  is a closed immersion with image  $\widetilde{\Gamma_1}$ , for  $1 \le i \le m$  and where  $(f(p), f(q)) = (x_1, y_1)$ . Thus  $f_*B \in |H|$ . Note that the stabilization  $\hat{B}$  has two components, namely it is the union of C with a rational curve with one node. Thus the claim holds in the r = 0 case by Proposition 4.1.2, together with Lemma 2.3.4 and Corollary 3.3.6.

We now turn to the nonprimitive case.

**Lemma 4.1.5.** Let  $\Delta$  be an smooth, one-dimensional algebraic variety over  $\mathbb{C}$ , with  $0 \in \Delta$  a closed point. Let  $\mathcal{C} \to \Delta$  be a flat family of nodal curves, with general fibre integral and such that

$$\mathcal{C}_0 = B \cup \Gamma_1 \cup \ldots \cup \Gamma_k,$$

with B smooth and non-trigonal, and  $\Gamma_i$  smooth curves for  $1 \dots i \leq k$ , with all intersections transversal. Then if  $\tilde{C}_t$  is the normalization of  $C_t$ ,  $t \in \Delta$  general, then  $\tilde{C}_t$  is non-trigonal.

Proof. We go through the first steps of the usual stable reduction procedure, [9, §X.4]. Let  $\mu: \tilde{\mathcal{C}} \to \mathcal{C}$  be the normalization of the integral surface  $\mathcal{C}$ . Then  $\mu$  is finite and birational, and further is an isomorphism outside the preimage of singular points in the fibres of  $\mathcal{C}$ . Further,  $\tilde{\mathcal{C}} \to \Delta$  is a flat-family of curves by [101, Prop. 4.3.9]. As  $\tilde{\mathcal{C}}$  has isolated singularities,  $\tilde{\mathcal{C}}_t$  must be smooth for  $t \in \Delta$  general, and must be the normalization of  $\mathcal{C}_t$ , as  $\mu$  is finite
#### 4.1. THE MODULI MAP

and birational. Since  $\mu_0: \mathcal{C}_0 \to \mathcal{C}_0$  is finite, and an isomorphism outside singular points of  $\mathcal{C}_0$ , the components of  $\tilde{\mathcal{C}}_0$  are isomorphic to B,  $\Gamma_i$ . Further,  $\mu_0$  factors through the total normalization of  $\mathcal{C}_0$  (which equals the disjoint union of the components). This forces  $\tilde{\mathcal{C}}_0$  to itself be nodal. Further  $\tilde{\mathcal{C}}_0$  is connected, by taking a desingularization of the surface  $\tilde{\mathcal{C}}$  and applying [101, Thm. 8.3.16] followed by [101, Cor. 8.3.6]. Since B is smooth and non-trigonal, the stabilization of  $\tilde{\mathcal{C}}_0$  lies outside the image of  $\overline{\mathcal{H}}_{3,p}$ , where p is the arithmetic genus of  $\tilde{\mathcal{C}}_0$ . It follows that  $\tilde{\mathcal{C}}_t$  is non-trigonal.

**Lemma 4.1.6.** Let  $Z_a$  be a general K3 surface with Picard lattice  $\Lambda_a$  generated by elements  $D, F, \Gamma$  giving the intersection matrix

$$\left(\begin{array}{rrrr} 2a-2 & 6 & 1\\ 6 & 0 & 0\\ 1 & 0 & -2 \end{array}\right)$$

Assume that  $14 \le a \le 19$ . Then we may pick the basis such that D, F,  $\Gamma$  are all effective and represented by integral, smooth curves with D ample. Further, there is an unramified stable map  $f_a : B_a \to Z_a$ , birational onto its image, with  $B_a$  an integral, nodal curve of arithmetic genus 13 for  $14 \le a \le 15$  and 15 for  $16 \le a \le 19$ , such that  $f_{a*}(B_a) \in |D|$  and  $f_a$ satisfies the conditions of Proposition 4.1.2. Further, there is an integral, rational nodal curve  $F_0 \in |F|$  which meets  $f_a(B_a)$  transversally, and  $\Gamma$  meets  $f_a(B_a)$  transversally in one point.

*Proof.* Let  $M_{\Lambda_a}$  be the moduli space of pseudo-ample,  $\Lambda_a$ -polarised K3 surfaces, [42]. This has at most two components, which locally on the period domain are interchanged via complex conjugation. Consider the lattice  $\Omega_{11}$  with ordered basis  $\{L, E, \Gamma_1, \ldots, \Gamma_8\}$  and set  $d_8 = 1$ . For  $d_1, d_2 \ge 3$ , let H be the primitive, ample line bundle  $H = L + \Gamma_1 + \epsilon \Gamma_2$ , where  $\epsilon = 0$  for  $14 \le a \le 15$  and  $\epsilon = 1$  for  $16 \le a \le 19$ . Choose  $3 \le d_1, d_2 \le 5$  such that  $H^2 = 2a - 2$ ; it is easily checked that all six possibilities can be achieved. There is a primitive lattice embedding

$$\Lambda_a \hookrightarrow \Omega_{11}$$

defined by  $D \mapsto H$ ,  $\Gamma \mapsto \Gamma_8$ ,  $F \mapsto E$ .

Let  $Y_{\Omega_{11}}$  be any K3 surface with  $\operatorname{Pic}(Y_{\Omega_{11}}) \simeq \Omega_{11}$ , and choose the basis  $\{L, E, \Gamma_1, \ldots, \Gamma_8\}$ as in Lemma 3.2.6. Consider the curve  $C \cup \Gamma_1 \cup \epsilon \Gamma_2 \in |H|$ , where  $C \in |L|$  is a general smooth curve. By partially normalizing at all nodes other than three on  $C \cup \Gamma_1$  and three on  $C \cup \Gamma_2$ (for  $\epsilon \neq 0$ ), we construct an unramified stable map  $\overline{f}_a : \overline{B}_a \to Y_{\Omega_{11}}$  with  $\overline{f}_{a*}(\overline{B}_a) \sim H$  which is birational onto its image and satisfying the conditions of Proposition 4.1.2. Note that  $\overline{B}_a$  has arithmetic genus 13 for  $14 \leq a \leq 15$  and 15 for  $16 \leq a \leq 19$ . After deforming  $\overline{f}_a$  to an unramified stable map  $f_a : B_a \to Z_a$ , we find  $B_a$  must become integral, since it is easily checked that  $Z_a$  contains no smooth rational curves R with  $(R \cdot F) = (R \cdot \Gamma) = 0$ . Further, the normalization  $\tilde{B}_a$  is non-trigonal by Lemma 4.1.5. Thus the claim on  $f_a$  follows from the proof of Proposition 4.1.2. Note that the  $I_2$  fibre  $\Gamma_7 + \widetilde{\Gamma}_7$  must deform to an integral, nodal, rational curve on  $Z_a$ , since  $Z_a$  contains no smooth rational curves which avoid F and  $\Gamma$ . If  $\Omega_{11} \rightarrow \text{Pic}(Y_{\Omega_{11}})$  is the embedding as in Lemma 3.2.6, and if  $Y_{\Omega_{11}}^c$  is the conjugate K3 surface, then we obviously have an embedding  $\Omega_{11} \rightarrow \text{Pic}(Y_{\Omega_{11}}^c)$  satisfying the conclusions of Lemma 3.2.6. Thus the claim holds for the general pseudo-ample,  $\Lambda_a$ -polarised K3 surface  $Z_a$ .

Remark 4.1.7. In the notation of the above proof, we have  $h^0(N_{\bar{f}_a}) \leq p(\bar{B}_a)$  from Lemma 2.3.4. It thus follows that  $h^0(N_{f_a}) \leq p(B_a)$  by semicontinuity.

**Lemma 4.1.8.** Let  $1 \le d \le 5$  be an integer and consider the rank five lattice  $K_d$  with basis  $\{A, B, \Gamma_1, \Gamma_2, \Gamma_3\}$  giving the intersection matrix

Then  $K_d$  is an even lattice of signature (1,4). There exists a K3 surface  $Y_{K_d}$  with  $Pic(Y_{K_d}) \simeq K_d$ , and such that the classes  $\{A, B, \Gamma_1, \Gamma_2, \Gamma_3\}$  are all represented by nodal, reduced curves such that the nodal curve A meets  $\Gamma_1, \Gamma_2$  and  $\Gamma_3$  transversally. Further, A + B is big and nef.

*Proof.* Let  $Y_1, Y_2$  be smooth elliptic curves and consider the Kummer surface  $\widetilde{Z}$  associated to  $Y_1 \times Y_2$ . Let  $P_1, P_2, P_3, P_4$  be the four 2-torsion points of  $Y_1$  and let  $Q_1, Q_2, Q_3, Q_4$  be the 2-torsion points of  $Y_2$ . Let  $E_{i,j} \subseteq \widetilde{Z}$  denote the exceptional divisor over  $P_i \times Q_j$ , let  $T_i \subseteq \widetilde{Z}$  denote the strict transform of  $(P_i \times Y_2)/\pm$  and let  $S_j$  denote the strict transform of  $(Y_1 \times Q_j)/\pm$ . We also denote by F a smooth elliptic curve of the form  $x \times Y_2$ , where  $x \in Y_1$ is a non-torsion point. It may help the reader to consult the diagram on [106, p. 344], to see the configuration of these curves. We set

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{A} &\coloneqq S_1 + E_{1,1} + T_1 + E_{1,2} + S_2 + E_{1,3} + S_3 \\ \widetilde{B} &\coloneqq F + S_4 + E_{2,4} + T_2 + E_{2,1} + E_{2,2} + E_{2,3} \\ \widetilde{\Gamma}_1 &\coloneqq T_3 + E_{3,1} + E_{3,2} + E_{3,3} \\ \widetilde{\Gamma}_2 &\coloneqq T_2 + E_{2,1} + E_{2,2} \\ \widetilde{\Gamma}_3 &= \begin{cases} T_4 + \sum_{i=1}^d E_{4,i}, & \text{if } 1 \le d \le 3 \\ T_4 + \sum_{i=1}^d E_{4,i} + E_{4,4} + S_4 + E_{2,4} + T_2 + E_{2,1} + E_{2,2} + E_{2,3}, & \text{if } 4 \le d \le 5. \end{cases} \end{split}$$

Then  $\widetilde{A}$ ,  $\widetilde{B}$ ,  $\widetilde{\Gamma}_1, \widetilde{\Gamma}_2, \widetilde{\Gamma}_3$  generate  $K_d$  (to simplify the computations, use that a tree of -2 curves has self-intersection -2). To see that this gives a primitive embedding of  $K_d$  in

Pic $(\widetilde{Z})$  we compute the intersections with elements of Pic $(\widetilde{Z})$ ; for  $J \in Pic(\widetilde{Z})$ , define  $(J \cdot K_d)$  to be the quintuple  $((J \cdot \widetilde{A}), (J \cdot \widetilde{B}), (J \cdot \widetilde{\Gamma}_1), (J \cdot \widetilde{\Gamma}_2), (J \cdot \widetilde{\Gamma}_3))$ . Then one computes  $(T_1 \cdot K_d) = (1, 0, 0, 0, 0), (T_3 \cdot K_d) = (0, 0, 1, 0, 0), (E_{4,1} \cdot K_d) = (1, 0, 0, 0, -1), (E_{2,4} \cdot K_d) = (0, 0, 0, 1, 0), (E_{2,3} \cdot K_d) = (1, -1, 0, 1, c)$ , where c is either 0 or -1, depending on d. Thus  $K_d$  is primitively embedded in Pic $(\widetilde{Z})$ . Further, all intersections of  $\widetilde{B}, \widetilde{\Gamma}_1, \widetilde{\Gamma}_2, \widetilde{\Gamma}_3$  with  $\widetilde{A}$  are transversal. Note that for any (rational) component  $R \subseteq \widetilde{A} + \widetilde{B}, (R \cdot \widetilde{A} + \widetilde{B}) \ge 0$ . Thus  $\widetilde{A} + \widetilde{B}$  is big and nef. Hence the claim holds by degenerating to  $\widetilde{Z}$ .

**Lemma 4.1.9.** Let  $1 \le d \le 5$  be an integer and consider the K3 surface  $Y_{K_d}$  from Lemma 4.1.8. Then the classes  $\{A, B, \Gamma_1, \Gamma_2, \Gamma_3\}$  are all represented by integral curves.

*Proof.* We will firstly show that B is nef, and hence base point free. Indeed, there would otherwise exist an effective divisor  $R = xA + yB + z\Gamma_1 + w\Gamma_2 + u\Gamma_3$  for integers x, y, z, w, u, with  $(R)^2 = -2$  and  $(R \cdot B) < 0$ , i.e. x < 0. Thus R - xA is effective and  $(R - xA \cdot A) = (R - xA \cdot A + B) \ge 0$ , since A + B is nef. But then

$$-2 = (R)^{2} = ((R - xA) + xA)^{2}$$
$$= -2(z^{2} + w^{2} + u^{2} + x^{2}) + 2x(R - xA \cdot A)$$

So we must have z = w = u = 0, x = -1 and  $(R + A \cdot A) = 0$ . But then R = -A + yB and  $(R + A \cdot A) = 0$  gives y = 0. But this contradicts that A is effective.

We next show that each  $\Gamma_i$  is integral. Let R be any irreducible component of  $\Gamma_i$  with  $(R \cdot \Gamma_i) < 0$ ,  $(R)^2 = -2$  (such a component exists). Write  $R = xA + yB + z\Gamma_1 + w\Gamma_2 + u\Gamma_3$ . We have  $x \ge 0$  as  $(R \cdot B) \ge 0$ . Assume  $x \ne 0$ . Then  $(R \cdot R + B) > 0$ ,  $(R + B)^2 > 0$ , so that R + B is big and nef, contradicting that  $(R + B \cdot \Gamma_i) = (R \cdot \Gamma_i) < 0$ . Thus x = 0 and  $R = yB + z\Gamma_1 + w\Gamma_2 + u\Gamma_3$ . Since  $(R)^2 = -2$ ,  $(R \cdot \Gamma_i) < 0$ , we have  $R = yB + \Gamma_i$ . Since  $(R \cdot A + B) = (R \cdot A) \ge 0$ , we must have  $y \ge 0$  (for i = 3, we need here that d < 6). Since the only effective divisor in |R| is integral (and equal to R), we must have y = 0. Thus  $\Gamma_i = R$  is integral.

To show that A is integral, let  $R_1, \ldots, R_s$  be the components of the effective -2 curve A, and write  $R_i = x_iA + y_iB + z_i\Gamma_1 + w_i\Gamma_2 + u_i\Gamma_3$  for integers  $x_i, y_i, z_i, w_i, u_i$ . Intersecting with B shows we have  $x_i \ge 0$  for all i. Thus there is precisely one component, say  $R_1$  with  $x_1 \ne 0$  and further  $x_1 = 1$ . Now, choose a component  $R_i$  with  $(R_i)^2 = -2$ ,  $(R_i \cdot A) < 0$ . Firstly assume  $i \ne 1$ , so that  $x_i = 0$ . Intersecting with the integral curves  $\Gamma_j$ ,  $1 \le j \le 3$  (and noting  $R_i \ne \Gamma_j$  as  $(R_i \cdot A) < 0$ ), we have  $z_i, w_i, u_i \le 0$ . From  $(R_i)^2 = -2$ , we see  $R_i = y_i B - \Gamma_j$  for some  $1 \le j \le 3$ . Intersecting with A gives  $6y_i - k < 0$  for some  $1 \le k \le 5$ , and thus  $y_i \le 0$  which is a contradiction to the effectivity of  $R_i$ .

In the second case, assume  $(R_1)^2 = -2$ ,  $(R_1 \cdot A) < 0$ , with  $R_1 = A + y_1 B + z_1 \Gamma_1 + w_1 \Gamma_2 + u_1 \Gamma_3$ .

We compute

$$-2 = (R_1)^2$$
  
=  $((R_1 - A) + A)^2$   
=  $-2(y_1^2 + z_1^2 + w_1^2 + u_1^2 + 1) + 2((R_1 \cdot A) + 2)$   
=  $-2(y_1^2 + z_1^2 + w_1^2 + u_1^2) + 2((R_1 \cdot A) + 1).$ 

Thus we have either  $(R_1 \cdot A) = -2$  and  $R_1 = A + y_1 B$  or  $(R \cdot A) = -1$ ,  $R_1 = A + y_1 B \pm \Gamma_j$  for some  $1 \le j \le 3$ . In the first case,  $(A + y_1 B \cdot A) = -2$  implies  $y_1 = 0$  so  $A = R_1$  is integral. In the second case,  $(A + y_1 B \pm \Gamma_j \cdot A) = -1$  implies  $-1 = -2 + 6y_1 \pm k$ , for  $1 \le k = (A \cdot \Gamma_j) \le 5$ . The only possibilities are  $y_1 = 0$ , k = 1,  $R_1 = A + \Gamma_j$ , contradicting that all effective divisors in  $|R_1|$  are integral, or  $y_1 = 1$ , k = 5,  $R_1 = A + B - \Gamma_j$ . Since  $(B - \Gamma_i)^2 = -2$ ,  $(B - \Gamma_j \cdot A + B) > 0$ , we have that  $B - \Gamma_j$  is effective, so once again this contradicts that all effective divisors in  $|R_1|$  are integral.

**Lemma 4.1.10.** Let  $M_{\Lambda_a}$  denote the moduli space of pseudo-ample  $\Lambda_a$ -polarised K3 surfaces, with the lattice  $\Lambda_a$  as in Lemma 4.1.6, for  $14 \le a \le 19$ . Then there is a nonempty open subset  $U \subseteq M_{\Lambda_a}$  such that for  $[Y_a] \in U$  we may pick the basis  $\{D, F, \Gamma\}$  such that there is an integral, nodal, rational curve  $R_a \in |D - 2F - \Gamma|$  such that  $R_a$  meets  $\Gamma$  transversally in three points.

*Proof.* Set y := a - 14, so that  $0 \le y \le 5$  by assumption. If we change the basis of  $\Lambda_a$  to  $\{D - 2F - \Gamma, F, \Gamma\} = \{X, Y, Z\}$ , we see  $\Lambda_a$  is isometric to the lattice  $\overline{\Lambda}_a$  with intersection matrix

$$\left(\begin{array}{rrrr} 2y-2 & 6 & 3\\ 6 & 0 & 0\\ 3 & 0 & -2 \end{array}\right).$$

Let  $K_d$  be the lattice from Lemma 4.1.8. For appropriate choices of d there is a primitive lattice embedding  $\bar{\Lambda}_a \hookrightarrow K_d$ , given by

$$X \mapsto A + \epsilon_1 \Gamma_3 + \epsilon_2 \Gamma_2$$
$$Y \mapsto B$$
$$Z \mapsto \Gamma_1$$

where if a = 14 we set  $\epsilon_1 = \epsilon_2 = 0$  and d arbitrary, if  $15 \le a < 19$  we set d = y + 1,  $\epsilon_1 = 1$ ,  $\epsilon_2 = 0$ and if a = 19 we set d = 5 and  $\epsilon_1 = \epsilon_2 = 1$ . By Lemmas 4.1.8, 4.1.9, we have that  $A, \Gamma_2, \Gamma_3$ are represented by smooth rational curves intersecting transversally on  $Y_{K_d}$ . In all cases, the divisor D = X + 2Y + Z is big and nef, since if  $R \in \{\Gamma_1, \epsilon_1\Gamma_3, \epsilon_2\Gamma_2, A\}$ ,  $(R \cdot D) \ge 0$ . By partially normalising nodes we may produce an unramified, stable map  $f : \tilde{C} \to Y_{K_d}$ , where  $\tilde{C}$  is a genus zero union of smooth rational curves and  $f(\tilde{C}) = A + \epsilon_1\Gamma_3 + \epsilon_2\Gamma_2$ . By [96, §2, Rem. 3.1], we may deform f horizontally to a stable map with target a small deformation

#### 4.1. THE MODULI MAP

of  $Y_{K_d}$  in the moduli space of  $\Lambda_a$ -polarised K3 surfaces (also cf. Proposition 2.3.3). Thus, after deforming  $Y_{K_d}$  to a K3 surface  $Y_a$  with  $\operatorname{Pic}(Y_a) \simeq \Lambda_a$ , we can deform  $A + \epsilon_1 \Gamma_3 + \epsilon_2 \Gamma_2$ to a nodal rational curve  $\bar{R}_a$  which meets  $\Gamma$  transversally in three points. Furthermore,  $\bar{R}_a$ is integral, since  $\Lambda_a$  contains no -2 curves which have zero intersection with  $F, \Gamma$ .  $\Box$ 

**Theorem 4.1.11.** Assume  $k \ge 2$ ,  $g \ge 8$ . Set  $m := \lfloor \frac{g-5}{6} \rfloor$  and let  $0 \le r(g) \le 5$  be the unique integer such that

$$g-5=6m+r(g)$$

Define:

- $l_g := 15$ , if r(g) = 3, 4, m odd and/or k even.
- $l_q := 16$ , if r(q) = 3, 4, m even and k odd.
- $l_q := 17$ , if r(g) = 5, m odd and/or k even.
- $l_q := 18$ , if r(g) = 5, m even and k odd.
- $l_q := 17$ , if  $r(g) \le 2$ , m even and/or k even.
- $l_q \coloneqq 18$ , if  $r(g) \le 2$ , m odd and k odd.

Then there is a component  $I \subseteq \mathcal{T}_{q,k}^n$  such that

$$\eta_{|_I}: I \to \mathcal{M}_{p(g,k)-n}$$

is generically finite for  $p(g,k) - n \ge l_q$ . For the general  $[f': B' \to X'] \in I, B'$  is non-trigonal.

*Proof.* Consider the  $\Lambda_a$ -polarised K3 surface  $Y_a$  from Lemma 4.1.10 and let  $\{D, F, \Gamma\}$  be as in the lemma. Set  $m \coloneqq \left|\frac{g-5}{6}\right| \ge 0$  and

$$m' = \begin{cases} m-1 & \text{if } r(g) \ge 3\\ m-2 & \text{if } r(g) \le 2. \end{cases}$$

We have  $m' \ge -1$  for  $g \ge 8$ . Consider the primitive, ample line bundle H = D + m'F. We choose

$$a = \begin{cases} 11 + r(g) & \text{if } r(g) \ge 3\\ 17 + r(g) & \text{if } r(g) \le 2. \end{cases}$$

Then  $(H)^2 = 2g - 2$  for  $g \ge 8$ . Let  $f_a : B_a \to Y_a$  resp.  $R_a$  be the unramified stable map, resp. rational curve from lemmas 4.1.6 resp. 4.1.10. Set l = km' + 2(k-1) which is nonnegative for  $k \ge 2$ . We have an effective decomposition

$$kH \sim f_a(B_a) + (k-1)R_a + (k-1)\Gamma + lF_0,$$

where  $F_0 \in |F|$  is an integral, nodal rational curve as in lemma 4.1.6. We will prove the result by constructing an unramified stable map  $f: B \to Y_a$  with  $f_*(B) = f_a(B_a) + (k-1)R_a + (k-1)\Gamma + lF_0$  satisfying the conditions of Proposition 4.1.2.

Assume firstly m' is even and/or k is even, so l is even, and set s = l/2. Let  $\mathbb{P}^1 \to F_0$  be the normalization morphism and let p, q be the points over the node. Let x be the point of intersection of  $f_a(B_a)$  and  $\Gamma$  and let y, z be distinct points in  $\Gamma \cap R_a$ . We may pick the points to ensure  $y \neq x, z \neq x$ . Define B as the union of  $B_a$  with l + 2(k-1) copies of  $\mathbb{P}^1$  and with transversal intersections as in the following diagram:



Then there is a unique unramified morphism  $f: B \to Y_a$  with  $f_*(B) = f_a(B_a) + (k-1)R_a + (k-1)\Gamma + lF_0$  which restricts to the normalization  $\mathbb{P}^1 \to R_a$  on all components marked  $R_{a,i}$ , restricts to  $f_a$  on  $B_a$ , sends all components marked  $F_{i,j}$  to  $F_0$ , all components marked  $\Gamma_i$  to  $\Gamma$  and which takes points marked x (resp. y, z, p, q) to x (resp. y, z, p, q).

We now claim that if  $B_0 \subseteq B$  is a connected union of components containing  $R_{a,k-1}$  with  $f_*(B_0) \in |nH|$  then n = k and  $B_0 = B$ . If  $c_1D + c_2F + c_3\Gamma$  is a divisor linearly equivalent to nH, then intersecting with F shows  $c_1 = n$ . Now  $R_a \in |D-2F-\Gamma|$ , whereas H = D + (m-1)F for  $m \ge 0$ . Thus  $f_*(B_0) \in |nH|$  shows that the connected curve  $B_0$  cannot coincide with the component  $R_{a,k-1}$ , and thus must also contain  $\Gamma_{k-1}$ . Repeating this argument, one sees readily that  $B_0$  must contain  $\sum_{i=1}^{k-1} (\Gamma_i + R_{a,i}) + B_a$ . We then get n = k as required, which forces  $B_0 = B$ .

Using Remarks 2.3.5 and 4.1.7, one sees  $h^0(N_f) \leq p(B)$ . For any component  $C \neq B_a \subseteq B$ , f(C) meets  $f(B_a)$  properly. Thus it follows from Proposition 2.3.9 that the conditions of Proposition 4.1.2 are met. Note that the arithmetic genus of B is  $l_q$ .

Now assume m' is odd and k is odd. Let  $a, b, c \in f_a(B_a) \cap F_0$  be distinct points. Let B

#### 4.1. THE MODULI MAP

be as in the diagram below.



Then as before there is an unramified morphism  $f: B \to Y_a$  with  $f_*(B) = f_a(B_a) + (k-1)R_a + (k-1)\Gamma + lF_0$  satisfying the conditions of Proposition 4.1.2, and B has arithmetic genus  $l_g$ .

The following lemma will be needed for Theorem 6.1.11.

**Lemma 4.1.12.** Assume p(g,k) and n are such that there is a component  $I \subseteq \mathcal{T}_{g,k}^n$  such that the morphism  $\eta_{|I} : I \to \mathcal{M}_{p(g,k)-n}$  is generically finite. Then for the general  $[(f : B \to X, L)] \in I$ , we have

$$H^0(B, f^*(T_X)) = 0.$$

*Proof.* Let  $T_{g,k}^n(X,L)$  denote the fibre of  $\mathcal{T}_{g,k}^n \to \mathcal{B}_g$  over [(X,L)]. The finiteness of  $\eta_{|I|}$  at  $[(f:B \to X,L)]$  obviously implies that the morphism

$$r_{n,k} : T^n_{g,k}(X,L) \to \mathcal{M}_{p(g,k)-n}$$
$$[f:B \to X] \mapsto [B]$$

is finite near [f]. The claim  $H^0(B, f^*(T_X)) = 0$  then follows from the exact sequence of sheaves on B

$$0 \to T_B \to f^*(T_X) \to N_f \to 0$$

and the fact that the coboundary morphism  $H^0(B, N_f) \to H^1(B, T_B)$  corresponds to the differential of  $r_{n,k}$ .

## Chapter 5

# Chow groups and Nikulin involutions

Let X be a projective K3 surface and let  $f : X \to X$  be a Nikulin involution; i.e. an automorphism of order two with  $f^*\omega = \omega$  for all  $\omega \in H^{2,0}(X)$  (or, equivalently,  $f^*$  acts trivially on the transcendental lattice T(X)). Then the Bloch–Beilinson conjectures imply in particular the following conjecture

**Conjecture 5.0.13.**  $f^*$  acts as the identity on the Chow group  $CH^2(X)$  of zero-cycles on X.

In this chapter we will show that if the genus of X is odd then this conjecture holds on one component of the moduli space of K3 surfaces with a Nikulin involution.

To explain this, we first need to outline the construction of the moduli spaces of K3 surfaces admitting a Nikulin involution, taken from [133]. This is explained in detail in Section 5.1. Of particular importance will be special elliptic K3 surfaces with a Nikulin involution which lie in the boundary on one component of the moduli space. These elliptic K3 surfaces have already appeared as Example 3 in Section 3.1, where they were constructed via the Weierstrass equation and denoted  $X_{(2),8A_1}$ . In Section 5.2 we use stable maps to deform to  $X_{(2),8A_1}$  and thereby conclude that Conjecture 5.0.13 holds on one component of the moduli space of K3 surfaces admitting a Nikulin involution.

## 5.1 Moduli spaces of K3 surfaces admitting a Nikulin involution

We begin with some lattice theory from [133]. Consider the lattice

$$\Phi_g \coloneqq \mathbb{Z}L \oplus E_8(-2),$$

where  $L^2 = 2g-2$ ,  $g \ge 3$ . If g is odd, then there is a unique lattice  $\Upsilon_g$  which is an over lattice of  $\Phi_g$  with  $\Upsilon_g/\Phi_g \simeq \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$  and such that  $E_8(-2)$  is a primitive sublattice of  $\Upsilon_g$  and L is primitve in  $\Upsilon_g$ . Equivalently,  $\Upsilon_g$  is the lattice generated by  $\Phi_g$  and the element L/2 + v/2, where  $v \in E_8(-2)$  is a nonzero element with

$$v^2 \equiv 4\epsilon$$
 (8).

with  $\epsilon \coloneqq 0$  if  $g \equiv 1$  (4) and  $\epsilon \coloneqq 1$  of  $g \equiv 3$  (4).

There is an involution  $j : \Phi_g \to \Phi_g$  which acts at 1 on  $\mathbb{Z}L$  and -1 on  $E_8(-2)$ . This extends to an involution  $j : \Upsilon_g \to \Upsilon_g$ . The following is due to Nikulin [114] and van Geemen–Sarti [133, §2].

**Theorem 5.1.1.** Let  $\Lambda$  be either of the lattices  $\Phi_g$  or  $\Upsilon_g$ . Let X be a K3 surface with a primitive embedding  $\Lambda \hookrightarrow Pic(X)$  such that L is big and nef. Then X admits a Nikulin involution  $f: X \to X$  such that  $f_{|\Lambda}^* = j$  and  $f_{|\Lambda^{\perp}}^* = id$ , for  $\Lambda^{\perp} \subseteq H^2(X,\mathbb{Z})$ . Conversely, if Xadmits a Nikulin involution f then there is a primitive embedding  $\Lambda \hookrightarrow Pic(X)$  such that Lis big and nef, where  $\Lambda$  is either  $\Phi_g$  or  $\Upsilon_g$ , for some g. Further,  $f_{|\Lambda}^* = j$  and  $f_{|\Lambda^{\perp}}^* = id$ .

Notice that the conditions  $f_{|\Lambda}^* = j$  and  $f_{|\Lambda^{\perp}}^* = id$  uniquely determine the action of  $f^*$ on  $H^2(X,\mathbb{Z})$ , and thus they uniquely determine the involution f. If X admits a Nikulin involution f, then there may be several different lattices  $\Lambda \to \operatorname{Pic}(X)$  of type  $\Phi_g$  or  $\Upsilon_g$  with  $f_{|\Lambda}^* = j$  and  $f_{|\Lambda^{\perp}}^* = id$  (for instance, we will see later that  $X_{(2),8A_1}$  from Example 3 has this property). Different choices of primitive embeddings  $\Lambda \to \operatorname{Pic}(X)$  correspond to choosing different f-invariant polarisations L; in particular there is no choice if the Picard number of X is the minimal value nine.

To study deformations of K3 surfaces admitting a Nikulin involution, it suffices to consider the moduli space  $M_{\Lambda}$  of  $\Lambda$ -polarised K3 surfaces, where  $\Lambda$  is either of the lattices  $\Phi_g$  or  $\Upsilon_g$ , as in [42]. As  $\Lambda$  has rank nine,  $M_{\Lambda}$  is nonempty and has at most two irreducible components. In fact we have:

**Proposition 5.1.2.** Let  $\Lambda$  be either of the lattices  $\Phi_g$  or  $\Upsilon_g$  and let  $M_{\Lambda}$  be the moduli space of  $\Lambda$ -polarised K3 surfaces. Then  $M_{\Lambda}$  is irreducible.

*Proof.* From [42, Cor. 5.2] there is a primitive embedding  $\Lambda \hookrightarrow L_{K3}$ , unique up to isometry of  $L_{K3}$ , where  $L_{K3}$  is the K3 lattice. Consider the orthogonal  $\Lambda^{\perp} \subseteq L_{K3}$ . From [42, §5], it suffices to show that  $\Lambda^{\perp}$  admits the hyperbolic lattice U as an orthogonal summand.

We now mimic the proof of [133, Prop. 2.7]. We have  $L_{K3} \simeq U^3 \oplus E_8(-1)^2$ . There is a primitive embedding  $i: E_8(-2) \hookrightarrow E_8(-1)^2$  such that  $i(E_8(-2))$  is the set  $\{(x, -x) : x \in E_8(-1)\}$ . We may choose a basis R, F of U with  $(R)^2 = -2, (F)^2 = 0, (R \cdot F) = 1$ . Let  $U_i$  denote the *i*-th copy of U in  $U^3 \oplus E_8(-1)^2, i \leq 3$ . We have a primitive embedding  $\mathbb{Z}L \hookrightarrow U_1$  given by  $L \mapsto R + gF$ . Thus we have a primitive embedding  $\Phi_g \hookrightarrow L_{K3}$ , unique up to isometry, such that  $U_2 \oplus U_3$  is an orthogonal summand of  $\Phi_g^{\perp}$ . In particular,  $M_{\Lambda}$  is irreducible when  $\Lambda = \Phi_g$ . It remains to consider the case  $\Lambda = \Upsilon_g$ . Write g = 2n + 1 for  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Let  $\alpha \in E_8(-1)$ with  $\alpha^2 = -2$  if n is odd and  $\alpha^2 = -4$  is n is even. As before, identify  $E_8(-2)$  with  $\{(x, -x) : x \in E_8(-1)\}$  and let  $v = (\alpha, -\alpha) \in E_8(-2)$ . Let  $L = (2u, \alpha, \alpha) \in U_1 \oplus E_8(-1)^2$ where  $u = R + \frac{n+3}{2}F$  for n odd and  $u = R + \frac{n+4}{2}F$  for n even. Then  $\frac{1}{2}(L+v) = (u, \alpha, 0)$ , and the lattice generated by  $\frac{1}{2}(L+v)$ ,  $E_8(-2)$  is a primitive sublattice of  $U^3 \oplus E_8(-1)^2$ isomorphic to  $\Upsilon_g$ . Once again  $U_2 \oplus U_3$  is an orthogonal summand of  $\Upsilon_g^1$ , so in particular U is an orthogonal summand of  $\Upsilon_g^1$ , and  $M_{\Upsilon_g}$  is irreducible.

Let X be a K3 surface with a Nikulin involution  $f: X \to X$ . Then X has eight (reduced) fix points, see [73, Ch. 15]. Let  $G \simeq \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$  be the group of automorphisms generated by f. The quotient X/G has eight rational double point singularities over the fixed points. Let  $Y \to X/G$  be the minimal desingularisation; surfaces arising in this way are called *Nukulin* surfaces. Then Y is a projective K3 surface, and it contains eight disjoint rational curves over the nodes of X/G. Thus Y has Picard number at least nine. We define the *Nikulin lattice* to be the rank eight lattice  $\mathfrak{N}$  generated by  $e_1, \ldots, e_8$  together with  $\frac{1}{2}(e_1 + \ldots + e_8)$ , with  $(e_i)^2 = -2$  for all i and  $(e_i \cdot e_j) = 0$  if  $i \neq j, 1 \leq i, j \leq 8$ .

We now follow the lattice theory from [56] (see also [133, Prop. 2.7]). For arbitrary  $g' \ge 3$ , set

$$\Phi'_{a'} \coloneqq \mathbb{Z}M \oplus \mathfrak{N},$$

where  $(M)^2 = 2g' - 2$ . In the case where g' is odd, let  $\Upsilon'_{g'}$  be the rank nine lattice generated by  $\Phi'_{g'}$  together with the class  $\frac{1}{2}(M+v)$ , where  $v \in \mathfrak{N}$ ,  $\frac{v}{2} \notin \mathfrak{N}$  is a class with

- $(v)^2 \equiv 0$  (4)
- $(v \cdot e_i) \equiv 0$  (2) for all  $1 \le i \le 8$
- $(M)^2 + (v)^2 \equiv 0$  (8).

Note that the lattice  $\Upsilon'_{g'}$  does indeed exist and is unique up to isometry. Let  $\Lambda'$  be either of the lattices  $\Phi'_{g'}$  or  $\Upsilon'_{g'}$ , and let  $M_{\Lambda'}$  be the moduli space of  $\Lambda'$  polarised K3 surfaces, i.e. K3 surfaces Y with a primitive embedding  $\Lambda' \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Pic}(Y)$  such that M is big and nef.

**Proposition 5.1.3.** Suppose Y is a K3 surface with a primitive embedding  $\Lambda' \to Pic(Y)$ such that the elements  $e_i \in \mathfrak{N}$  are the classes of integral rational curves for  $1 \leq i \leq 8$ . Then  $\frac{1}{2}(e_1 + \ldots + e_8)$  defines a double cover  $\tilde{Y} \to Y$ , branched over  $e_1 + \ldots + e_8$ . The surface  $\tilde{Y}$  has eight disjoint -1-curves over the  $e_i$  and blowing these down produces a Nikulin K3 surface (X, f) such that Y is the minimal desingularisation of the quotient of X by f. The rational map  $X \to Y$  is the quotient by f.

*Proof.* See  $[56, \S1]$ .

So if Y is a K3 surface with a primitive embedding  $\Lambda' \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Pic}(Y)$  such that the elements  $e_i \in \mathfrak{N}$  are the classes of integral rational curves, then Y is the minimal desingularisation of a Nikulin surface (X, f). The next proposition relates  $\operatorname{Pic}(Y)$  to  $\operatorname{Pic}(X)$ .

**Proposition 5.1.4.** Let  $\Lambda$  be either of the lattices  $\Phi_g$  or  $\Upsilon_g$ . Let  $[X] \in M_{\Lambda}$  be a polarised K3 surface with corresponding Nikulin involution f, and let Y be the desingularisation of the quotient of X by f. Then  $[Y] \in M_{\Lambda'}$  where:

$$\begin{split} \Lambda' &= \Phi'_{\frac{g+1}{2}} \text{ if } g \text{ is odd and } \Lambda = \Upsilon_g \\ \Lambda' &= \Upsilon'_{2g-1} \text{ if } \Lambda = \Phi_g. \end{split}$$

*Proof.* See [56, Cor. 2.2].

Recall the elliptic K3 surface  $X_{(2),8A_1}$  from Example 3 and let  $f: X_{(2),8A_1} \to X_{(2),8A_1}$ be the Nikulin involution induced by translation by the section  $\tau$ . Let F denote the class of the generic elliptic fibre.

**Lemma 5.1.5.** Consider the f-invariant line bundle  $L = (e+1)F + \sigma + \tau$  on  $X_{(2),8A_1}$  for  $e \ge 1$ , where  $\sigma$ ,  $\tau$  denote the sections and F denote the class of the generic elliptic fibre. Then L is primitive. If  $e \ge 1$ , L is big and nef and if  $e \ge 2$  then L is ample.

Proof. Let N be an irreducible component of an  $I_2$  fibre. Then  $(N \cdot L) = 1$  which implies that L is primitive. We have  $(L)^2 = 4e > 0$ , for  $e \ge 1$ . Further L has non-negative intersection with all of its components, e.g.  $(L \cdot \sigma) = (L \cdot \tau) = e - 1 \ge 0$  for  $e \ge 1$ . Thus L is big and nef for  $e \ge 1$ . If  $e \ge 2$  and if C is a curve which dominates  $\mathbb{P}^1$  via the fibration, then  $(L \cdot C) > 0$ ; in particular this holds for the sections  $\sigma$ ,  $\tau$ . Further, if C is now an irreducible component of a fibre, then we again have  $(L \cdot C) > 0$ . Indeed, this is clear if  $C \simeq F$  is smooth elliptic and it further holds if C is a component of an  $I_2$  fibre, since such a component intersects either  $\sigma$  or  $\tau$  transversally in one point. It follows that L is ample for  $e \ge 2$ .

**Proposition 5.1.6.** Consider the *f*-invariant, primitive line bundle  $L = (e+1)F + \sigma + \tau$ on  $X_{(2),8A_1}$  for  $e \ge 1$ , where  $\sigma$ ,  $\tau$  denote the sections and F denotes the class of the generic elliptic fibre. Let  $\Lambda$  be the smallest primitive sublattice of  $Pic(X_{(2),8A_1})$  containing L and  $(H^2(X_{(2),8A_1},\mathbb{Z})^f)^{\perp} \simeq E_8(-2)$ . Then  $\Lambda \simeq \Upsilon_{2e+1}$ .

Proof. By definition

$$\Lambda = (\mathbb{Z}L \oplus (H^2(X_{(2),8A_1},\mathbb{Z})^f)^\perp) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q} \cap \operatorname{Pic}(X_{(2),8A_1}).$$

We have  $(L)^2 = 4e$ . From the proof of [133, Prop. 2.2], the fact that  $\Lambda$  is an even, rank 9 lattice of signature (1,8) which contains  $\mathbb{Z}L$  and  $E_8(-2)$  as primitive sublattices forces  $\Lambda \in \{\Phi_{2e+1}, \Upsilon_{2e+1}\}$ . So we have to show  $\Lambda \neq \Phi_{2e+1}$ .

Let  $Y_{(2),8A_1}$  be the minimal desingularisation of the quotient of  $X_{(2),8A_1}$  by f. Then  $Y_{(2),8A_1}$  is itself an elliptic K3 surface with 8 fibres of type  $I_1$  and 8 fibres of type  $I_2$ , where the configuration of the singular fibres is obtained by interchanging the  $I_1$  and  $I_2$  fibres of  $X_{(2),8A_1}$ , [133, §4]. Further the fixed points of f correspond to the 8 nodes of the  $I_1$  fibres of  $X_{(2),8A_1}$ . The quotient  $\pi: X_{(2),8A_1} \to Y_{(2),8A_1}$  is defined on an open subset containing

the sections  $\sigma, \tau$  and the general fibre F. Let  $\hat{\sigma}$  resp.  $\hat{F}$  denote the class of the (reduced) images  $\pi(\sigma)$  resp.  $\pi(F)$  in  $\operatorname{Pic}(Y_{(2),8A_1})$ . Set  $M = (e+1)\hat{F} + \hat{\sigma}$ . Then  $\pi^*(M) = L$  and the invariant line bundle L descends to a line bundle on the (singular) quotient  $X_{(2),8A_1}/G$  for  $G = \langle f \rangle$ .

Let  $X_t$  be a one-dimensional, flat family of  $\Lambda$ -polarised K3 surfaces specialising to  $X_0 = X_{(2),8A_1}$  and such that  $\operatorname{Pic}(X_t) \simeq \Lambda$  for  $t \neq 0$ . Let  $\hat{X}_t$  be the quotient of  $X_t$  by the Nikulin involution  $f_t$ , let  $Y_t \to \hat{X}_t$  be the minimal desingularisation, and let  $\pi_t : X_t \to Y_t$  be the quotient. Let  $L_t$  denote the image of  $L \in \Lambda \simeq \operatorname{Pic}(X_t)$ . For t close to zero and for a general divisor  $D_t \in |L_t|$ ,  $D_t$  avoids the fixed points of  $f_t$ , since this holds for t = 0. For t general we have a primitive embedding  $\operatorname{Pic}(Y_t) \to \operatorname{Pic}(Y_{(2),8A_1})$ , so the relation  $\pi_*(D_0) \simeq 2M$  gives a line bundle  $M_t := \frac{1}{2}\pi_*D_t \in \operatorname{Pic}(Y_t)$ . For t general and  $D'_t \in |M_t|$  general,  $D'_t$  does not meet the exceptional divisors of  $Y_t$ , as this holds for t = 0, and hence  $M_t$  descends to a line bundle on  $\hat{X}_t$ . We have  $L_t \simeq \pi^*M_t$ , from the fact that this relation holds for t = 0. Thus  $L_t$  descends to a line bundle on the quotient  $\hat{X}_t$  for t general. Since  $X_t$  has Picard number nine for  $t \neq 0$ , [133, Prop. 2.7] applies and shows that this is only possible in the case  $\Lambda = \Upsilon_{2e+1}$ .

### 5.2 The Bloch–Beilinson conjectures for Nikulin involutions

The starting point for our study of the action of Nikulin involutions on the Chow group of points on a K3 surface is the following proposition.

**Proposition 5.2.1.** Let  $f : X \to X$  be a symplectic automorphism of finite order on a projective K3 surface over  $\mathbb{C}$ . Assume there exists a dominating family of integral curves  $C_t \subseteq X$  of geometric genus one, such that for generic t the following two conditions are satisfied:

- 1.  $C_t$  avoids the fixed points of f.
- 2.  $C_t$  is invariant under f.

Then  $f^* = id$  on  $CH^2(X)$ .

Proof. The set of points  $Z_1$  of  $x \in X$  such that  $[x] = [f(x)] \in CH^2(X)$  is a countable union of closed subsets of X by [113, Lemma 3]. Thus it suffices to prove that if  $x \in X$  is general in the sense that x lies outside a countable union  $Z_2$  of proper closed subsets, then  $[x] = [f(x)] \in CH^2(X)$ . Indeed assume there exists such a  $Z_2 \neq X$  and and suppose for a contradiction that  $Z_1 \neq X$ . Then  $X = Z_1 \cup Z_2$  would be a countable union of proper closed subsets, which is impossible over  $k = \mathbb{C}$  (proof: restrict to a generic, very-ample divisor and use that  $\mathbb{C}$  is uncountable). It thus suffices to show that if  $C_t \subseteq X$  satisfies conditions 1. and 2. as above then  $[x] = [f(x)] \in CH^2(X)$  for all  $[x] \in C_t$ . Repeating the argument above, it suffices to show [x] = [f(x)] for  $x \in C_t$  generic (or even general). Assume  $C_t$  satisfies conditions 1. and 2. and let  $E \to C_t$  be the normalisation. Then  $f_{t|C_t} : C_t \to C_t$  is a finite automorphism. By the universal property of normalisation (see [101, §4.1.2]), this induces a finite automorphism  $\tilde{f} : E \to E$ . As  $f_{t|C_t}$  is fixed point free, so is  $\tilde{f}$ . Let G be the finite group of automorphisms of E generated by  $\tilde{f}$  and set D = E/G. By the Hurwitz formula, D is a smooth curve of genus one. We may choose origins for E, D, such that the projection  $\pi : E \to D$  is a morphism of elliptic curves. So we can view D as a quotient of  $E \simeq \operatorname{Pic}^0(E)$  by a finite group  $\Gamma \subseteq \operatorname{Pic}^0(E)$ . Thus two points over the fibre of  $\pi$  differ by an element of  $\Gamma$ . Hence  $\mathcal{O}_E(x - \tilde{f}(x))$  is a torsion line bundle for any  $x \in E$ . The composition  $E \to X$  of the normalisation morphism with  $C_t \to X$  induces a group homomorphism  $CH^1(E) \simeq \operatorname{Pic}(E) \to CH^2(X)$ . Thus if  $x \in C_t$  is a smooth point,  $[x - f(x)] \in CH^2(X)$  is a torsion element. Since  $CH^2(X)$  is torsion free by Roitman's theorem, see [136, Ch. 22], this forces [x - f(x)] = 0 as required.

Recall the elliptic K3 surface  $X_{(2),8A_1}$  from Example 3 and let  $f: X_{(2),8A_1} \to X_{(2),8A_1}$ be the Nikulin involution f induced by translation by the section  $\tau$ . Let  $L = (e+1)F + \sigma + \tau$ be the f-invariant line bundle on  $X_{(2),8A_1}$ , where  $\sigma$ ,  $\tau$  denote the sections and F denotes a generic elliptic fibre. We let N be an  $I_2$  fibre of  $X_{(2),8A_1}$ . As usual, let  $Y_{(2),8A_1}$  be the desingularisation of the quotient of  $X_{(2),8A_1}$  by f, and let  $\pi: X_{(2),8A_1} \to Y_{(2),8A_1}$  be the rational quotient map. Since  $N, F, \sigma$  and  $\tau$  avoid the fixed points, they lie in the domain of definition of  $\pi$ , so we may define  $\hat{N} \coloneqq \pi(N), \hat{F} \coloneqq \pi(F), \hat{\sigma} = \pi(\sigma) = \pi(\tau)$ . Note that  $\hat{N}$ is a fibre of type  $I_1$ , [133, §4]. Now consider the divisor

$$C \coloneqq eN + F + \sigma + \tau \in |L|$$

on  $X_{(2),8A_1}$ . This divisor is f-invariant and avoids the fixed points of f. Consider further the divisor

$$\hat{C} \coloneqq e\hat{N} + \hat{F} + \hat{\sigma} \in |M|$$

on  $Y_{(2),8A_1}$ , where  $M \coloneqq \mathcal{O}_{Y_{(2),8A_1}}((e+1)\hat{F} + \hat{\sigma})$ . As  $\hat{C}$  avoids the exceptional divisors of  $Y_{(2),8A_1}$ , we may treat it as a divisor of the singular quotient  $\hat{X}_{(2),8A_1}$  of  $X_{(2),8A_1}$  by f. We have  $\pi^*M \simeq L$  and  $\pi^{-1}(\hat{C}) = C$ .

From Prop 5.1.4, we know that there is a primitive embedding  $\Phi'_{e+1} \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Pic}(Y_{(2),8A_1})$ . In fact, M is perpendicular to the exceptional divisors and is primitive, since there is a component R of an  $I_2$  fibre with  $(R \cdot M) = 1$ . So we have a primitive embedding  $\mathbb{Z}M \oplus \mathfrak{N} \to \operatorname{Pic}(Y_{(2),8A_1})$  where  $\mathfrak{N}$  is the Nikulin lattice (the classes  $e_1, \ldots, e_8$  are sent to the eight components of  $I_2$  fibres which avoid  $\hat{\sigma}$ ). Note that if  $e \geq 2$ , then M is big and nef and  $3M - e_1 - \ldots - e_8$  is ample.

Lemma 5.2.2. There exists an unramified stable map

 $h: D \to Y_{(2),8A_1}$ 

with image contained in  $\hat{C}$  and  $h_*D \simeq M$  and such that

- Each component of D is smooth.
- D has arithmetic genus one.

*Proof.* Let D be the unique connected, nodal curve with components  $D_1, \ldots, D_{e+2}$  such that

$$D_1 \simeq \hat{F}, \ D_2 \simeq \hat{\sigma}, \ D_i \simeq \mathbb{P}^1 \text{ for } 3 \le i \le e+2$$

and such that  $D_l \cap D_{l+1} = \{p_l\}$  for some point  $p_l \in D$  with  $p_1 = \hat{F} \cap \hat{\sigma}$ , and  $D_l \cap D_m = \emptyset$  for  $m \ge l+2$ . The stable map h is defined to be the unique unramified morphism  $h: D \to Y_{(2),8A_1}$  with  $h(D) \subseteq \hat{C}$ ,  $h_*D \simeq M$  and such that  $h_{|D_1}$  is the closed immersion  $\hat{F} \hookrightarrow Y_{(2),8A_1}$ ,  $h_{|D_2}$  is the closed immersion  $\hat{\sigma} \hookrightarrow Y_{(2),8A_1}$  and  $h_{|D_i}$  is the normalisation  $\mathbb{P}^1 \to \hat{N}$ . This is illustrated in the diagram below (taken from [78]):



**Lemma 5.2.3.** Assume  $e \ge 2$ . Let T be a smooth, integral scheme of finite type over  $\mathbb{C}$  with distinguished point  $0 \in T$ . Let  $\mathcal{Y} \to T$  be a projective, flat-family of  $\Phi'_{e+1}$ -polarised K3 surfaces such that  $\mathcal{Y}_0 \simeq Y_{(2),8A_1}$  and

$$\Phi_{e+1}' \simeq Pic(\mathcal{Y}_t)$$

for  $t \neq 0 \in T$ . Assume that  $e_i \in Pic(\mathcal{Y}_t)$  are the classes of integral (-2)-curves for all  $t \in T$ ,  $1 \leq i \leq 8$ , and that the image of  $M \in \Phi'_{e+1}$  gives a big and nef class  $M_t \in Pic(\mathcal{Y}_t)$  for all t. For any  $t \in T$ , consider the Nikulin surface  $(\mathcal{X}_t, f_t)$  with quotient map  $\pi_t : \mathcal{X}_t \to \mathcal{Y}_t$  defined by  $\frac{1}{2}(e_1 + \ldots + e_8)$ . Then, there exists a smooth curve T' with a morphism  $T' \to T$ , dominant about the origin, such that the stable map  $h : D \to Y_{(2),8A_1}$  from the previous lemma deforms to a family of stable maps

$$h_t: D_t \to \mathcal{Y}_t$$

for  $t \in T'$ . Furthermore, for t general

•  $h_t$  is unramified and  $h_t(D_t)$  is an integral curve of geometric genus one which avoids the exceptional divisors on  $\mathcal{Y}_t$ .

•  $\pi_t^{-1}(h_t(D_t))$  is an integral, geometric genus one curve which is  $f_t$  invariant.

Proof. After replacing T by an étale base change, we may assume we have effective, T-relatively flat divisors  $E_i \in \operatorname{Pic}(\mathcal{Y})$  for  $1 \leq i \leq 8$  with  $E_{i,s} \simeq e_i \in \operatorname{Pic}(\mathcal{Y}_s)$ , and we may assume that  $\frac{1}{2}(E_1 + \ldots + E_8)$  is the class of a T-flat line bundle. We may further assume that we have a T-flat line bundle  $\mathcal{M} \in \operatorname{Pic}(\mathcal{Y})$  with  $\mathcal{M}_t \simeq \mathcal{M}_t$ . Then  $\frac{1}{2}(E_1 + \ldots + E_8)$  defines a flat family  $\mathcal{X} \to T$  of Nikulin surfaces, with quotient maps  $\pi_t : \mathcal{X}_t \to \mathcal{Y}_t$ .

From Proposition 2.3.3, the stable map  $h: D \to Y_{(2),8A_1}$  from the previous lemma deforms to a one-dimensional family of stable maps

$$h_t: D_t \to \mathcal{Y}_t$$

for  $t \in T'$ , where  $T' \to T$  is dominant about  $0 \in T$ . The curve  $D_t$  has arithmetic genus one and, for general  $t \in T$ ,  $h_t$  is unramified and  $h_t(D_t)$  does not meet the exceptional divisors. Thus we may consider  $h_{t*}(D_t)$  as a divisor on  $\hat{X}_t$ , where  $\hat{X}_t$  denotes the singular quotient of  $\mathcal{X}_t$  by  $f_t$ . Since we are assuming  $\Phi'_{e+1} \simeq \operatorname{Pic}(\mathcal{Y}_t)$  for  $t \neq 0 \in T$ , we have that  $\operatorname{Pic}(\hat{X}_t) \simeq \mathbb{Z}M_t$ , which implies that both  $D_t$  and  $h_t(D_t)$  are integral curves of geometric genus one, for  $t \neq 0$ general.

Now consider the curve  $\pi_t^{-1}(h_t(D_t)) \in \mathcal{X}_t$ . This lies in the unramified locus of  $\pi_t : \mathcal{X}_t \to \hat{X}_t$ , so there are two possibilities. In the first possibility, for general  $t, \pi_t^{-1}(h_t(D_t))$  is an integral, geometric genus one curve which is  $f_t$  invariant, and we are done. In the second case,  $\pi_t^{-1}(h_t(D_t))$  has two component  $C_{1,t}$  and  $C_{2,t}$  which are interchanged by  $f_t$  for t general. But then, if  $T^o \subseteq T'$  is an affine open subset about 0, there exists a finite and surjective base change  $S \to T^o$  such that  $C_{1,t}$  and  $C_{2,t}$  can be extended to deformations  $\mathcal{C}_1 \to S$  and  $\mathcal{C}_2 \to S$ , cf. [128, Tag 0551]. Further,  $C_{1,t}$  and  $C_{2,t}$  deform (over S) to connected subcurves  $C_1$  and  $C_2$  of

$$C = \pi^{-1}(\hat{C}) = eN + F + \sigma + \tau \subseteq X_{(2),8A_1},$$

with  $C_1 + C_2 = C$ . Without loss of generality, assume  $C_1$  contains F. Since  $C_{2,t} = f_t(C_{1,t})$ , this implies  $C_2$  contains  $F = f_t(F)$ , contradicting that F occurs with multiplicity one in C.

**Theorem 5.2.4.** Let X be a generic  $\Upsilon_{2e+1}$ -polarised K3 surface for any integer  $e \ge 2$ , and let f be the Nikulin involution on X corresponding to the embedding  $\Upsilon_{2e+1} \hookrightarrow Pic(X)$ . Then Conjecture 5.0.13 holds for  $f: X \to X$ .

Proof. Let Y be the desingularisation of the quotient  $\hat{X}$  of X by f and  $\pi : X \to \hat{X}$ the quotient map. As X is generic, by the previous lemma there exists an unramified stable map  $h': D \to Y$  such that D is integral of arithmetic genus one, h'(D) avoids the exceptional divisors and  $\pi^{-1}(h'(D))$  is integral (there exist projective families  $\mathcal{Y} \to T$  as in the lemma since  $3M - e_1 - \ldots - e_8 \in \operatorname{Pic}(Y_{(2),8A_1})$  is ample). Since  $h'_*D$  is primitive (as L is primitive on  $X_{(2),8A_1}$ ), h' must be birational to its image. From Proposition 2.3.3, there is a one-dimensional family of non-isomorphic stable maps

$$h'_t: D_t \to Y$$

to Y with  $h'_0 = h'$ . For t general, we have that  $h'_t$  is unramified and birational to its image, which implies that  $h'_t(D_t)$  cannot be constant for t, and thus  $h'_t(D_t)$  is a dominating family of integral elliptic curves on Y. For t general,  $h'_t(D_t)$  avoids the exceptional divisors of Y and  $\pi^{-1}(h'_t(D_t))$  is integral. Thus  $\pi^{-1}(h'_t(D_t))$  gives a dominating family of integral, elliptic (by Hurwitz) curves which are f-invariant and avoid the fixed points. Thus the claim follows from Proposition 5.2.1.

**Corollary 5.2.5.** Conjecture 5.0.13 holds for an arbitrary  $\Upsilon_{2e+1}$ -polarised K3 surface (X, f).

*Proof.* For e = 1, the result holds from [117], so assume  $e \ge 2$ . Let (X, f) be an arbitrary  $\Upsilon_{2e+1}$ -polarised K3 surface. Any closed point  $x \in X$  is a specialisation of points  $x_t \in \mathcal{X}_t$ , such that  $(\mathcal{X}_t, f_t)$  is a generic  $\Upsilon_{2e+1}$ -polarised K3 surface. As  $[x_t] = [f_t(x_t)] \in CH^2(\mathcal{X}_t)$  from Theorem 5.2.4, specialisation gives [x] = [f(x)], cf. [113, Lemma 3].

*Remark* 5.2.6. These results have been subsequently extended to cover *all* K3 surfaces admitting a Nikulin involution, see [139].

Remark 5.2.7. Any symplectic automorphism f of prime order on a K3 surface has order 2,3,5 or 7. The arguments given here can be extended to show that Conjecture 5.0.13 holds on certain components of the moduli space of pairs (X, f) of K3 surfaces with a symplectic automorphism of order p = 3,5 or 7, assuming the invariant polarisation L satsifies  $(L)^2 = 2ep$  for some integer e. See [78, §5]. Also see the follow-up paper [76], which proves the result in full generality (i.e. for arbitrary symplectic automorphisms of finite order) using derived categories.

## Chapter 6

## The marked Wahl map

Recall the following definition from [141]: let V be any smooth projective variety, and let R be a line bundle on V. Then there is a linear map, called the *Gaussian*:

$$\Phi_R : \bigwedge^2 H^0(V, R) \to H^0(V, \Omega_V(R^2))$$
$$s \wedge t \mapsto sdt - tds.$$

In the case  $R = \omega_V$ , this map is called the Wahl map. For V = C a smooth curve, and  $T \subseteq C$  a marking, we call  $\Phi_{\omega_C(-T)}$  the marked Wahl map. When  $T = \emptyset$ , the Wahl map  $\Phi_{\omega_C}$  was first studied in [140], where it appears in connection to the deformation theory of the cone over the curve C, embedded in projective space via the canonical line bundle. In particular, Wahl shows that  $\Phi_{\omega_C}$  is surjective for most complete intersection curves, but not for curves lying on a K3 surface (see also [12] for a simplified proof). This gave the first known obstruction for a curve to lie on a K3 surface. <sup>1</sup>

#### 6.1 The marked Wahl map

In this section we will use an approach inspired by [36] to study the marked Wahl map in the case where C is a smooth curve and  $T \neq \emptyset$ . We will be particularly interested in the case where C is the normalisation of a nodal curve lying on a K3 surface and T is the divisor over the nodes. In this case we will show that the non-surjectivity of  $\Phi_{\omega_C(-T)}$  gives an obstruction for a marked curve to have a nodal model on a K3 surface, in such a way that T is the (unordered) marking over the nodes.

We begin with the following lemma, which is a special case of [60, Lem. 3.3.1]:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Other obstructions have since been discovered, [112, §10], [134].

**Lemma 6.1.1.** Let  $x_1, \ldots, x_n, y_1, \ldots, y_m$  be distinct, generic points of  $\mathbb{P}^2$  and let d be a positive integer satisfying

$$3n + 6m < \frac{d^2 + 6d - 1}{4} - \left\lfloor \frac{d}{2} \right\rfloor.$$

Then there exists an integral curve  $C \subseteq \mathbb{P}^2$  of degree d with nodes at  $x_i$ , ordinary singular points of multiplicity 3 at  $y_j$  for  $1 \leq i \leq n$ ,  $1 \leq j \leq m$  and no other singularities.

Let  $C \subseteq \mathbb{P}^2$  be an integral curve of degree d with nodes at  $x_i$ , ordinary singular points of multiplicity three at  $y_j$  for  $1 \leq i \leq n, 1 \leq j \leq m$  and no other singularities, as in the lemma above. Let  $\pi : S \to \mathbb{P}^2$  be the blow-up at  $x_1, \ldots, x_n, y_1, \ldots, y_m$ , let  $E_X$  be the sum of the exceptional divisors over  $x_i$  for  $1 \leq i \leq n$  and let  $E_Y$  be the sum of the exceptional divisors over  $y_j$  for  $1 \leq j \leq m$ . Denote by D the strict transform of C, and let  $T \subseteq D$  be the marking  $E_X \cap D$ . Note that D is smooth, since all singularities are ordinary. Set

$$M = \mathcal{O}_S((d-3)H - 2E_X - 2E_Y),$$

where H denotes the pull-back of the hyperplane of  $\mathbb{P}^2$ . Note that

$$K_D \sim (D + K_S)_{|_D} \sim (dH - 2E_X - 3E_Y) + (E_X + E_Y - 3H),$$

and this gives

$$M_{\mid_D} \simeq K_D(-T).$$

We therefore have the following commutative diagram

where  $\Phi_M$  is the Gaussian, [141, §1] and  $W_{D,T}$  is the marked Wahl map of (D,T). Here g denotes the composition of the natural maps  $H^0(S, \Omega_S(M^2)) \to H^0(D, \Omega_S(M^2)_{|_D})$  and  $H^0(D, \Omega_S(M^2)_{|_D}) \to H^0(D, \Omega_D(M^2))$ . We aim to show that  $W_{D,T}$  is surjective. We will firstly show that g is surjective. The main tool we will need is the Hirschowitz criterion, [70]:

**Theorem 6.1.2** (Hirschowitz). Let  $p_1, \ldots, p_t$  be generic points in the plane, and assume  $m_1, \ldots, m_t, d$  are nonnegative integers satisfying

$$\sum_{i=1}^{t} \frac{m_i(m_i+1)}{2} < \left\lfloor \frac{(d+3)^2}{4} \right\rfloor.$$

Then  $H^1(\mathbb{P}^2, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(d) \otimes I_{p_1}^{m_1} \otimes \ldots \otimes I_{p_t}^{m_t}) = 0.$ 

**Lemma 6.1.3.** Assume  $d \ge 8$ ,  $3n+m < \left\lfloor \frac{(d-5)^2}{4} \right\rfloor$ . Then  $H^1(S, \Omega_S((d-6)H-2E_X-E_Y)) = 0$ .

*Proof.* The relative cotangent sequence twisted by  $(d-6)H - 2E_X - E_Y$  gives

$$0 \to \pi^* \Omega_{\mathbb{P}^2}((d-6)H - 2E_X - E_Y) \to \Omega_S((d-6)H - 2E_X - E_Y) \to \omega_{E_X}(2) \oplus \omega_{E_Y}(1) \to 0.$$

Thus it suffices to show

$$H^{1}(\mathbb{P}^{2}, \Omega_{\mathbb{P}^{2}}(d-6) \otimes I_{X}^{2} \otimes I_{Y}) = H^{1}(S, \pi^{*}\Omega_{\mathbb{P}^{2}}((d-6)H - 2E_{X} - E_{Y})) = 0$$

where  $I_X = I_{x_1} \otimes \ldots \otimes I_{x_n}$  and  $I_Y = I_{y_1} \otimes \ldots \otimes I_{y_m}$ . Twisting the Euler sequence by  $\omega_{\mathbb{P}^2}$  gives a short exact sequence

$$0 \to \omega_{\mathbb{P}^2} \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(-2)^{\oplus 3} \to \Omega_{\mathbb{P}^2} \to 0,$$

where we have used the standard identification

$$\Omega_{\mathbb{P}^2} \simeq T_{\mathbb{P}^2} \otimes \omega_{\mathbb{P}^2},$$

from [68, Ex. II.5.16(b)]. As  $H^2(\mathbb{P}^2, \omega_{\mathbb{P}^2}(d-6) \otimes I_X^2 \otimes I_Y) = 0$  for  $d \ge 7$ , it suffices to show  $H^1(\mathbb{P}^2, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(d-8) \otimes I_X^2 \otimes I_Y) = 0$ . This follows from Theorem 6.1.2 and the assumption  $d \ge 8, 3n + m < \lfloor \frac{(d-5)^2}{4} \rfloor$ .

**Lemma 6.1.4.** Let D be as above and assume  $3n + m < \lfloor \frac{(d-3)^2}{4} \rfloor$ . Assume further that  $m \ge 10$ , so that  $d \ge 10$ . Then

$$H^{1}(D, \mathcal{O}_{D}((d-6)H - 2E_{X} - E_{Y})) = 0.$$

*Proof.* We have an exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathcal{O}_S(-6H+2E_Y) \to \mathcal{O}_S((d-6)H-2E_X-E_Y) \to \mathcal{O}_D((d-6)H-2E_X-E_Y) \to 0.$$

By the Hirschowitz criterion,  $H^1(S, \mathcal{O}_S((d-6)H - 2E_X - E_Y)) = 0$ , as we are assuming  $d \ge 6$ ,  $3n + m < \lfloor \frac{(d-3)^2}{4} \rfloor$ . Thus it suffices to show  $H^2(S, \mathcal{O}_S(-6H + 2E_Y)) = 0$ . By Serre duality,  $h^2(S, \mathcal{O}_S(-6H + 2E_Y)) = h^0(S, \mathcal{O}_S(3H + E_X - E_Y))$ . We have

$$0 \to \mathcal{O}_S(3H - E_Y) \to \mathcal{O}_S(3H + E_X - E_Y) \to \mathcal{O}_{E_X}(-1) \to 0$$

and so it suffices to show  $H^0(S, \mathcal{O}_S(3H-E_Y)) = 0$ . But  $H^0(S, \mathcal{O}_S(3H-E_Y)) = H^0(\mathbb{P}^2, \mathcal{O}(3) \otimes I_Y) = 0$ , since  $m \ge 10$ , and any ten general points do not lie on any plane cubic (as the space of plane cubics has dimension nine).

**Corollary 6.1.5.** Let  $x_1, \ldots, x_n, y_1, \ldots, y_m$  be distinct, general points of  $\mathbb{P}^2$  with  $m \ge 10$ and let  $d \ge 21$  be a positive integer satisfying

$$3n+6m < \left\lfloor \frac{(d-5)^2}{4} \right\rfloor.$$

Let  $C \subseteq \mathbb{P}^2$  be an integral curve as in Lemma 6.1.1. Let  $S \to \mathbb{P}^2$  denote the blow-up of  $\mathbb{P}^2$ at  $x_1, \ldots, x_n, y_1, \ldots, y_m$ , and let  $D \subseteq S$  denote the strict transform of C. Then the map gfrom Diagram (6.1) is surjective.

*Proof.* Note that  $\left\lfloor \frac{(d-5)^2}{4} \right\rfloor < \frac{d^2+6d-1}{4} - \left\lfloor \frac{d}{2} \right\rfloor$  for  $d \ge 5$  so that such a curve C exists. Let M be the line bundle defined above Diagram (6.1). We have short exact sequences

$$0 \to \Omega_S((d-6)H - 2E_X - E_Y) \to \Omega_S(M^2) \to \Omega_S(M^2)|_D \to 0$$

and

$$0 \to \mathcal{O}_D((d-6)H - 2E_X - E_Y) \to \Omega_S(M^2)|_D \to \Omega_D(M^2) \to 0$$

The map f is the composition of the natural maps  $H^0(S, \Omega_S(M^2)) \to H^0(S, \Omega_S(M^2)|_D)$ and  $H^0(D, \Omega_S(M^2)|_D) \to H^0(D, \Omega_D(M^2))$ , so the claim follows from lemmas 6.1.3 and 6.1.4.

We now wish to show that the Gaussian  $\Phi_M$  from Diagram 6.1 is surjective. We start by recalling one construction of Gaussian maps from [141, §1]. Let X be a smooth, projective variety, and  $L \in \text{Pic}(X)$  a line bundle. Let  $Y \to X \times X$  be the blow-up of the diagonal  $\Delta$ , and let F denote the exceptional divisor. There is a short exact sequence of sheaves on  $X \times X$ 

$$0 \to I_{\Delta}^2 \to I_{\Delta} \to \Delta_* \Omega_X \to 0.$$

Twisting the above sequence by  $L \boxtimes L$  produces a short exact sequence

$$0 \to I^2_{\Delta}(L \boxtimes L) \to I_{\Delta}(L \boxtimes L) \to \Delta_*(\Omega_X(L^2)) \to 0$$

and upon taking cohomology we get a map

$$\widetilde{\Phi}_L: H^0(X \times X, I_\Delta(L \boxtimes L)) \to H^0(X, \Omega_X(L^2)).$$

Now  $H^0(X \times X, I_{\Delta}(L \boxtimes L))$  may be identified with the kernel  $\mathcal{R}(L, L)$  of the multiplication map  $H^0(X, L) \otimes H^0(X, L) \to H^0(X, L^2)$ , and we have  $\bigwedge^2 H^0(X, L) \subseteq \mathcal{R}(L, L)$  by sending  $s \wedge t$  to  $s \otimes t - t \otimes s$ . Further,  $\Phi_L$  is the restriction of  $\widetilde{\Phi}_L$  to  $\bigwedge^2 H^0(X, L)$ , and it is easily verified that both  $\Phi_L$  and  $\widetilde{\Phi}_L$  have the same image in  $H^0(X, \Omega_X(L^2))$ . Thus, to verify the surjectivity of  $\Phi_L$ , it suffices to show

$$H^{1}(X \times X, I^{2}_{\Delta}(L \boxtimes L)) = H^{1}(Y, L_{1} + L_{2} - 2F) = 0$$

where  $L_1$  and  $L_2$  denote the pull-backs of L via the projections  $pr_i: Y \to X \times X \to X$ , for i = 1, 2.

Following [34], [36], we now wish to use the Kawamata–Viehweg vanishing theorem to show  $H^1(Y, L_1 + L_2 - 2F) = 0$ .

**Proposition 6.1.6** ([34]). Let X be a smooth projective surface, which is not isomorphic to  $\mathbb{P}^2$ . Assume  $L \in Pic(X)$  is a line bundle such that there exist three very ample line bundles  $M_1, M_2, M_3$  with  $L - K_X \sim M_1 + M_2 + M_3$ . Then the Gaussian  $\Phi_L$  is surjective.

*Proof.* For a line bundle A on X, we denote by  $A_i \in \operatorname{Pic}(Y)$  the pullback via the projection  $pr_i: Y \to X \times X \to X$ , for i = 1, 2. By the above discussion, it suffices to show  $H^1(Y, L_1 + L_2 - 2F) = 0$ . As the diagonal  $\Delta \subseteq X \times X$  has codimension two, we have  $K_Y \simeq g^* K_X + F$ , [68, Exercise II.8.5]. Thus we see  $H^1(Y, L_1 + L_2 - 2F) = H^1(Y, (L - K_X)_1 + (L - K_X)_2 - 3F + K_Y)$ , and so by the Kawamata–Viehweg vanishing theorem it suffices to show  $(L - K_X)_1 + (L - K_X)_2 - 3F$  is big and nef. Since we have

$$(L - K_X)_1 + (L - K_X)_2 - 3F = (M_{1,1} + M_{1,2} - F) + (M_{2,1} + M_{2,2} - F) + (M_{3,1} + M_{3,2} - F),$$

it suffices to show that  $M_{i,1}+M_{i,2}-F$  is big and nef for  $1 \le i \le 3$ . Now  $H^0(Y, M_{i,1}+M_{i,2}-F)$ is the kernel  $\mathcal{R}(M_i, M_i)$  of the multiplication map  $H^0(X, M_i) \otimes H^0(X, M_i) \to H^0(X, M_i^2)$ , and we have an injective map  $\wedge^2 H^0(X, M_i) \hookrightarrow \mathcal{R}(M_i, M_i)$  sending  $s \land t$  to  $s \otimes t - t \otimes s$ . Thus  $\wedge^2 H^0(X, M_i)$  induces a sublinear system of  $|M_{i,1} + M_{i,2} - F|$  which induces a rational map

$$\psi_i : Y \to Gr(1, \mathbb{P}(H^0(M_i)^*))$$
$$(x, y) \mapsto \overline{\phi_i(x)\phi_i(y)}$$

where  $\phi_i : X \to \mathbb{P}(H^0(M_i)^*)$  is the embedding induced by  $M_i$ , and where  $\overline{\phi_i(x)\phi_i(y)}$ denotes the line through  $\phi_i(x)$  and  $\phi_i(y)$ . By viewing  $(x,y) \in F$  as a pair  $x \in X$ ,  $y \in T_{X,x}$ , one sees that the map  $\psi_i$  is in fact globally defined, and hence  $M_{i,1} + M_{i,2} - F$  is nef. To see that it is big, it suffices to show that  $\psi_i$  is generically finite, i.e. we need to show that there exist points  $x, y \in X$  such that  $\phi_i(X)$  does not contain the line  $\overline{\phi_i(x)\phi_i(y)}$ . But if this were not the case  $\phi_i(X)$  would be a linear space, contrary to the hypotheses.  $\Box$ 

We now return to the situation of the blown-up plane. We start with the following:

**Theorem 6.1.7** ([39]). Let  $p_1, \ldots, p_k$  be generic distinct points in the plane, and let  $\pi : S \to \mathbb{P}^2$  be the blow-up. Let  $E \subseteq S$  be the exceptional divisor, and let H be the pull-back of the hyperplane class on  $\mathbb{P}^2$ . If we assume  $d \ge 5$  and  $k + 6 \le \frac{(d+1)(d+2)}{2}$ , then dH - E is very ample on S.

Putting everything together, we deduce:

**Proposition 6.1.8.** Let  $x_1, \ldots, x_n, y_1, \ldots, y_m$  be distinct, generic points of  $\mathbb{P}^2$  with  $m \ge 10$ and let  $d \ge 24$  be a sufficiently large integer, so that both of the following two conditions are satisfied

1.  $3n + 6m < \left\lfloor \frac{(d-5)^2}{4} \right\rfloor$ , 2.  $n + m + 6 \le \frac{(d-6)(d-3)}{18}$ .

Let  $C \subseteq \mathbb{P}^2$  be an integral curve of degree d with nodes at  $x_i$ , ordinary singular points of multiplicity 3 at  $y_j$  for  $1 \leq i \leq n, 1 \leq j \leq m$  and no other singularities. Let  $S \to \mathbb{P}^2$ denote the blow-up of  $\mathbb{P}^2$ , and let  $D \subseteq S$  denote the strict transform of C. Then the marked Wahl map  $W_{D,T}$  is surjective, where T is the divisor over the nodes of C. Furthermore,  $h^0(D, \mathcal{O}_D(T)) = 1$ .

*Proof.* We will firstly show that  $W_{D,T}$  is surjective. We have already seen in Corollary 6.1.5 that the map f from Diagram 6.1 is surjective, thanks to the assumption  $3n+6m < \lfloor \frac{(d-5)^2}{4} \rfloor$ . Thus it suffices to show that  $\Phi_M$  is surjective, where  $M = \mathcal{O}_S((d-3)H - 2E_X - 2E_Y)$ . Now  $M - K_S \sim (d-6)H - 3E_X - 3E_Y$  can be written as the sum

$$M - K_S = \left( \left\lfloor \frac{d-6}{3} \right\rfloor H - E_X - E_Y \right) + \left( \left\lfloor \frac{d-6}{3} \right\rfloor H - E_X - E_Y \right) + \left( \left( d-6 - 2 \left\lfloor \frac{d-6}{3} \right\rfloor \right) H - E_X - E_Y \right).$$

Since we are assuming  $d \ge 24$ ,  $n+m+6 \le \frac{(d-6)(d-3)}{18}$ , Theorem 6.1.7 shows that  $M-K_S$  may be written as a sum of three very ample line bundles (use  $\lfloor \frac{d-6}{3} \rfloor \ge \frac{d-9}{3}$ ). Thus Proposition 6.1.6 implies that the Gaussian  $\Phi_M$  is surjective.

For the second statement, note that the short exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathcal{O}_S \to \mathcal{O}_S(E_X) \to \mathcal{O}_{E_X}(-1) \to 0$$

gives that  $h^0(S, \mathcal{O}_S(E_X)) = 1$ . From the sequence

$$0 \to \mathcal{O}_S(3E_X + 3E_Y - dH) \to \mathcal{O}_S(E_X) \to \mathcal{O}_D(T) \to 0$$

it suffices to show  $H^1(S, \mathcal{O}_S(3E_X + 3E_Y - dH)) = 0$ . But  $dH - 3E_X - 3E_Y$  is a sum of three very ample line bundles, so it is big and nef, so that this follows from the Kawamata–Viehweg vanishing theorem and Serre duality.

As an immediate consequence we have:

**Theorem 6.1.9.** Fix any integer  $l \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Then there exist infinitely many integers h(l), such that the general marked curve  $[(C,T)] \in \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{h(l),2l}$  has surjective marked Wahl map.

Proof. Consider the curve  $D \subseteq S$  from Proposition 6.1.8, applied to n = l and m = 10 (choose any d satisfying the hypotheses of the proposition). Let h(l) denote the genus of D. In an open subset about  $[(D,T)] \in \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{h(l),2l}$ , we have  $h^0(D,\mathcal{O}_D(T)) = 1$  and thus  $h^0(D,K_D(-T)) = \chi(K_D(-T)) + 1$  is locally constant. Further, the equality  $h^0(D,K_D^3(-2T)) = \chi(K_D^3(-2T))$  holds, since  $\deg(K_D^3(-2T)) > 2h(l) - 2$ . Thus the claim follows immediately from Proposition 6.1.8 and semicontinuity.

Remark 6.1.10. In our example (D,T), we have that l is of the order  $\frac{h}{8}$ , where h is the genus of D. Indeed, if n = l is large, we can take  $d^2$  to be approximately 18l, so that  $g(C) = \frac{1}{2}(d-1)(d-2) \sim 9l$  and  $h \sim 8l$ . Thus one would expect that the marked Wahl map of a general marked curve in  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{h,2l}$  is surjective, so long as l is at most of the order  $\frac{h}{8}$ .

We will now study the marked Wahl map for curves arising via the normalisation of nodal curves on K3 surfaces.

**Theorem 6.1.11.** Assume  $g-n \ge 13$  for k = 1 or  $g \ge 8$  for k > 1, and let  $n \le \frac{p(g,k)-2}{5}$ . Then there is an irreducible component  $I^0 \subseteq \mathcal{V}_{g,k}^n$  such that for a general  $[(f : C \to X, L)] \in I^0$ the marked Wahl map  $W_{C,T}$  is nonsurjective, where  $T \subseteq C$  is the divisor over the nodes of f(C).

Proof. Let  $I \subseteq \mathcal{T}_{g,k}^n$  be the irreducible component from Theorem 4.1.4 (in the case k = 1) or Theorem 4.1.11 (in the case k > 1) and set  $I^0 = I \cap \mathcal{V}_{g,k}^n$ , which is nonempty from [26, Lemma 3.1]. Let  $\pi : Y \to X$  be the blow up of the K3 surface X at the nodes of f(C). There is a natural closed immersion  $C \subseteq Y$ . Let  $E \subseteq Y$  denote the sum of the exceptional divisors, and let  $M = \mathcal{O}_Y(C)$ . We have  $K_C = (M + E)_{|_C}$  by the adjunction formula. Consider the following commutative diagram:

$$\wedge^{2} H^{0}(Y, M) \xrightarrow{\Phi_{M}} H^{0}(Y, \Omega_{Y}(M^{2}))$$

$$\downarrow^{h} \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{g}$$

$$\wedge^{2} H^{0}(C, K_{C}(-T)) \xrightarrow{W_{C,T}} H^{0}(C, K_{C}^{3}(-2T)).$$

where the top row is a Gaussian on Y. The map h is surjective, as  $H^1(Y, \mathcal{O}_Y) = 0$ . Suppose for a contradiction that the marked Wahl map  $W_{C,T}$  were surjective. Then g would be surjective, and hence the natural map

$$H^0(C, \Omega_{Y|_C}(M^2)) \to H^0(C, K^3_C(-2T))$$

would also be surjective. Now consider the short exact sequence

$$0 \to M_{|_C} \to \Omega_{Y|_C}(M^2) \to K^3_C(-2T) \to 0.$$

Since

$$H^{1}(C, M) = H^{1}(C, K_{C}(-E)) = H^{0}(C, E) \neq 0,$$

the surjectivity of g would imply that  $h^1(C, \Omega_{Y|_C}(M^2)) = h^0(C, T_{Y|_C}(2E - K_C)) \neq 0$ . However

$$H^{0}(C, T_{Y|_{C}}(2E - K_{C})) \subseteq H^{0}(C, f^{*}(T_{X})(2E - K_{C})) \subseteq H^{0}(C, f^{*}(T_{X})) = 0$$

from Lemma 4.1.12, and since  $K_C - 2E$  is effective for  $n \leq \frac{p(g,k)-2}{5}$ . So this is a contradiction and hence  $W_{C,T}$  is nonsurjective.

## Chapter 7

## Brill–Noether theory for nodal curves on K3 surfaces

In this section we consider two related questions on the Brill–Noether theory of nodal curves on a K3 surface. Let  $D \subseteq X$  be a nodal curve on a K3 surface, and let  $C := \tilde{D}$  be the normalisation of D. In Section 7.1, we consider the Brill–Noether theory of the smooth curve C. The main tool used here is the Lazarsfeld–Mukai bundle, [97], and degenerations to special K3 surfaces with disjoint rational curves. In Section 7.2 we consider the Brill–Noether theory for the nodal curve D. The techniques used in this section are more sophisticated and build upon recent work of O'Grady, [115]. The idea is to use rational curves to construct a (singular) Lagrangian in an appropriate moduli space of vector bundles on a K3 surface.

## 7.1 Brill–Noether theory for smooth curves with a nodal model on a K3 surface

In this section we will apply an argument from [97] to the K3 surface  $S_{p,h}$  as in Lemma 4.1.3 in order to study the Brill–Noether theory for smooth curves with a primitive nodal model on a K3 surface.

**Lemma 7.1.1.** Consider the K3 surface  $S_{p,h}$  as in Lemma 4.1.3. There is no expression  $M = A_1 + A_2$ , where  $A_1$  and  $A_2$  are effective divisors with  $h^0(Y, \mathcal{O}(A_1)) \ge 2$  and  $h^0(Y, \mathcal{O}(A_2)) \ge 2$ .

*Proof.* We first claim that any effective divisor of the form  $D = aR_1 + bR_2$ , for integers a, b, must have  $a, b \ge 0$ . Suppose for a contradiction that a < 0. Clearly we must have b > 0. Thus there is some integral component  $D_1$  of D with  $(D_1 \cdot R_2) < 0$ , as  $(D \cdot R_2) = -2b < 0$ . Thus  $D_1 \sim R_2$ . Repeating this argument on  $D - R_2$ , we see that  $bR_2$  is a summand of D. But then  $D - bR_2 = aR_1$  is effective, which is a contradiction as a < 0. Thus  $a \ge 0$ . Likewise

 $b \ge 0$ . Furthermore, this argument also shows that all integral components of any effective divisor of the form  $D = aR_1 + bR_2$  are linearly equivalent to either  $R_1$  or  $R_2$ . In particular, D is rigid.

Suppose  $M = A_1 + A_2$  is an expression as above. Write  $A_1 = x_1M + \sum_{i=1}^2 y_{1,i}R_i$  and  $A_2 = x_2M + \sum_{i=1}^2 y_{2,i}R_i$  for integers  $x_i, y_{i,j}$  for  $i = 1, 2, 1 \le j \le 2$ . We have  $x_1, x_2 \ge 0$  by Lemma 4.1.3 and  $x_1 + x_2 = 1$ , and assume  $x_1 \ge x_2$ . Thus we must have  $x_2 = 0$ , which gives  $h^0(Y, \mathcal{O}(A_2)) \le 1$  (as the divisor  $\sum_{i=1}^2 y_{2,i}\Gamma_i$  is rigid if  $y_{2,i} \ge 0$  for all i and not effective if there is some j with  $y_{2,j} < 0$ ).

Let  $C \subseteq X$  be a smooth curve on a K3 surface X. Let  $M \in \operatorname{Pic}(C)$  be a globally generated line bundle such that  $\omega_C \otimes M^*$  is also globally generated. We denote by  $F_{C,M}$ the vector bundle on X defined as the kernel of the evaluation map  $H^0(C, M) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}_X \twoheadrightarrow M$ . Let  $G_{C,M}$  be the dual bundle of  $F_{C,M}$ , this is globally generated from the exact sequence

$$0 \to H^0(M) \otimes \mathcal{O}_X \to G_{C,M} \to \omega_C \otimes M^* \to 0$$

(using  $H^1(\mathcal{O}_X) = 0$ ). The following generalisation of [97, Lemma 1.3] is well-known, see [48, Remark 3.1].

**Lemma 7.1.2.** In the above situation, assume further that there is no expression  $\mathcal{O}(C) \simeq L_1 \otimes L_2$ , where  $L_1$  and  $L_2$  are effective line bundles on X with  $h^0(L_i) \ge 1 + s_i$  for i = 1, 2, where  $s_i \ge 1$  are integers satisfying  $s_1 + s_2 = h^0(C, M)$ . Then  $F_{C,M}$  is a simple vector bundle.

Proof. We follow the proof of [73, Ch.7, Prop.2.2]. The bundle  $F_{C,M}$  is simple if and only if its dual  $G_{C,M}$  is simple. Suppose  $G_{C,M}$  were not simple. Then there would exist a nontrivial endomorphism  $\psi: G \to G$  with non-trivial kernel. Set  $K := \operatorname{im}(\psi)$ ,  $L_1 := \det(K)$  and  $L_2 := \det((G/K))$ . Set  $s_1 := \operatorname{rank}(K)$  and  $s_2 := \operatorname{rank}((G/K)/T)$ , where T is the maximal torsion subsheaf of G/K. Clearly  $s_i \ge 1$  for i = 1, 2 and  $s_1 + s_2 = \operatorname{rank}(G) = h^0(C, M)$ . So it suffices to prove  $h^0(L_i) \ge 1 + s_i$  for i = 1, 2. As is explained in [73, Sec.7, Prop.2.2], if we pick a sufficiently positive divisor D on X we have  $h^0(D, L_i|_D) \ge s_i + 1$  (as  $c_1(T)$  is effective). On the other hand, if D is sufficiently positive then  $D - L_i$  is big and nef, so that  $H^0(X, L_i) \twoheadrightarrow H^0(D, L_i|_D)$  and thus  $h^0(L_i) \ge 1 + s_i$  for i = 1, 2.

**Corollary 7.1.3.** Consider a K3 surface  $S_{p,h}$  as in Lemma 4.1.3. Let  $C \in |M|$  be a general smooth curve. Then C is Brill–Noether–Petri general.

*Proof.* This follows immediately from the proof of the main theorem in [97] and the above lemma.  $\Box$ 

Putting all the pieces together, we get the following result.

**Proposition 7.1.4.** Assume  $g - n \ge 8$ . Then there exists an irreducible component  $\mathcal{J} \subseteq \mathcal{V}_g^n$  such that for  $[(f: D \to X, M)] \in \mathcal{J}$  general, D is Brill–Noether–Petri general.

*Proof.* Set h = g - n, p = g. The case n = 0 is [97], so we may assume p > h. Let l, m be the unique nonnegative integers such that

$$p-h = \left\lfloor \frac{h+1}{2} \right\rfloor l + m$$

and  $0 \le m < \lfloor \frac{h+1}{2} \rfloor$ . Set  $\epsilon = 1$  if m = 0 or  $m = \lfloor \frac{h+1}{2} \rfloor - 1$  and  $\epsilon = 0$  otherwise. Then  $(M + R_1 + \epsilon R_2)^2 = 2g - 2$ , where  $M, R_1, R_2$  are a basis of  $P_{p,h}$  as in Lemma 4.1.3. The claim then follows from the proof of Theorem 4.1.4, by deforming to the curve

$$R \coloneqq D \cup R_1 \cup \epsilon R_2$$

on  $S_{p,h}$ , where  $D \in |M|$  is general, marked at all nodes other than one point from  $D \cap R_i$  for i = 1, 2. Note that the partial normalisation of R at the marked nodes is an unstable curve, and the stabilisation is isomorphic to D, which is Brill–Noether–Petri general by Corollary 7.1.3.

# 7.2 Brill–Noether theory for nodal rational curves on K3 surfaces

In this section we will denote by X a K3 surface with  $\operatorname{Pic}(X) \simeq \mathbb{Z}L$ ,  $(L)^2 = 2g-2$  with  $g \ge 2$ , and  $C \in |L|$  will denote a fixed *rational* curve (not necessarily nodal). Let  $\overline{J}^d(C)$  denote the compactified Jacobian of degree d, rank one torsion free sheaves. For the fundamental theory of the compactified Jacobian of an integral curve on a smooth surface, see [45], [4], [121], [5]. In particular,  $\overline{J}^d(C)$  is a projective, integral, local complete intersection scheme of dimension g containing  $\operatorname{Pic}^d(C)$  as a dense open subset. Consider the generalized Brill– Noether loci

$$\overline{W}_d^r(C) \coloneqq \{A \in \overline{J}^d(C) \text{ with } h^0(A) \ge r+1\}$$

which can be given a determinantal scheme structure, cf. [58, Pg. 10], [17, §2.2]. There is an open subset  $W_d^r(C) \subseteq \overline{W}_d^r(C)$  parametrizing line bundles. We will denote by  $\rho(g, r, d)$ the Brill–Noether number g - (r+1)(g - d + r).

The following comes from the proof of [17, Remark 2.3(i)], although it may have been known to experts earlier (note that if  $A \in \overline{J}^d(C)$  for d > 2g - 2, then  $h^1(A) = 0$ , [45, Prop. I.4.6]). The proof is essentially the same as in the smooth case.

**Theorem 7.2.1.** Each irreducible component of  $\overline{W}_{d}^{r}(C)$  has dimension at least  $\rho(g, r, d)$ .

If  $\rho(g,r,d) > 0$ , then under our hypotheses  $\overline{W}_d^r(C)$  is connected, [58, Thm. 1]. If  $\rho(g,r,d) \ge 0$ , then  $\overline{W}_d^r(C)$  is nonempty since we can deform C to a smooth curve in |L| and  $h^0$  is upper semicontinuous, cf. [58, §3.4].

Let  $V_{d,r} \subseteq \overline{W}_d^r(C)$  be the open locus parametrizing sheaves A which are globally generated and with  $h^0(A) = r + 1$ . Assume  $V_{d,r} \neq \emptyset$ . We will begin by proving that  $\dim V_{d,r} \leq \rho(g,r,d)$  (in particular  $V_{d,r} = \emptyset$  if  $\rho(g,r,d) < 0$ ).

Fix a vector space  $\mathbb{H}$  of dimension r + 1 and let  $P_d^r \to V_{d,r}$  parametrize pairs  $(A, \lambda)$ where  $A \in V_{d,r}$  and  $\lambda$  is a surjection of  $\mathcal{O}_X$  modules

$$\lambda: \mathbb{H} \otimes \mathcal{O}_X \to A$$

inducing an isomorphism  $\mathbb{H} \simeq H^0(A)$ . Two such surjections are identified if they differ by multiplication by a nonzero scalar. Thus  $P_d^r$  is a PGL(r+1) bundle over  $V_{d,r}$ .

Let  $(A, \lambda) \in P_d^r$ . Then  $Ker\lambda$  is a vector bundle F of rank r + 1, [58, §3.2]. We have  $det(F) \simeq L^*$ ,  $deg(c_2(F)) = d$ ,  $h^0(F) = h^1(F) = 0$  and  $h^2(F) = r + 1 + (g - d + r)$ , cf. [97, §1]. Note that  $g - d + r = h^1(A) \ge 0$ . Further, for any rank one, torsion-free sheaf A on C we may define an 'adjoint'  $A^{\dagger}$ , which is a rank one torsion-free sheaf with  $(A^{\dagger})^{\dagger} = A$ . From the short exact sequence

$$0 \to F \to \mathbb{H} \otimes \mathcal{O}_X \to A \to 0$$

we may form the dual sequence

$$0 \to \mathbb{H}^* \otimes \mathcal{O}_X \to F^* \to A^{\dagger} \to 0.$$

The following lemma is a slight generalisation of [73, Cor. 9.3.2]:

**Lemma 7.2.2.** Assume  $Pic(X) \simeq \mathbb{Z}L$  as above and let  $(A, \lambda) \in P_d^r$ . Then the vector bundle  $F = Ker\lambda$  is stable.

Proof. For any vector bundle  $H \subseteq \mathcal{O}_X^{\oplus a}$  and any integer  $1 \leq s \leq rk(H)$ , we have  $h^0(\wedge^s H^*) \geq 1$ . Indeed, we have  $\wedge^s H \subseteq \wedge^s \mathcal{O}_X^{\oplus a} \simeq \mathcal{O}_X^{\oplus b}$  for some integer *b* and then  $\mathcal{E}nd_{\mathcal{O}_X}(\wedge^s H) \simeq \wedge^s H \otimes \wedge^s H^* \subseteq (\wedge^s H^*)^{\oplus b}$ . Taking global sections gives  $h^0(\wedge^s H^*) \geq 1$  (as  $id \in H^0(\mathcal{E}nd_{\mathcal{O}_X}(\wedge^s H))$ ).

Now let  $F' \subseteq F \subseteq \mathbb{H} \otimes \mathcal{O}_X$  be a locally free subsheaf of F with rk(F') = r' < r+1. From the above,  $h^0(det(F'^*)) \ge 1$  and  $h^0(\wedge^{r'-1}F'^*) \ge 1$  (if r' > 1). As  $\operatorname{Pic}(X) \simeq \mathbb{Z}L$ , we have  $det(F') = kL^*$  for some  $k \ge 0$ . We claim  $k \ne 0$ . If k = 0 and r' = 1, then  $F' \simeq \mathcal{O}_X$  which contradicts that  $h^0(F) = 0$ . If k = 0, r' > 0, then  $F' \simeq \wedge^{r'-1}F'^* \otimes det(F')$  gives  $h^0(F') \ge 1$ which is again a contradiction. So we have  $det(F') = kL^*$  for k > 0 and  $det(F) = L^*$ , which implies  $\deg(F')/rk(F') < \deg(F)/rk(F)$  as required.  $\Box$ 

Let  $M_v$  be the moduli space of stable sheaves on X with Mukai vector v = (r+1, L, g - d+r). We have a morphism

$$\psi_C : P_d^r \to M_v$$
$$(A, \lambda) \mapsto (Ker\lambda)^*$$

where  $(Ker\lambda)^*$  denotes the dual bundle to  $Ker\lambda$ . Let  $M_C$  be the closure of the image of  $\psi_C$ , with the induced reduced scheme structure. By the description of F, if  $[F^*] \in Im(\psi_C)$ ,

$$c_2(F^*) \sim dc_X$$

where  $c_X$  is the rational equivalence class of a point lying on a rational curve as defined in [13].

There is a natural symplectic form  $\alpha$  on  $M_v$  defined in [108].

**Proposition 7.2.3.** Let  $\alpha$  be the natural symplectic form on  $M_v$  and  $i: M_C^0 \to M_v$  the inclusion, where  $M_C^0$  is the smooth locus of  $M_C$ . Then  $i^*\alpha = 0$ .

Proof. Since  $g - d + r \ge 0$ , [115, Thm. 0.6(1)] applies and for any  $[G] \in M_v$ , there is an effective, degree  $\rho(g, r, d)$  zero-cycle Z with  $c_2(G) \sim [Z] + ac_X$  for some  $a \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Following [115, Prop. 1.3] there is then a smooth quasi-projective variety  $\widetilde{M}_v$  with morphisms  $q : \widetilde{M}_v \to M_v, p : \widetilde{M}_v \to X^{[\rho(g,r,d)]}$  such that q is surjective and generically finite, and with the property that if  $x = [F^*] \in Im(\psi_C)$  and  $y \in q^{-1}(x)$ , then we have the rational equivalence

$$p(y) + (d - \rho(g, r, d))c_X \sim c_2(F^*) \sim dc_X.$$
(7.1)

Further if  $\beta$  is the symplectic form on the Hilbert scheme of points  $X^{[\rho(g,r,d)]}$ , we have  $q^*\alpha = kp^*\beta$  for some nonzero constant  $k \in \mathbb{C}$ . Let  $\widetilde{M}_C \subseteq \widetilde{M}_v$  denote the closure of  $q^{-1}(Im(\psi_C))$  with the induced reduced scheme structure, and let  $p_C$  respectively  $q_C$  be the restriction of p respectively q to the smooth locus of  $\widetilde{M}_C$ . Then  $p_C(s)$  is rationally equivalent to  $p_C(t)$  for all s, t in the smooth locus of  $\widetilde{M}_C$ , from (7.1). Thus  $p^*_C(\beta) = 0$  by [113]. Hence  $q^*_C(\alpha) = 0$  and since q is surjective,  $i^*\alpha = 0$ .

**Corollary 7.2.4.** We have dim  $M_C \leq \rho(g, r, d)$ .

*Proof.* Indeed dim  $M_v = 2\rho(g, r, d)$  from [108, Thm. 0.1] so this follows from the proposition above.

**Corollary 7.2.5.** If  $V_{d,r}$  is nonempty then dim  $V_{d,r} = \rho(g,r,d)$ .

Proof. If  $V_{d,r}$  is nonempty then dim  $V_{d,r} \ge \rho(g,r,d)$  by Theorem 7.2.1, so it suffices to show dim  $V_{d,r} \le \rho(g,r,d)$ . It then suffices to show that  $\psi_C : P_d^r \to M_v$  has fibres of dimension dim PGL(r+1). In other words, we need to show that for each fixed  $F \in M_v$  there are only finitely many  $A \in V_{d,r}$  fitting into an exact sequence  $0 \to F \to \mathbb{H} \otimes \mathcal{O}_X \to A \to 0$ . But this follows immediately from the fact that in our circumstances the degeneracy locus map  $Gr(r+1, H^0(F^*)) \to |L|$  is globally defined and finite, see [115, §2] (recall that all such Aare supported on a fixed C by definition).

*Remark.* Assume  $V_{d,r}$  is nonempty. We have dim  $M_C = \dim V_{d,r} = \rho(g, r, d)$  from the above Corollary. Thus  $M_C$  is a (possibly singular) Lagrangian subvariety of  $M_v$ .

**Corollary 7.2.6.** Let X be a K3 surface with  $Pic(X) \simeq \mathbb{Z}L$  and  $(L \cdot L) = 2g - 2$ . Let  $C \in |L|$  be rational and assume  $\rho(g, r, d) < 0$ . Then

$$\overline{W}'_d(C) \coloneqq \{A \in \overline{J}^d(C) \text{ with } h^0(A) \ge r+1\}$$

is empty.

*Proof.* Assume for a contradiction that  $A \in \overline{W}_d^r(C)$ . Let A' be the image of the evaluation morphism  $H^0(A) \otimes \mathcal{O}_C \to A$ . Then A' is a globally generated, torsion free, rank one sheaf of degree  $d' \leq d$  with  $r'+1 \geq r+1$  sections, and thus  $A' \in V_{d',r'}$ . But  $\rho(g,r',d') \leq \rho(g,r,d) < 0$  for  $d' \leq d$ ,  $r' \geq r$  and thus  $V_{d',r'}$  is empty by Corollary 7.2.5. This is a contradiction.  $\Box$ 

To proceed we need two technical lemmas.

**Lemma 7.2.7.** Let C be an arbitrary integral **nodal** curve. Suppose A' is a rank one torsion free sheaf on C and let k(p) be the length one skyscraper sheaf on C supported at a node  $p \in C$ . Then if  $\mathcal{Z} \subseteq \overline{W}_d^r(C)$  is an irreducible family of rank one torsion free sheaves such that we have an exact sequence

$$0 \to A' \to A \to k(p) \to 0$$

for all  $A \in \mathbb{Z}$ , then dim  $\mathbb{Z} \leq 1$ .

*Proof.* It suffices to show dim<sub>C</sub>  $Ext^1_{\mathcal{O}_C}(k(p), A') \leq 2$ . We have

$$Ext^{1}_{\mathcal{O}_{C}}(k(p), A') \simeq Ext^{1}_{\mathcal{O}_{C}}(k(p), A'(n)) \text{ for any } n \in \mathbb{Z}$$
$$\simeq H^{0}(C, \mathcal{E}xt^{1}_{\mathcal{O}_{C}}(k(p), A'(n))) \text{ for } n \gg 0$$
$$\simeq H^{0}(C, \mathcal{E}xt^{1}_{\mathcal{O}_{C}}(k(p), A'))$$

where the second line follows from [68, Prop III.6.9]. The sheaf  $\mathcal{E}xt^1_{\mathcal{O}_C}(k(p), A')$  is a skyscraper sheaf supported at p. If A' is nonsingular at p then

$$\dim_{\mathbb{C}} Ext^{1}_{\mathcal{O}_{C}}(k(p), A') = \dim_{\mathbb{C}} Ext^{1}_{\mathcal{O}_{C}}(k(p), \omega_{C}) = 1,$$

by Serre duality.

Suppose now A' is singular at p and let  $\pi : C' \to C$  be the normalisation of C. Then  $\dim_{\mathbb{C}} Ext^{1}_{\mathcal{O}_{C}}(k(p), A') = \dim_{\mathbb{C}} Ext^{1}_{\mathcal{O}_{C}}(k(p), \pi_{*}(\mathcal{O}_{C'}))$  since  $A'_{p} \simeq m_{p} \simeq \pi_{*}(\mathcal{O}_{C'})_{p}$  where  $m_{p}$ is the maximal ideal of p, by [45, III.1]<sup>1</sup>. But  $\dim_{\mathbb{C}} Ext^{1}_{\mathcal{O}_{C}}(k(p), \pi_{*}(\mathcal{O}_{C'})) = 2$  as required, by [10, Prop. 2.3].

**Lemma 7.2.8.** Let C be an arbitrary integral nodal curve. Suppose A' is a rank one torsion free sheaf and let Q be a sheaf with zero-dimensional support such that  $supp(Q) \subseteq C_{sing}$ , where  $C_{sing}$  is the singular locus of C. Then if  $Z \subseteq W_d^r(C)$  is an irreducible family of rank one torsion free sheaves such that we have an exact sequence

$$0 \to A' \to A \to Q \to 0$$

for all  $A \in \mathbb{Z}$ , then dim  $\mathbb{Z} \leq l(Q)$ , where l(Q) denotes the length of Q.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Note that  $m_p$  is a degree -1, rank one t.f. sheaf, and  $\pi_*(\mathcal{O}_{C'})$  is a t.f. sheaf of strictly positive degree, so although these sheaves are locally isomorphic, they are *not* globally isomorphic.

*Proof.* We will prove the result by induction on l(Q). When l(Q) = 1 the result holds from Lemma 7.2.7. Suppose Q has length r and choose a sheaf Q' with zero-dimensional support and length r-1 such that we have a surjection  $\phi: Q \twoheadrightarrow Q'$ . For any

$$0 \to A' \to A \to Q \to 0,$$

 $\phi$  then induces a short exact sequence

$$0 \to A'' \to A \to Q' \to 0$$

where A'' fits into the exact sequence

$$0 \to A' \to A'' \to Ker(\phi) \to 0.$$

Now let  $\pi : \mathcal{T} \to \mathcal{Z}$  be the moduli space with fibre over  $A \in \mathcal{Z}$  parametrising all extensions  $0 \to A' \to A \to Q \to 0$ ; this can be constructed from [22, §4.1]. After replacing  $\mathcal{T}$  with an open set we have a morphism  $\psi : \mathcal{T} \to \overline{W}_{d'}^{r'}(C)$  for some d', r', which sends a point representing the exact sequence  $0 \to A' \to A \to Q \to 0$  to  $A'' \coloneqq Ker(A \to Q')$ . By Lemma 7.2.7 the image of  $\psi$  is at most one dimensional as  $l(Ker(\phi)) = 1$ . Further,  $\pi(\psi^{-1}(A''))$  is at most l(Q') = l(Q) - 1 dimensional for any  $A'' \in Im(\psi)$  by the induction hypothesis. It then follows than dim  $\mathcal{Z} \leq l(Q)$  as required.

Lemma 7.2.9. Let C be an integral, nodal curve. Then

$$\overline{W}_d^0(C) \coloneqq \{A \in \overline{J}^d(C) \text{ with } h^0(A) \ge 1\}$$

is irreducible of dimension  $\rho(g, 0, d) = d$ .

Proof. Let  $U_d \subseteq \overline{W}_d^0(C)$  be the open subset consisting of line bundles. Let  $V_d \coloneqq Div_d(C)$  denote the scheme parametrizing zero-dimensional schemes  $Z \subseteq C$  such that the ideal sheaf  $I_Z$  is invertible of degree d; i.e  $V_d$  is the scheme of effective Cartier divisors. Let  $\tilde{C} \to C$  denote the normalisation. From [88, Thm. 2.4], pullback induces a birational morphism  $V_d \to Div_d(\tilde{C})$ , and thus dim  $V_d = d$ . We have a morphism  $V_d \to \bar{J}^d(C)$  with image  $U_d$ , which sends a scheme Z to the effective line bundle  $I_Z^*$ . Thus  $U_d$  of dimension at most d. Since each component of  $\overline{W}_d^0(C)$  has dimension at least d by Theorem 7.2.1, we see dim $(U_d) = d$ .

Let I be an irreducible component of  $\overline{W}_d^0(C) \smallsetminus U_d$ ; we need to prove dim(I) < d. There is a nonempty open set  $I^0$  of I, an integer d' < d and a partial normalisation  $\mu : C' \to C$ such that for each  $A \in I^0$  there exists a unique effective line bundle  $B \in \operatorname{Pic}^{d'}(C')$  with  $\mu_*(B) \simeq A$  by [55, Prop. 3.4]. Since the dimension of the moduli space of effective line bundles of degree d' on C' has dimension d' by the above, we see that dim $(I) \leq d' < d$ .  $\Box$ 

We now prove the main result of this section.

**Theorem 7.2.10.** Let X be a K3 surface with  $Pic(X) \simeq \mathbb{Z}L$  and  $(L \cdot L) = 2g - 2$ . Suppose  $C \in |L|$  is a rational, nodal curve. Then

$$\overline{W}_{d}^{r}(C) \coloneqq \{A \in \overline{J}^{d}(C) \text{ with } h^{0}(A) \ge r+1\}$$

is either empty or is equidimensional of the expected dimension  $\rho(g, r, d)$ .

*Proof.* By Corollary 7.2.6 the theorem holds whenever  $\rho(g, r, d) < 0$ . Thus it suffices to prove the theorem for  $\rho(g, r, d) \ge -1$ . We will proceed by induction on  $\rho(g, r, d)$  starting from the case  $\rho(g, r, d) = -1$ .

Choose nonnegative integers r, d and suppose the claim holds for all r', d' such that  $\rho(g, r', d') < \rho(g, r, d)$ . We know the claim holds for r = 0 by Lemma 7.2.9, so we may suppose r > 0. Let I be an irreducible component of  $\overline{W}_d^r(C) \\ \vee V_{d,r}$ ; from Theorem 7.2.1 it suffices to show dim $(I) < \rho(g, r, d)$ . For all  $A \in I$ , we denote by A' the globally generated part of A, i.e. the image of the evaluation morphism  $H^0(A) \otimes \mathcal{O}_C \to A$ . There is an open dense subset  $I^0 \subseteq I$  such that  $deg(A') = d', h^0(A') = r'$  is constant for all  $A \in I^0$ . Replacing  $I^0$  by a smaller open set if necessary, we have a morphism

$$f : I^0_{\text{red}} \to \overline{W}^{r'}_{d'}(C)$$
$$A \mapsto A'.$$

Indeed, let S be an integral, locally Noetherian scheme over  $\mathbb{C}$ , let  $\pi : C \times S \to S$  be the projection, and let  $\mathcal{A}$  be an S flat family of rank one torsion free sheaves  $\mathcal{A}_s$  on C, with  $\deg(\mathcal{A}_s) = d$ ,  $h^0(\mathcal{A}_s) = r' + 1$  constant. Replacing S with an open subset, we may assume that  $\pi_*\mathcal{A}$  is a trivial vector bundle of rank r' + 1, and that the image  $\mathcal{A}'$  of the evaluation morphism

$$H^0(\mathcal{A}) \otimes \mathcal{O}_{C \times S} \to \mathcal{A}$$

is flat over S. Replacing S with another open subset, we may further assume  $\pi_* \mathcal{A}'$  is a trivial vector bundle of rank r' + 1. We claim that  $\mathcal{A}'_s$  is the base-point free part of  $\mathcal{A}_s$ . Let  $B_s$  denote the base point free part of  $\mathcal{A}_s$ . The surjection  $H^0(\mathcal{A}_s) \otimes \mathcal{O}_C \to \mathcal{A}'_s$  shows  $\mathcal{A}'_s \subseteq B_s \subseteq A$ . Then the exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathcal{A}'_s \to B_s \to F \to 0,$$

where F has zero-dimensional support, and the equality  $h^0(\mathcal{A}'_s) = h^0(B_s) = r + 1$  implies F is the zero sheaf (since  $B_s$  is base point free). Thus if  $d' := \deg(\mathcal{A}'_s)$ ,  $\mathcal{A}'$  is a flat family of rank one, torsion free sheaves on C of degree d' with r' + 1 sections, so the universal property of  $\overline{W}^{r'}_{d'}(C)$  induces a morphism  $S \to \overline{W}^{r'}_{d'}(C)$ .

We next claim that f has fibres of dimension at most d - d'. This will then imply the result as  $\rho(g, r', d') \leq \rho(g, r, d') = \rho(g, r, d) - (r + 1)(d - d')$  so that  $\dim(I^0) < \rho(g, r, d)$  for  $r \neq 0$ . For any  $A \in I^0$  we have a sequence

$$0 \to f(A) \to A \to Q_A \to 0$$

where  $Q_A$  has zero-dimensional support. We have a canonical decomposition  $Q_A = Q_{A,\text{sm}} \oplus Q_{A,\text{sing}}$  with  $\text{Supp}(Q_{A,\text{sm}}) \subseteq C_{\text{sm}}$  and  $\text{Supp}(Q_{A,\text{sing}}) \subseteq C_{\text{sing}}$ , where  $C_{\text{sm}}$  is the smooth locus of C and  $C_{\text{sing}} = C - C_{\text{sm}}$ . Replacing  $I^0$  with a dense open set we may assume  $Q' \coloneqq Q_{A,\text{sing}}$  is independent of  $A \in I^0$ . Let  $e \coloneqq l(Q')$ . For any  $A \in I^0$ , there is a unique effective line bundle M of degree d - d' - e such that we have a short exact sequence

$$0 \to f(A)(M) \to A \to Q' \to 0.$$

We have a morphism

$$g : I^0 \to \overline{W}_{d-e}^{r'}(C)$$
$$A \mapsto f(A)(M).$$

By Lemma 7.2.8, g has fibres of dimension at most e. For any A' in the image of f consider

$$g|_{f^{-1}(A')} : f^{-1}(A') \to \overline{W}_{d-e}^{r'}(C).$$

The image of  $g|_{f^{-1}(A')}$  is a subset of the space of tuples  $A' \otimes M$  for  $M \in \operatorname{Pic}^{d-d'-e}(C)$  effective. The moduli space of effective line bundles in  $\operatorname{Pic}^{d-d'-e}(C)$  may be identified with the image of the natural map  $C_{\operatorname{sm}}^{[d-d'-e]} \to \operatorname{Pic}^{d-d'-e}(C)$ , where  $C_{\operatorname{sm}}$  is the smooth locus of C, and thus has dimension at most d - d' - e. Thus  $\dim f^{-1}(A') \leq d - d'$  as required.

*Remark.* It is clear from the proof that the theorem would hold for any constant cycle curve  $C \in |L|$  such that C is integral and nodal, see [77].

108
## Bibliography

- D. Abramovich, Q. Chen, W.D. Gillam, Y. Huang, M. Olsson, M. Satriano, and S. Sun. Logarithmic geometry and moduli. In I. Morrison and G. Farkas, editors, *The Handbook of Moduli*. International Press, Boston, 2013.
- [2] D. Abramovich and F. Oort. Stable maps and Hurwitz schemes in mixed characteristics. *Contemp. Math.*, 276:89–100, 2001.
- [3] D. Abramovich and A. Vistoli. Compactifying the space of stable maps. J. AMS, 15:27–75, 2002.
- [4] A.B. Altman, A. Iarrobino, and S.L. Kleiman. Irreducibility of the compactified Jacobian. Real and compl. Singul., Proc. Nordic Summer Sch., Symp. Math., Oslo 1976, 1-12 (1977), 1977.
- [5] A.B. Altman and S.L. Kleiman. Compactifying the Picard scheme. Adv. Math., 35(1):50–112, 1980.
- [6] M. Aprodu and G. Farkas. Green's conjecture for curves on arbitrary K3 surfaces. Comp. Math., 147(03):839–851, 2011.
- [7] C. Araujo and J. Kollár. Rational curves on varieties. In *Higher Dimensional Varieties and Rational Points*. Springer, Berlin, 2003.
- [8] E. Arbarello, A. Bruno, and E. Sernesi. Mukai's program for curves on a K3 surface. arXiv:1309.0496 (to appear in Algebraic Geometry).
- [9] E. Arbarello, J. D. Harris, M. Cornalba, and P. Griffiths. Geometry of Algebraic Curves: Volume II with a contribution by Joseph Daniel Harris, volume 268. Springer, 2011.
- [10] D. Avritzer, H. Lange, and F. A. Ribeiro. Torsion-free sheaves on nodal curves and triples. Bull. Braz. Math. Soc., 41(3):421–447, 2010.
- [11] W. Barth, C. Peters, and A. Van de Ven. Compact Complex Surfaces. Springer, Berlin, 2004.

- [12] A. Beauville and J.-Y. Mérindol. Sections hyperplanes des surfaces K3. Duke Math. J., 55(4):873–878, 1987.
- [13] A. Beauville and C. Voisin. On the Chow ring of a K3 surface. J. Alg. Geom., 13(3):417–426, 2004.
- [14] K. Behrend. Gromov-Witten invariants in algebraic geometry. Invent. Math., 127(3):601-617, 1997.
- [15] K. Behrend and B. Fantechi. The intrinsic normal cone. Invent. Math., 128(1):45–88, 1997.
- [16] K. Behrend and Y. Manin. Stacks of stable maps and Gromov-Witten invariants. Duke Math. J., 85(1):1–60, 1996.
- [17] U. N. Bhosle and A. J. Parameswaran. Picard bundles and Brill–Noether loci in the compactified Jacobian of a nodal curve. *Int. Math. Res. Not.*, 2013.
- [18] J. Bingener. Offenheit der versalität in der analytischen geometrie. Math. Z., 173(3):241–281, 1980.
- [19] J.M. Bismut, H. Gillet, and C. Soulé. Analytic torsion and holomorphic determinant bundles. iii: Quillen metrics on holomorphic determinants. *Comm. Math. Phys.*, 115(2):301–351, 1988.
- [20] S. Bloch. Semi-regularity and de Rham cohomology. Invent. Math., 17(1):51–66, 1972.
- [21] N. Bourbaki. General topology. Chapters 1–4. Elements of Mathematics (Berlin). Springer, 1998.
- [22] T. Bridgeland. An introduction to motivic Hall algebras. Adv. Math., 229(1):102–138, 2012.
- [23] J. Bryan and N. Leung. The enumerative geometry of K3 surfaces and modular forms. J. AMS, 13(2):371–410, 2000.
- [24] R.O. Buchweitz and H. Flenner. A semiregularity map for modules and applications to deformations. *Comp. Math.*, 137(2):135–210, 2003.
- [25] X. Chen. Singularities of rational curves on K3 surfaces. arXiv:math/9812050, 1998.
- [26] X. Chen. Rational curves on K3 surfaces. J. Algebr. Geom., 8(2):245–278, 1999.
- [27] X. Chen. A simple proof that rational curves on K3 are nodal. Math. Ann., 324:71– 104, 2002.

- [28] X. Chen. Self rational maps of K3 surfaces, 2010. arXiv:1008.1619.
- [29] H.J. Chiang-Hsieh and J. Lipman. A numerical criterion for simultaneous normalization. Duke Math. J., 133(2):347–390, 2006.
- [30] C. Ciliberto and T. Dedieu. On universal Severi varieties of low genus K3 surfaces. Math. Z., 271(3-4):1–8, 2011.
- [31] C. Ciliberto and T. Dedieu. Limits of pluri-tangent planes to quartic surfaces. In Algebraic and Complex Geometry In Honour of Klaus Hulek's 60th Birthday, volume 71 of Springer Proc. Math. Stat. Springer, to appear.
- [32] C. Ciliberto and A.L. Knutsen. On k-gonal loci in Severi varieties on general K3 surfaces and rational curves on hyperkähler manifolds. J. Math. Pures. Appl., 2013.
- [33] C. Ciliberto, A. Lopez, and R. Miranda. Projective degenerations of K3 surfaces, Gaussian maps, and Fano threefolds. *Invent. Math.*, 114(1):641–667, 1993.
- [34] C. Ciliberto, A. F. Lopez, and R. Miranda. On the corank of Gaussian maps for general embedded K3 surfaces. In *Proceedings of the Hirzebruch 65 Conference on Algebraic Geometry (Ramat Gan, 1993)*, volume 9 of *Israel Math. Conf. Proc.*, pages 141–157, Ramat Gan, 1996. Bar-Ilan Univ.
- [35] C. Ciliberto, A. F. Lopez, and R. Miranda. Classification of varieties with canonical curve section via Gaussian maps on canonical curves. *Amer. J. Math.*, 120(1):1–21, 1998.
- [36] C. Ciliberto, A. F. Lopez, and R. Miranda. On the Wahl map of plane nodal curves. In *Complex analysis and algebraic geometry*, pages 155–163. de Gruyter, Berlin, 2000.
- [37] D.C. Cisinski and F. Déglise. Triangulated categories of mixed motives. arXiv:0912.2110, 2009.
- [38] F. Cossec and I. Dolgachev. *Enriques surfaces I.* Springer, 1989.
- [39] J. d'Almeida and A. Hirschowitz. Quelques plongements projectifs non spéciaux de surfaces rationnelles. *Math. Z.*, 211(3):479–483, 1992.
- [40] T. Dedieu. Severi varieties and self-rational maps of K3 surfaces. Internat. J. Math., 20(12):1455–1477, 2009.
- [41] T. Dedieu and E. Sernesi. Equigeneric and equisingular families of curves on surfaces, 2014. arXiv:1410.4221.
- [42] I.V. Dolgachev. Mirror symmetry for lattice polarized K3 surfaces. J. Math. Sci., 81(3):2599–2630, 1996.

- [43] R. Donagi and D. Morrison. Linear systems on K3 sections. J. Diff. Geom., 29(1):49– 64, 1989.
- [44] A. Douady. Le problème des modules pour les sous-espaces analytiques compacts d'un espace analytique donné. In Annales de l'institut Fourier, volume 16, pages 1–95, 1966.
- [45] C. D'Souza. Compactification of generalised Jacobians. Proc. Indian Acad. Sci., 88(5):421–457, 1979.
- [46] G. Farkas and M. Kemeny. The generic Green–Lazarsfeld secant conjecture, 2015. To appear in Invent. Math.
- [47] G. Fischer. Complex analytic geometry. Springer, 1976.
- [48] F. Flamini, A.L. Knutsen, and G. Pacienza. Singular curves on a K3 surface and linear series on their normalizations. Int. J. Math, 18(6):671–693, 2007.
- [49] F. Flamini, A.L. Knutsen, G. Pacienza, and E. Sernesi. Nodal curves with general moduli on K3 surfaces. *Comm. Algebra*, 36(11):3955–3971, 2008.
- [50] H. Flenner. Über Deformationen holomorpher Abbildungen. Habilitationsschrift, Universität Osnabrück, 1979. Copy available at http://www.ruhr-uni-bochum.de/ imperia/md/content/mathematik/lehrstuhli/deformationen.pdf.
- [51] H. Flenner. Ein Kriterium f
  ür die Offenheit der Versalit
  ät. Math. Z., 178(4):449–473, 1981.
- [52] R. Friedman and J. Morgan. Smooth four-manifolds and complex surfaces. Springer, Berlin, 1994.
- [53] W. Fulton. Intersection theory, volume 93. Springer Berlin, 1998.
- [54] W. Fulton and R. Pandharipande. Notes on stable maps and quantum cohomology, 1996. arXiv:alg-geom/9608011v2.
- [55] M. Gagne. Compactified Jacobians of integral curves with double points. PhD thesis, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, 1997.
- [56] A. Garbagnati and A. Sarti. Projective models of K3 surfaces with an even set. Adv. in Geometry, 8(3):413–440, 2008.
- [57] W.D. Gillam. Oriented real blow up, 2011. Available at http://www.math.boun. edu.tr/instructors/wdgillam/orb.pdf.
- [58] T. L. Gomez. Irreducibility of the moduli space of vector bundles on surfaces and Brill-Noether theory on singular curves. PhD thesis, Princeton, 2000.

- [59] T. Graber, J. Harris, and J. Starr. Families of rationally connected varieties. J. AMS, 16:57–67, 2003.
- [60] G.M. Greuel, C. Lossen, and E. Shustin. Geometry of families of nodal curves on the blown-up projective plane. *Trans. AMS*, 350(1):251–274, 1998.
- [61] G.M. Greuel, C. Lossen, and E. Shustin. Introduction to singularities and deformations. Springer, 2007.
- [62] A. Grothendieck. Le groupe de Brauer: I. Algèbres d'Azumaya et interprétations diverses. Séminaire Bourbaki, 9:199–219, 1964.
- [63] A. Grothendieck and J. Dieudonné. Éléments de géométrie algébrique. IV. Étude locale des schémas et des morphismes de schémas. II. Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math., 24:231pp, 1965.
- [64] A. Grothendieck and J. Dieudonné. Éléments de géométrie algébrique. IV. Étude locale des schémas et des morphismes de schémas. IV. Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math., 32:5–361, 1967.
- [65] R.C. Gunning. Introduction to holomorphic functions of several variables, volume 2. CRC Press, 1990.
- [66] J. Harris. On the Severi problem. Invent. Math., 84(3):445–461, 1986.
- [67] J. Harris and I. Morrison. Moduli of curves, volume 187. Springer New York, 1998.
- [68] R. Hartshorne. Algebraic Geometry. Springer, New York, 1977.
- [69] A. Hatcher. Algebraic topology. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2002.
- [70] A. Hirschowitz. Une conjecture pour la cohomologie des diviseurs sur les surfaces rationnelles génériques. J. Reine Angew. Math., 397:208–213, 1989.
- [71] E. Horikawa. On deformations of holomorphic maps I. J. Math. Soc. Japan, 25(3):372–396, 1973.
- [72] J. Hubbard, P. Papadopol, and V. Veselov. A compactification of Hénon mappings in C<sup>2</sup> as dynamical systems. Acta Mathematica, 184(2):203–270, 2000.
- [73] D. Huybrechts. Lectures on K3 surfaces. Available at http://www.math.uni-bonn. de/people/huybrech/K3Global.pdf.
- [74] D. Huybrechts. Complex geometry: an introduction. Springer, 2006.
- [75] D. Huybrechts. Chow groups and derived categories of K3 surfaces. Current developments in algebraic geometry, pages 177–195, 2009.

- [76] D. Huybrechts. Symplectic automorphisms of K3 surfaces of arbitrary finite order. Math. Res. Lett., 19(4), 2012.
- [77] D. Huybrechts. Curves and cycles on K3 surfaces. Algebraic Geometry, 1(1):69–106, 2014.
- [78] D. Huybrechts and M. Kemeny. Stable Maps and Chow Groups. Doc. Math., 18:507– 517, 2013.
- [79] D. Huybrechts and M. Lehn. The geometry of moduli spaces of sheaves. Cambridge, 2010.
- [80] D. Huybrechts and S. Schröer. The Brauer group of analytic K3 surfaces. Internat. Math. Res. Not., 2003(50):2687–2698, 2003.
- [81] K. Kato and C. Nakayama. Log Betti cohomology, log étale cohomology, and log de Rham cohomology of log schemes over C. Kodai Mathematical Journal, 22(2):161– 186, 1999.
- [82] Y. Kawamata. On algebraic fiber spaces, 2002. arXiv preprint math.AG/0107160.
- [83] Y. Kawamata and Y. Namikawa. Logarithmic deformations of normal crossing varieties and smoothing of degenerate Calabi–Yau varieties. *Invent. math.*, 118(1):395– 409, 1994.
- [84] S. Kelly. Triangulated categories of motives in positive characteristic. PhD thesis, Paris 13, 2013.
- [85] M. Kemeny. The Moduli of Singular Curves on K3 Surfaces. arXiv:1401.1047.
- [86] M. Kemeny. The universal Severi variety of rational curves on K3 surfaces. Bull. London Math. Soc, 45(1):159–174, 2012.
- [87] J. Keum. A note on elliptic K3 surfaces. Trans. AMS, 352(5):2077–2086, 2000.
- [88] S. L. Kleiman. r-Special subschemes and an argument of Severi's. Adv. in Math, 22:1–23, 1976.
- [89] F. Knudsen. The projectivity of the moduli space of stable curves II: The stacks  $M_{q,n}$ . Math. Scand., 52:161–199, 1983.
- [90] F. Knudsen and D. Mumford. The projectivity of the moduli space of stable curves.
   I: Preliminaries on "det" and "Div". Math. Scand., 39:19–55, 1976.
- [91] A.L. Knutsen. On kth-order embeddings of K3 surfaces and Enriques surfaces. Manuscripta Math., 104:211–237, 2001.

- [92] K. Kodaira. On compact complex analytic surfaces. I. Ann. of Math., 71(1):111–152, 1960.
- [93] K. Kodaira. On compact analytic surfaces. II, III. Ann. of Math., 77(3):563-626, 1963.
- [94] J. Kollár. Rational Curves on Algebraic Varieties. Springer, Germany, 1996.
- [95] J. Kollár. Simultaneous normalization and algebra husks. Asian J. Math., 15(3):437– 450, 2011.
- [96] M. Kool and R.P. Thomas. Reduced classes and curve counting on surfaces I: Theory. Algebraic Geometry, 1(3):334–383, 2014.
- [97] R. Lazarsfeld. Brill-Noether-Petri without degenerations. J. Diff. Geom., 23:299– 307, 1986.
- [98] J. Lee. Introduction to smooth manifolds, volume 218. Springer, 2012.
- [99] M. Levine. Mixed motives. Number 57. AMS, 1998.
- [100] J. Li and G. Tian. Virtual moduli cycles and Gromov–Witten invariants of algebraic varieties. J. AMS, 11(1):119–174, 1998.
- [101] Q. Liu. Algebraic Geometry and Arithmetic Curves. Oxford University Press, United Kingdom, 2002.
- [102] E. Looijenga. Cellular decompositions of compactified moduli spaces of pointed curves. In *The moduli space of curves (Texel Island, 1994)*, volume 129 of *Progr. Math*, pages 369–400. Birkhauser, 1994.
- [103] D. Maulik and R. Pandharipande. Gromov-Witten theory and Noether-Lefschetz theory. In A celebration of algebraic geometry, volume 18 of Clay Math Proc., pages 469–507. Amer. Math. Soc., 2013.
- [104] R. Miranda. The moduli of Weierstrass fibrations over  $\mathbb{P}^1$ . Math. Annalen, 255(3):379–394, 1981.
- [105] R. Miranda. The basic theory of elliptic surfaces. ETS Editrice, Pisa, 1989.
- [106] S. Mori and S. Mukai. The uniruledness of the moduli space of curves of genus 11. In Algebraic Geometry, volume 1016 of Lecture Notes in Math., pages 334–353. Springer Berlin, 1983.
- [107] D. Morrison. On K3 surfaces with large Picard number. Invent. math., 75(1):105–121, 1984.

- [108] S. Mukai. Symplectic structure of the moduli space of sheaves on an abelian or K3 surface. *Invent. Math.*, 77(1):101–116, 1984.
- [109] S. Mukai. On the moduli space of bundles on K3 surfaces, I. Vector bundles on algebraic varieties (Bombay, 1984), 11:341–413, 1987.
- [110] S. Mukai. Curves and K3 surfaces of genus eleven. In Moduli of vector bundles (Sanda, 1994; Kyoto, 1994), volume 179 of Lecture Notes in Pure and Appl. Math., pages 189–197. Dekker, New York, 1996.
- [111] S. Mukai. Duality of polarized K3 surfaces. In New trends in algebraic geometry (Warwick, 1996), volume 264 of London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser., pages 311– 326. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1999.
- [112] S. Mukai. Non-abelian Brill–Noether theory and Fano 3-folds. Sugaku Expositions, 14(2):125–153, 2001. Sugaku Expositions.
- [113] D. Mumford. Rational equivalence of 0-cycles on surfaces. J. Math. Kyoto Univ., 84(3):445–461, 1986.
- [114] V.V. Nikulin. Finite groups of automorphisms of Kählerian K3 surfaces. Trudy Moskov. Mat. Obshch., 38:75–137, 1979.
- [115] K.G. O'Grady. Moduli of sheaves and the Chow group of K3 surfaces. Journal de Mathématiques Pures et Appliquées, 100(5):701–718, 2013.
- [116] V.P. Palamodov. Deformations of complex spaces. In Several complex variables IV, pages 105–194. Springer, 1990.
- [117] C. Pedrini. On the finite dimensionality of a K3 surface. Manuscripta Math., 138(1-2):59–72, 2012.
- [118] U. Persson. On degenerations of algebraic surfaces, volume 189. Amer. Math. Soc., 1977.
- [119] G. Pourcin. Théorème de Douady au-dessus de S. Annali della Scuola Normale Superiore di Pisa-Classe di Scienze, 23(3):451–459, 1969.
- [120] Z. Ran. Deformations of maps. In Algebraic Curves and Projective Geometry, volume 1389 of Lecture Notes in Math., pages 246–253. Springer, 1989.
- [121] C. Rego. The compactified Jacobian. Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup., 13(2):211–223, 1980.
- [122] D. Rim. Formal deformation theory. In Groupes de Monodromie en Géométrie Algébrique, pages 32–132. Springer, 1972.

- [123] B. Saint-Donat. Projective models of K3 surfaces. Amer. J. Math., 96:602–639, 1974.
- [124] M. Schütt and T. Shioda. Elliptic surfaces. Algebraic geometry in East Asia Seoul 2008, Advanced Studies in Pure Mathematics, 60:51–160, 2010.
- [125] E. Sernesi. *Deformations of algebraic schemes*. Springer, Netherlands, 2006.
- [126] I. Shimada. On elliptic K3 surfaces. arXiv:math/0505140.
- [127] I. Shimada. On elliptic K3 surfaces. Michigan Math. J, 47(3):423–446, 2000.
- [128] The Stacks Project Authors. The stacks project. http://stacks.math.columbia. edu, 2013.
- [129] A. Suslin and V. Voevodsky. Relative cycles and Chow sheaves. Cycles, transfers, and motivic homology theories, 143:10–86, 2000.
- [130] A. Tannenbaum. Families of curves with nodes. Comp. Math., 41(1):107–126, 1980.
- [131] J. Taylor. Several complex variables with connections to algebraic geometry and Lie groups, volume 46. AMS, 2002.
- [132] B. Teissier. Résolution simultanée : I familles de courbes. Séminaire sur les singularités des surfaces, pages 1–10, 1976-1977.
- [133] B. van Geemen and A. Sarti. Nikulin involutions on K3 surfaces. Math. Z., 255(4):731–753, 2007.
- [134] C. Voisin. Sur l'application de Wahl des courbes satisfaisant la condition de Brill-Noether-Petri. Acta Mathematica, 168(1):249–272, 1992.
- [135] C. Voisin. Green's generic syzygy conjecture for curves of even genus lying on a K3 surface. JEMS, 4(4):363–404, 2002.
- [136] C. Voisin. Théorie de Hodge et géométrie algébrique complexe, volume 10. SMF, 2002.
- [137] C. Voisin. Hodge theory and complex algebraic geometry II, volume 2. Cambridge University Press, 2003.
- [138] C. Voisin. Green's canonical syzygy conjecture for generic curves of odd genus. Comp. Math., 141(5):1163–1190, 2005.
- [139] C. Voisin. Symplectic involutions of K3 surfaces act trivially on CH0. Doc. Math., 17:851–860, 2012.

- [140] J. Wahl. The Jacobian algebra of a graded Gorenstein singularity. Duke Math. J., 55(4):843–511, 1987.
- [141] J. Wahl. Introduction to Gaussian maps on an algebraic curve. In Complex projective geometry (Trieste, 1989/Bergen, 1989), volume 179 of London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser., pages 304–323. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1992.
- [142] J. Wahl. On the cohomology of the square of an ideal sheaf. J. Alg. Geom., 76:481– 871, 1997.